

STATE OF MINNESOTA

# Journal of the Senate

EIGHTY-FIRST LEGISLATURE

TWENTY-EIGHTH DAY

St. Paul, Minnesota, Tuesday, March 16, 1999

The Senate met at 12:00 noon and was called to order by the President.

## CALL OF THE SENATE

Senator Betzold imposed a call of the Senate. The Sergeant at Arms was instructed to bring in the absent members.

Prayer was offered by Senator Pat Piper.

The roll was called, and the following Senators answered to their names:

Belanger	Janezich	Langseth	Ourada	Scheid
Berg	Johnson, D.E.	Larson	Pappas	Solon
Berglin	Johnson, D.H.	Lesewski	Pariseau	Spear
Betzold	Johnson, D.J.	Lessard	Piper	Stevens
Day	Johnson, J.B.	Limmer	Pogemiller	Stumpf
Dille	Junge	Lourey	Price	Ten Eyck
Flynn	Kelly, R.C.	Marty	Ranum	Terwilliger
Foley	Kiscaden	Metzen	Robertson	Vickerman
Frederickson	Kleis	Murphy	Robling	Wiener
Hanson	Knutson	Novak	Runbeck	Wiger
Higgins	Krentz	Oliver	Sams	
Hottinger	Laidig	Olson	Scheevel	

The President declared a quorum present.

The reading of the Journal was dispensed with and the Journal, as printed and corrected, was approved.

## EXECUTIVE AND OFFICIAL COMMUNICATIONS

The following communications were received and referred to the committee indicated.

February 5, 1999

The Honorable Allan H. Spear  
President of the Senate

Dear Sir:

The following appointment is hereby respectfully submitted to the Senate for confirmation as required by law:

COMMISSIONER OF THE MINNESOTA  
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Elwyn Tinklenberg, 11234 Forest Court, Blaine, Minnesota 55449, in the county of Anoka, effective January 6, 1999, for a four-year term expiring on Monday, January 6, 2003.

(Referred to the Committee on Transportation.)

Sincerely,  
Jesse Ventura, Governor

March 15, 1999

The Honorable Allan H. Spear  
President of the Senate

Dear President Spear:

It is my honor to inform you that I have received, approved, signed and deposited in the Office of the Secretary of State, S.F. Nos. 464, 73 and 343.

Sincerely,  
Jesse Ventura, Governor

### MESSAGES FROM THE HOUSE

Mr. President:

I have the honor to announce the adoption by the House of the following Senate Concurrent Resolution, AS AMENDED by the House, in which amendments the concurrence of the Senate is respectfully requested:

**Senate Concurrent Resolution No. 7:** A Senate concurrent resolution relating to adoption of revenue targets under Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 16A.102, subdivision 2.

Senate Concurrent Resolution No. 7 is herewith returned to the Senate.

Edward A. Burdick, Chief Clerk, House of Representatives

Returned March 15, 1999

Senator Junge, for Senator Moe, R.D., moved that Senate Concurrent Resolution No. 7 be laid on the table. The motion prevailed.

Mr. President:

I have the honor to announce the passage by the House of the following Senate File, AS AMENDED by the House, in which amendments the concurrence of the Senate is respectfully requested:

**S.F. No. 757:** A resolution memorializing Congress to enact legislation to prohibit federal recoupment of the state tobacco settlement recoveries.

Senate File No. 757 is herewith returned to the Senate.

Edward A. Burdick, Chief Clerk, House of Representatives

Returned March 15, 1999

### CONCURRENCE AND REPASSAGE

Senator Junge moved that the Senate concur in the amendments by the House to S.F. No. 757 and that the resolution be placed on its repassage as amended. The motion prevailed.

S.F. No. 757 was read the third time, as amended by the House, and placed on its repassage.

The question was taken on the repassage of the resolution, as amended.

The roll was called, and there were yeas 57 and nays 0, as follows:

Those who voted in the affirmative were:

Belanger	Janezich	Langseth	Ourada	Scheid
Berg	Johnson, D.E.	Larson	Pappas	Solon
Berglin	Johnson, D.H.	Lesewski	Pariseau	Spear
Betzold	Johnson, D.J.	Lessard	Piper	Stevens
Day	Johnson, J.B.	Limmer	Pogemiller	Stumpf
Dille	Junge	Lourey	Price	Ten Eyck
Flynn	Kelly, R.C.	Marty	Ranum	Terwilliger
Foley	Kiscaden	Metzen	Robertson	Vickerman
Frederickson	Kleis	Murphy	Robling	Wiger
Hanson	Knutson	Novak	Runbeck	
Higgins	Krentz	Oliver	Sams	
Hottinger	Laidig	Olson	Scheevel	

So the resolution, as amended, was repassed and its title was agreed to.

### MESSAGES FROM THE HOUSE - CONTINUED

Mr. President:

I have the honor to announce the passage by the House of the following House Files, herewith transmitted: H.F. Nos. 741, 1305, 1037 and 837.

Edward A. Burdick, Chief Clerk, House of Representatives

Transmitted March 15, 1999

### FIRST READING OF HOUSE BILLS

The following bills were read the first time and referred to the committees indicated.

**H.F. No. 741:** A bill for an act relating to corrections; providing procedures for testing the blood of inmates for bloodborne pathogens; providing procedural safeguards; imposing penalties; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 243.

Referred to the Committee on Crime Prevention.

**H.F. No. 1305:** A bill for an act relating to highways; requiring commissioner of transportation to transfer excess highway easements to city of Kenyon.

Referred to the Committee on Transportation.

**H.F. No. 1037:** A bill for an act relating to Minnesota Statutes; correcting erroneous, ambiguous, and omitted text and obsolete references; eliminating certain redundant, conflicting, and superseded provisions; making miscellaneous technical corrections to statutes and other laws; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 2.724, subdivision 1; 10A.01, subdivision 18; 11A.16, subdivision 6; 12.21, subdivision 3; 12.33, subdivision 4; 15.059, subdivision 5a; 16B.171; 16B.335, subdivision 4; 16B.465, subdivision 1; 16C.05, subdivision 2; 17.114, subdivisions 3 and 4; 17.117, subdivision 15; 17.452, subdivision 1; 17.498; 18B.045, subdivision 1; 18E.06; 19.52, subdivision 2; 48A.12, subdivision 1; 58.02, subdivision 22; 62E.15, subdivision 2; 79A.06, subdivision 5; 103A.43; 103B.321, subdivision 1; 103B.351; 103B.581, subdivision 2; 103F.461; 103G.221, subdivision 1; 103H.175, subdivision 3; 103H.275; 115A.175, subdivision 2; 115A.33; 115B.20, subdivisions 1 and 6; 115C.021, subdivision 1; 116.182, subdivision 3a; 116J.70, subdivision 2a; 117.47; 119A.03, subdivision 2; 119A.26, subdivision 2; 119A.45; 119A.46, subdivision 4; 119A.51, subdivision 1; 119B.05, subdivision 1; 123B.57, subdivision 6; 124D.17, subdivision 7; 126C.21, subdivision 4; 126C.48, subdivision 8; 136F.47; 156.11; 168.022, subdivision 4; 169.1217, subdivision 7a; 169.129, subdivision 2; 171.061, subdivision 1; 171.07, subdivision 10; 174.06, subdivision 1; 179.12; 181.58; 205A.01, subdivision 2; 219.074, subdivision 2; 219.39; 221.034, subdivision 5; 221.036, subdivisions 1 and 3; 239.761,

subdivisions 13 and 14; 245.462, subdivision 7; 245.466, subdivision 4; 245.4871, subdivision 9; 245.4875, subdivision 4; 245.825, subdivision 1b; 256B.0625, subdivision 32; 256B.0911, subdivision 7; 256B.0928; 256J.45, subdivision 2; 257.45; 257.74, subdivision 2; 268.9165; 287.09; 307.08, subdivisions 2, 8, 9, and 10; 340A.3021, subdivision 2; 446A.01; 446A.04, subdivision 7; 462A.21, subdivision 19; 480.054; 480.09, subdivision 1; 481.02, subdivision 2; 500.245, subdivision 1; 518.5511, subdivision 1; 518.6111, subdivision 5; and 609.26, by adding a subdivision; Laws 1994, chapter 560, article 2, section 15; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 3.873; 16B.88, subdivision 5; 62J.47; 79.51, subdivision 4; 115A.159; 119A.28, subdivision 4; 119A.31, subdivision 3; 119A.54; 124D.17, subdivision 8; 144.121, subdivision 7; 144.664, subdivision 4; 197.236, subdivisions 1 and 2; 218.011, subdivision 7; 245.825, subdivision 1a; 256.995, subdivision 7; 256B.434, subdivision 13; 323.02, subdivisions 10 and 11; 383.01; 383.02; 383.03; 383.04; 383.05; 383.06; 383.07; 383.08; 383.09; 383.10; 383.11; 383.12; 509.01; 509.02; 509.03; 509.04; 509.05; 509.06; and 526.20; Laws 1996, chapter 426, sections 1 and 2; Laws 1998, chapters 388, section 16; 404, section 49; and 407, article 2, section 97; and Laws 1998, First Special Session chapter 1, article 3, section 15.

Referred to the Committee on Judiciary.

**H.F. No. 837:** A bill for an act relating to insurance; regulating insurers, agents, and coverages; modifying reporting requirements; regulating the rehabilitation and liquidation of insurers; modifying certain notice and disclosure provisions; modifying certain definitions; making technical changes; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 60A.02, subdivision 1a, and by adding a subdivision; 60A.052, subdivision 2, and by adding a subdivision; 60A.06, subdivisions 1 and 2; 60A.075, by adding a subdivision; 60A.092, subdivisions 6 and 11; 60A.10, subdivision 1; 60A.111, subdivision 1; 60A.13, subdivision 1; 60A.16, subdivisions 2, 3, and 4; 60A.19, subdivision 1; 60A.32; 60B.21, subdivision 2; 60B.25; 60B.26, subdivision 1; 60B.39, subdivision 2; 60B.44, subdivisions 4, 6, and by adding subdivisions; 60D.20, subdivision 2; 60K.02, subdivision 1; 60K.03, subdivisions 2 and 3; 60K.19, subdivision 8; 61A.276, subdivision 2; 61A.60, subdivision 1; 61B.19, subdivision 3; 62A.04, subdivision 3; 62A.135, subdivision 5; 62A.50, subdivision 3; 62A.61; 62A.65, subdivision 5; 62B.04, subdivision 2; 62D.12, subdivision 2; 62E.02, subdivision 1; 62E.05, subdivision 1; 62E.09; 62E.13, subdivisions 6 and 8; 62E.14, subdivision 2; 62E.15, subdivision 2; 62I.07, subdivision 1; 62L.02, subdivision 24; 62L.03, subdivision 5; 62L.05, subdivision 5; 62L.14, subdivision 7; 62Q.185; 62S.01, subdivision 14; 62S.05, subdivision 2; 65A.01, subdivision 1; 65A.27, subdivision 4; 65A.29, subdivision 4; 65B.02, subdivision 2; 65B.44, subdivision 1; 65B.48, subdivision 5; 72A.125, subdivision 3; 72A.20, subdivision 29; 72B.04, subdivision 10; 79A.01, subdivision 10, and by adding a subdivision; 79A.02, subdivisions 1 and 4; 79A.03, subdivisions 6, 7, 9, 10, and by adding a subdivision; 79A.21, subdivision 2; 79A.23, subdivisions 1 and 2; and 256B.0644; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 60B; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 60A.11, subdivision 24a; 60B.36; 60B.44, subdivisions 3 and 5; 60K.08; 65A.29, subdivision 12; and 79A.04, subdivision 8; Minnesota Rules, part 2780.0500, item C.

Referred to the Committee on Rules and Administration for comparison with S.F. No. 1205, now on General Orders.

## REPORTS OF COMMITTEES

Senator Junge moved that the Committee Reports at the Desk be now adopted. The motion prevailed.

**Senator Novak from the Committee on Jobs, Energy and Community Development, to which was re-referred**

**S.F. No. 312:** A bill for an act relating to local government; authorizing home rule charter and statutory cities to establish a sidewalk utility; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 415.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Page 1, line 9, delete "chapter 412" and insert "section 412.321 including the voting requirement of section 412.321, subdivision 2,"

Page 1, line 11, after the period, insert "Section 412.321 applies to the creation of the sidewalk utility except that the creation of the sidewalk utility requires approval by only a majority vote of those voting on the proposition."

And when so amended the bill do pass. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Marty from the Committee on Election Laws, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 60:** A bill for an act relating to elections; defining certain terms; changing the name of the state partisan primary to the state party nominating election; requiring candidates to demonstrate party support before being listed on a party's ballot; moving the state party nominating election and primary from September to June; changing certain procedures, terms, and deadlines; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 10A.255, subdivisions 1 and 3; 10A.31, subdivision 6; 10A.321; 10A.322, subdivision 1; 10A.323; 200.02, by adding a subdivision; 202A.14, subdivision 1; 204B.08, subdivisions 1 and 2; 204B.09, subdivision 1; 204B.10, subdivisions 2, 3, and 4; 204B.11, subdivision 2; 204B.12, subdivision 1; 204B.33; 204D.03, subdivision 1; and 204D.08, subdivision 4; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 204B.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Delete everything after the enacting clause and insert:

"Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 10A.255, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [METHOD OF CALCULATION.] The dollar amounts provided in section 10A.25, subdivision 2, must be adjusted for general election years as provided in this section. ~~By June 1 of the general election year,~~ The executive director of the board shall determine the percentage increase in the consumer price index from December of the year preceding the last general election year to December of the year preceding the year in which the determination is made. The dollar amounts used for the preceding general election year must be multiplied by that percentage. The product of the calculation must be added to each dollar amount to produce the dollar limitations to be in effect for the next general election. The product must be rounded up to the next highest whole dollar. The index used must be the revised consumer price index for all urban consumers for the St. Paul-Minneapolis metropolitan area prepared by the United States Department of Labor with 1982 as a base year.

Sec. 2. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 10A.255, subdivision 3, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. [PUBLICATION OF EXPENDITURE LIMIT.] By ~~June~~ March 15 of each election year the board shall publish in the State Register the expenditure limit for each office for that calendar year under section 10A.25 as adjusted by this section.

Sec. 3. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 10A.31, subdivision 6, is amended to read:

Subd. 6. [DISTRIBUTION OF PARTY ACCOUNTS.] As soon as the board has obtained from the secretary of state the results of the primary state party nominating election, but in any event no later than one week after certification by the state canvassing board of the results of ~~the primary that election~~, the board shall distribute the available funds in each party account, as certified by the commissioner of revenue ~~on September 1~~ one week before the state party nominating election, to the candidates of that party who have signed the agreement as provided in section 10A.322 and filed the affidavit required by section 10A.323, and whose names are to appear on the ballot in the general election, according to the allocations set forth in subdivision 5. If a candidate files the affidavit required by section 10A.323 ~~after September 1 of the general election year~~ later than one week before the state party nominating election, the board shall pay the candidate's allocation to the candidate at the next regular payment date for public subsidies for that election cycle that occurs at least 15 days after the candidate files the affidavit.

Sec. 4. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 10A.321, is amended to read:

10A.321 [ESTIMATES OF MINIMUM AMOUNTS TO BE RECEIVED.]

Subdivision 1. [CALCULATION AND CERTIFICATION OF ESTIMATES.] The commissioner of revenue shall calculate and certify to the board one week before ~~July 1~~ the first day for filing for office in an election year an estimate of the total amount in the state general account of the state elections campaign fund and the amount of money each candidate who qualifies, as provided in section 10A.31, subdivisions 6 and 7, may receive from the candidate's party account in the state elections campaign fund. This estimate must be based upon the allocations and formulas in section 10A.31, subdivision 5, any necessary vote totals provided by the secretary of state to apply the formulas in section 10A.31, subdivision 5, and the amount of money expected to be available after 100 percent of the tax returns have been processed.

Subd. 2. [PUBLICATION, CERTIFICATION, AND NOTIFICATION PROCEDURES.] Before the first day of filing for office, the board shall publish and forward to all filing officers the estimates calculated and certified under subdivision 1 along with a copy of section 10A.25, subdivision 10. Within ~~seven days~~ one week after the last day for filing for office, the secretary of state shall certify to the board the name, address, office sought, and party affiliation of each candidate who has filed with that office an affidavit of candidacy or petition to appear on the ballot. The auditor of each county shall certify to the board the same information for each candidate who has filed with that county an affidavit of candidacy or petition to appear on the ballot. Within ~~seven days afterward~~ two weeks after the last day for filing for office, the board shall estimate the minimum amount to be received by each candidate who qualifies, as provided in section 10A.31, subdivisions 6 and 7. ~~By August 15 the board shall, and~~ and notify all candidates of their minimum amount. The board shall include with the notice a form for the agreement provided in section 10A.322 along with a copy of section 10A.25, subdivision 10.

Sec. 5. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 10A.322, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [AGREEMENT BY CANDIDATE.] (a) As a condition of receiving a public subsidy, a candidate shall sign and file with the board a written agreement in which the candidate agrees that the candidate will comply with sections 10A.25 and 10A.324.

(b) Before the first day of filing for office, the board shall forward agreement forms to all filing officers. The board shall also provide agreement forms to candidates on request at any time. The candidate may sign an agreement and submit it to the filing officer on the day of filing an affidavit of candidacy or petition to appear on the ballot, in which case the filing officer shall without delay forward signed agreements to the board. Alternatively, the candidate may submit the agreement directly to the board at any time that is at least one week before September 1 preceding the general the candidate's state party nominating election. An agreement may not be filed after that date. An agreement once filed may not be rescinded.

(c) The board shall forward a copy of any agreement signed under this subdivision to the commissioner of revenue.

(d) Notwithstanding any provisions of this section, when a vacancy occurs that will be filled by means of a special election and the filing period does not coincide with the filing period for the general election, a candidate may sign and submit a spending limit agreement at any time before the deadline for submission of a signed agreement under section 10A.315.

Sec. 6. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 10A.323, is amended to read:

10A.323 [MATCHING REQUIREMENTS.]

In addition to the requirements of section 10A.322, to be eligible to receive a public subsidy under section 10A.31 a candidate or the candidate's treasurer shall file an affidavit with the board stating that during that calendar year the candidate has accumulated contributions from persons eligible to vote in this state in the amount indicated for the office sought, counting only the first \$50 received from each contributor:

- (1) candidates for governor and lieutenant governor running together, \$35,000;
- (2) candidates for attorney general, \$15,000;
- (3) candidates for secretary of state, state treasurer, and state auditor, separately, \$6,000;
- (4) candidates for the senate, \$3,000; and
- (5) candidates for the house of representatives, \$1,500.

The affidavit must state the total amount of contributions that have been received from persons eligible to vote in this state and the total amount of those contributions received, disregarding the portion of any contribution in excess of \$50.

The candidate or the candidate's treasurer shall submit the affidavit required by this section to the board in writing ~~by September 1 of the general election year no later than one week before the state party nominating election to receive the payment based on the results of the primary that election, by September 15 to receive the payment made October 1, by October 1 to receive the payment made October 15, by November 1 to receive the payment made November 15 following the general election, and by December 1 to receive the payment made December 15.~~

Sec. 7. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 200.02, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 23. [CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICE.] "Constitutional office" means the offices of governor, lieutenant governor, secretary of state, state auditor, state treasurer, and attorney general.

Sec. 8. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 202A.14, is amended to read:

202A.14 [CONVENTION OR PRECINCT CAUCUS.]

Subdivision 1. [TIME AND MANNER OF HOLDING; POSTPONEMENT.] At 7:00 p.m. On any day from the first Tuesday in March to the second Saturday in March in every state general election year there, each major political party shall be held hold a senate district convention or county convention or a party caucus for every election precinct a party caueus in the manner provided in sections 202A.14 to 202A.19, except that. The county or legislative district executive committee shall determine whether the party's first level of organization in a given year is to be the senate district or county convention or the precinct caucus. In the event of severe weather a major political party may request the secretary of state to postpone conventions or caucuses. If a major political party makes a request, or upon the secretary of state's own initiative, after consultation with all major political parties and on the advice of the federal weather bureau and the department of transportation, the secretary of state may declare conventions or precinct caucuses to be postponed for a week in counties where weather makes travel especially dangerous. The secretary of state shall submit a notice of the postponement to news media covering the affected counties by 6:00 p.m. on the scheduled day of the convention or caucus. A postponed convention or caucus may also be postponed pursuant to this subdivision.

Subd. 2. [CONVENTION OR CAUCUS CALL.] The chair of the county or legislative district executive committee, whichever is provided for by party rules, shall issue the call for the convention or precinct caucus at least 20 days before the time set for holding the convention or caucus, and the call shall contain the following:

- (a) Name of party;
- (b) Name of county or senate district number or precinct number;
- (c) Date convention or caucus is to be held;
- (d) Place convention or caucus is to be held;
- (e) Hours during which the convention or caucus shall be held;
- (f) Statutory rules governing the convention or caucus;

(g) A statement of business to be conducted including the election of a chair and such other officers as may be provided by party rules, and the election of delegates to ~~county or district~~ the next level of conventions;

(h) Number of delegates to be elected;

(i) Name of the county or legislative district chair issuing the call;

(j) For a caucus, name of the present precinct chair or other person who will be the convener of the caucus;

(k) A space for entering the names of the officers and delegates elected by the convention or caucus.

Subd. 3. [NOTICE.] The county or legislative district chair shall give at least six days' published notice of the holding of the ~~precinct convention or caucus~~, stating the place, date, and time for holding the convention or caucus, and shall deliver the same information to the county auditor at least 20 days before the ~~precinct convention or caucus~~. The county auditor shall make this information available to persons who request it.

Sec. 9. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 202A.19, is amended to read:

202A.19 [CONVENTION OR CAUCUS, SCHOOL SCHEDULE PREEMPTION, EXCUSAL FROM EMPLOYMENT TO ATTEND.]

Subdivision 1. No school board, county board of commissioners, township board, or city council may conduct a meeting after 6:00 p.m. on the day of a major political party precinct caucus, or senate district or county convention, if the party has selected those conventions as its first level of organization and the caucus or convention is held on a weeknight, Monday through Friday, after that time.

Subd. 2. Every employee who is entitled to attend a major political party precinct caucus, or senate district or county convention, if the party has selected those conventions as its first level of organization, is entitled, after giving the employer at least ten days' written notice, to be absent from work for the purpose of attending the convention or caucus during the time for which the ~~caucus~~ it is scheduled without penalty or deduction from salary or wages on account of the absence other than a deduction in salary for the time of absence from employment.

Subd. 3. The University of Minnesota may not schedule an event which will take place after 6:00 p.m. on the day of a major political party precinct caucus, or senate district or county convention, if the party has selected those conventions as its first level of organization and the caucus or convention is held on a weeknight, Monday through Friday, after that time, unless permission to do so has been received from the board of regents. No Minnesota state college or university may schedule an event which will take place after 6:00 p.m. on the day of a major political party precinct caucus, or senate district or county convention, if the party has selected those conventions as its first level of organization and the caucus or convention is held on a weeknight, Monday through Friday, after that time, unless permission to do so has been received from the board of trustees of the Minnesota state colleges and universities.

Subd. 4. No school official may deny the use of a public school building for the holding of a major political party precinct caucus, or senate district or county convention, if the party has selected those conventions as its first level of organization, if the school office has received a written request for the use of the school building 30 days or more prior to the date of the caucus.

Subd. 5. No public elementary or secondary school may hold a school sponsored event after 6:00 p.m. on the day of a major political party precinct caucus, or senate district or county convention, if the party has selected those conventions as its first level of organization and the caucus or convention is held on a weeknight, Monday through Friday, after that time.

Subd. 6. No state agency, board, commission, department or committee shall conduct a public meeting after 6:00 p.m. on the day of a major political party precinct caucus, or senate district or



county convention, if the party has selected those conventions as its first level of organization and the caucus or convention is held on a weeknight, Monday through Friday, after that time.

Sec. 10. [204B.055] [FILING FOR PRIMARY; MAJOR PARTY CANDIDATES FOR CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICE.]

Subdivision 1. [NOTICE OF OFFICES TO BE ELECTED.] By February 15 of every even-numbered year the secretary of state shall send a notice of the constitutional offices to be elected at the state general election to the state chair of each major political party.

Subd. 2. [CERTIFICATION OF CANDIDATES.] No later than eight weeks before the state party nominating election, the state chair of each major political party shall certify to the secretary of state the names of every person who received at least a certain percentage of the votes on any ballot at the appropriate party endorsing convention for a constitutional office according to the party rules. The threshold percentage established by the party rules may be as low as five percent but no higher than 30 percent. Candidates who receive the endorsement of the party must be designated as such on the certification.

Subd. 3. [FORM OF CERTIFICATION.] The certification of candidates must include the name of the candidate as it is to appear on the ballot and the name of the office sought. The certification shall also include a statement that each candidate meets the qualifications for the office sought. The certification must be prepared by the party chair in the manner provided by the secretary of state.

Subd. 4. [ELIGIBILITY OF CANDIDATES.] No candidate shall be certified by a major political party who does not meet the constitutional and statutory requirements for the office sought.

Subd. 5. [FILING BY PETITION.] Any eligible voter whose name is not certified by a major political party as provided in this section may obtain access to the state party nomination ballot for a constitutional office by filing an affidavit of candidacy and a petition.

The petition must include the signatures of at least five percent of the number of persons voting for the nomination of the office sought at the last state party nominating election. The minimum number of signatures required must be calculated separately for each congressional district. By February 15 of each even-numbered year, the secretary of state shall determine the minimum number of signatures and the minimum distribution of signatures by congressional district required for persons submitting petitions as provided in this subdivision.

Subd. 6. [FORM OF PETITION.] The petition required by subdivision 5 must include the following information: candidate's name, candidate's address, party name, and office sought. The petition must include the following oath or affirmation of the signers: "I solemnly swear (or affirm) that I know the contents and purpose of this petition, that I either voted or affiliated with the party at the last state general election or intend to vote or affiliate with the party at the next state general election, and that I signed this petition of my own free will."

Petitions submitted under this subdivision must be in the form specified by the secretary of state, who shall prepare samples of the form.

Subd. 7. [CANDIDATES WITHOUT PARTY CERTIFICATION OR PETITION.] A candidate may not be placed on the state party nominating election ballot to seek the nomination of a major political party for a constitutional office without party certification under subdivision 2 or a party petition under subdivisions 5 and 6.

Sec. 11. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.08, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [TIME FOR SIGNING.] Nominating Petitions shall be signed during the period when petitions may be filed as provided in section 204B.09.

Sec. 12. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.08, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [QUALIFICATIONS OF SIGNERS.] A ~~nominating~~ petition may be signed only by individuals who are eligible to vote for the candidate ~~who is nominated~~ named on the petition. No individual may sign more than one ~~nominating~~ petition for candidates for the same office unless more than one candidate is to be elected to that office. If more than one candidate is to be elected to the office, an individual may sign as many petitions as there are candidates to be elected.

Sec. 13. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.09, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [CANDIDATES IN STATE AND COUNTY GENERAL ELECTIONS.] Except as otherwise provided by this subdivision, affidavits of candidacy and any nominating petitions required by section 204B.055 for ~~county~~, state and federal offices filled at the state general election and affidavits of candidacy for all county offices shall be filed not more than 70 days ~~ten weeks~~ nor less than ~~56 days~~ eight weeks before the state primary. A candidate not seeking the nomination of a major political party shall file a nominating petition for a state or federal office with the affidavit of candidacy not more than ten weeks nor less than eight weeks before the state general election. The affidavit may be prepared and signed at any time between 60 days before the filing period opens and the last day of the filing period. Notwithstanding other law to the contrary, the affidavit of candidacy must be signed in the presence of a notarial officer. Candidates for presidential electors may file petitions ~~on or before the state primary day~~ not more than ten weeks nor less than eight weeks before the state general election. Nominating petitions to fill vacancies in nominations shall be filed as provided in section 204B.13. No affidavit or petition shall be accepted later than 5:00 p.m. on the last day for filing. Affidavits and petitions for offices to be voted on in only one county shall be filed with the county auditor of that county. Affidavits and petitions for offices to be voted on in more than one county shall be filed with the secretary of state.

Sec. 14. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.10, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [NOMINATING PETITIONS; ACKNOWLEDGMENT; NUMBERING.] On the day a ~~nominating~~ petition is filed, the election official shall deliver or mail an acknowledgment of the petition to the individual who files it and to the candidate who is to be nominated. The election official shall also number the petitions in the order received. The petitions shall be retained as provided in section 204B.40, and shall be available for public inspection during that period.

Sec. 15. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.10, subdivision 3, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. [INSPECTION.] The official with whom ~~nominating~~ petitions are filed shall inspect the petitions in the order filed to verify that there are a sufficient number of signatures of individuals whose residence address as shown on the petition is in the district where the candidate is to be nominated.

Sec. 16. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.10, subdivision 4, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. [CERTIFICATION.] The secretary of state shall certify to the county auditor of each county the names of all candidates nominated by petitions filed with the secretary of state. Certification of candidates filing petitions as provided in section 204B.055 must be made at the same time that the secretary of state certifies candidates for the state party nominating election. ~~Certification shall of candidates nominated by petition must be made at the same time as the secretary of state certifies the names of candidates who are nominated at the primary.~~

Sec. 17. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.11, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [PETITION IN PLACE OF FILING FEE.] At the time of filing an affidavit of candidacy, a candidate may present a petition in place of the filing fee. The petition may be signed by any individual eligible to vote for the candidate. A nominating petition filed pursuant to section 204B.07 or 204B.13, subdivision 4, or a petition submitted to the secretary of state as provided in section 204B.055 is effective as a petition in place of a filing fee if the nominating petition includes a prominent statement informing the signers of the petition that it will be used for that purpose.

The number of signatures on a petition used solely in place of a filing fee shall be as follows:

(a) for a state office voted on statewide, or for president of the United States, or United States senator, 2,000;

(b) for a congressional office, 1,000;

(c) for a county or legislative office, or for the office of district judge, 500; and

(d) for any other office which requires a filing fee as prescribed by law, municipal charter, or ordinance, the lesser of 500 signatures or five percent of the total number of votes cast in the municipality, ward, or other election district at the preceding general election at which that office was on the ballot.

An official with whom petitions are filed shall make sample forms for petitions in place of filing fees available upon request.

Sec. 18. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.12, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [BEFORE PRIMARY.] A candidate may withdraw from the primary ballot by filing an affidavit of withdrawal with the same official who received the affidavit of candidacy. The affidavit shall request that official to withdraw the candidate's name from the ballot and shall be filed no later than ~~three days~~ 5:00 p.m. on the day after the last day for filing for the office.

Sec. 19. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204B.33, is amended to read:

204B.33 [NOTICE OF FILING.]

(a) ~~Between June 1 and July 1 in each even-numbered year~~ No later than 15 weeks before the state party nominating election, the secretary of state shall notify each county auditor of the offices to be voted for in that county at the next state general election for which candidates file with the secretary of state. The notice shall include the time and place of filing for those offices. Within ten days after notification by the secretary of state, each county auditor shall notify each municipal clerk in the county of all the offices to be voted for in the county at that election and the time and place for filing for those offices. The county auditors and municipal clerks shall promptly post a copy of that notice in their offices.

(b) At least two weeks before the first day to file an affidavit of candidacy, the county auditor shall publish a notice stating the first and last dates on which affidavits of candidacy may be filed in the county auditor's office and the closing time for filing on the last day for filing. The county auditor shall post a similar notice at least ten days before the first day to file affidavits of candidacy.

Sec. 20. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204D.03, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [STATE PARTY NOMINATING ELECTION AND PRIMARY.] The state party nominating election and primary shall be held on the first Tuesday after the second Monday in September ~~June~~ in each even-numbered year to select the nominees of the major political parties for partisan offices and the nominees for nonpartisan offices to be filled at the state general election, other than presidential electors.

Sec. 21. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 204D.08, subdivision 4, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. [STATE PARTISAN PRIMARY PARTY NOMINATING ELECTION BALLOT; PARTY COLUMNS.] The ~~state partisan primary party nominating election ballot~~ shall be headed by the words "State Partisan Primary Party Nominating Election Ballot." The ballot shall be printed on white paper. There must be at least three vertical columns on the ballot and each major political party shall have a separate column headed by the words "..... Party," giving the party name. Above the party names, the following statement shall be printed.

"Minnesota Election Law permits you to vote for the candidates of only one political party in a state partisan primary party nominating election."

If there are only two major political parties to be listed on the ballot, one party must occupy the

left-hand column, the other party must occupy the right-hand column, and the center column must contain the following statement:

"Do not vote for candidates of more than one party."

The names of the candidates seeking the nomination of each major political party shall be listed in that party's column. The name of a candidate who was endorsed by a major political party at the appropriate party endorsing convention according to the party rules must be followed by the term "endorsed." If only one individual files an affidavit of candidacy seeking the nomination of a major political party for an office, the name of that individual shall be placed on the state partisan primary party nominating election ballot at the appropriate location in that party's column.

In each column, the candidates for senator in Congress shall be listed first, candidates for representative in Congress second, candidates for state senator third, candidates for state representative fourth and then candidates for state office in the order specified by the secretary of state.

The party columns shall be substantially the same in width, type, and appearance. The columns shall be separated by a 12-point solid line.

Sec. 22. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 205.065, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [ESTABLISHING PRIMARY.] A municipal primary for the purpose of nominating elective officers may be held in any city on the first Tuesday after the second Monday in September of ~~any~~ an odd-numbered year or on the date of the state primary. The primary must be held in the same year in which a municipal general election is to be held for the purpose of electing officers.

Sec. 23. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 205A.03, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [DATE.] The school district primary must be held on the first Tuesday after the second Monday in September of an odd-numbered year or on the date of the state primary. The primary must be held in the year when the school district general election is held. The clerk shall give notice of the primary in the manner provided in section 205A.07.

Sec. 24. [INSTRUCTION TO REVISOR.]

The revisor of statutes shall change the terms in column A to the corresponding terms in column B wherever they appear in Minnesota Statutes or Minnesota Rules.

<u>Column A</u>	<u>Column B</u>
<u>"state primary"</u>	<u>"state party nominating election and primary"</u>
<u>"state partisan primary"</u>	<u>"state party nominating election" "</u>

Delete the title and insert:

"A bill for an act relating to elections; defining certain terms; changing the name of the state partisan primary to the state party nominating election; requiring candidates to demonstrate party support before being listed on a party's ballot; moving the state party nominating election and primary from September to June; changing certain procedures, terms, and deadlines; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 10A.255, subdivisions 1 and 3; 10A.31, subdivision 6; 10A.321; 10A.322, subdivision 1; 10A.323; 200.02, by adding a subdivision; 202A.14; 202A.19; 204B.08, subdivisions 1 and 2; 204B.09, subdivision 1; 204B.10, subdivisions 2, 3, and 4; 204B.11, subdivision 2; 204B.12, subdivision 1; 204B.33; 204D.03, subdivision 1; 204D.08, subdivision 4; 205.065, subdivision 1; and 205A.03, subdivision 2; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 204B."

And when so amended the bill do pass. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Vickerman from the Committee on Local and Metropolitan Government, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 817:** A bill for an act relating to forestry; restricting local government authority; creating irrebuttable presumption regarding certain forestry activity; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 89.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Page 1, delete line 7

Page 1, line 9, delete "to 89.82" and insert "and 89.81"

Page 2, delete section 3

Amend the title as follows:

Page 1, line 3, delete everything after the semicolon

Page 1, line 4, delete everything before "proposing"

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Ranum from the Committee on Judiciary, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 834:** A bill for an act relating to adoption; changing requirements and procedures for the putative fathers' adoption registry, communication or contact agreements, and postadoption reports; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 259.52, subdivisions 4, 7, 9, 10, and 11; 259.58; and 259.60, by adding a subdivision.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Page 1, after line 8, insert:

"Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 259.52, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [ESTABLISHMENT OF REGISTRY; PURPOSE; FEES.] (a) The commissioner of health shall establish a fathers' adoption registry for the purpose of determining the identity and location of a putative father interested in a minor child who is, or is expected to be, the subject of an adoption proceeding, in order to provide notice of the adoption proceeding to the putative father who is not otherwise entitled to notice under section 259.49, subdivision 1, paragraph (a) or (b), clauses (1) to (7). The commissioner of health may establish informational material and public service announcements necessary to implement this section. Any limitation on a putative father's right to assert an interest in the child as provided in this section applies only in adoption proceedings and only to those putative fathers not entitled to notice and consent under sections 259.24 and 259.49, subdivision 1, paragraph (a) or (b), clauses (1) to (7). The commissioner of health has no independent obligation to gather or update the information to be maintained on the registry. It is the registrant's responsibility to update his personal information on the registry.

(b) The fathers' adoption registry must contain the following information:

(1) with respect to the putative father, the:

(i) name, including any other names by which the putative father may be known and that he may provide to the registry;

(ii) address at which he may be served with notice of a petition under this chapter, including any change of address;

- (iii) social security number, if known;
  - (iv) date of birth; and
  - (v) if applicable, a certified copy of an order by a court of another state or territory of the United States adjudicating the putative father to be the father of this child;
- (2) with respect to the mother of the child:
- (i) name, including all other names known to the putative father by which the mother may be known;
  - (ii) if known to the putative father, her last address;
  - (iii) social security number, if known; and
  - (iv) date of birth;
- (3) if known to the putative father, the name, gender, place of birth, and date of birth or anticipated date of birth of the child;
- (4) the date that the commissioner of health received the putative father's registration, which is the date the registration is postmarked or the date it was delivered by means other than mail to the address on the registration form; and
- (5) other information the commissioner of health determines by rule to be necessary for the orderly administration of the registry.
- (c) The commissioner of health shall notify the mother of the child whenever a putative father has registered with the father's adoption registry under this section. Notice shall be sent to the name and address submitted by the putative father under paragraph (b), clause (2). If no current address for the mother is submitted by the putative father under paragraph (b), clause (2), the commissioner of health shall not notify the mother. The commissioner of health has no independent obligation to locate the mother. The notice shall be mailed within 14 days of the date that the commissioner received the putative father's adoption registration unless a search has been requested under subdivision 2. There shall be no charge to the birth mother for this notice.
- (d) The commissioner of health shall set reasonable fees for the use of the registry; however, a putative father shall not be charged a fee for registering. Revenues generated by the fee must be deposited in the state government special revenue fund and appropriated to the commissioner of health to administer the fathers' adoption registry."

Page 1, line 12, after "registry" insert ", including data relating to a request for a search of the registry,"

Page 1, line 13, before the period, insert ", or nonpublic data as defined in section 13.02, subdivision 9"

Page 1, lines 22 and 23, delete the new language and insert:

"(4) an attorney who has signed an affidavit from the commissioner of health attesting that the attorney represents the birth mother or the prospective adoptive parents"

Page 2, lines 7 to 10, delete the new language and insert "A registration is timely if the date the registration is postmarked or the date it was delivered by means other than mail to the address on the registration form is not later than 30 days after the birth of the child."

Page 6, line 16, before the comma, insert "or if a resident of this state brings a child into the state under an IR-4 visa issued for the child by the United States Immigration and Naturalization Service"

Renumber the sections in sequence

Amend the title as follows:

Page 1, line 6, after "subdivisions" insert "1,"

And when so amended the bill do pass. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Vickerman from the Committee on Local and Metropolitan Government, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 768:** A bill for an act relating to Ramsey county; making changes in the personnel process; amending Minnesota Statutes, section 383A.289, by adding subdivisions; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 383A.288; and 383A.289, subdivisions 1, 2, and 3.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Delete everything after the enacting clause and insert:

"Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 383A.288, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 6. [CLASSIFIED MANAGERIAL POSITIONS.] The personnel director shall establish criteria for the designation of positions in the classified service as managerial positions where the duties involve significant discretion and substantial involvement in the development, interpretation, and implementation of departmental and county policy. The personnel director shall designate those classified positions that meet these criteria in consultation with interested parties, including bargaining units certified pursuant to chapter 179A representing Ramsey county employees. Classified positions, so designated, shall be exempt from the examination and certification requirements of section 383A.288, and the provisions of section 383A.289, and shall be filled by means of an open application and screening process."

Delete the title and insert:

"A bill for an act relating to Ramsey county; making changes in the personnel process; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 383A.288, by adding a subdivision."

And when so amended the bill do pass and be placed on the Consent Calendar. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Solon from the Committee on Commerce, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 39:** A bill for an act relating to insurance; automobile; modifying the eligibility for a premium reduction upon completion of the required accident prevention course; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 65B.28, subdivisions 1, 2, and 4.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass. Report adopted.

**Senator Solon from the Committee on Commerce, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 1485:** A bill for an act relating to professions; modifying provisions of the board of architecture, engineering, land surveying, landscape architecture, geoscience, and interior design relating to fees and continuing education; increasing penalties; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 326.111, subdivision 6; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 326; repealing Minnesota Rules, part 1800.0500, subpart 3.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Page 2, line 27, delete "30" and insert "24"

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Judiciary. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Hottinger from the Committee on Health and Family Security, to which was re-referred**

**S.F. No. 748:** A bill for an act relating to education; providing for approval of education programs; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 241.021, subdivision 1; and 245A.04, by adding a subdivision; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 125A.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Crime Prevention. Report adopted.

**Senator Hottinger from the Committee on Health and Family Security, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 1028:** A bill for an act relating to human services; modifying transitional care for TANF recipients; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256K.07; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256J.30, subdivision 6.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Delete everything after the enacting clause and insert:

"Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 119B.01, subdivision 16, is amended to read:

Subd. 16. [TRANSITION YEAR FAMILIES.] "Transition year families" means families who have received AFDC, or who were eligible to receive AFDC after choosing to discontinue receipt of the cash portion of MFIP-S assistance under section 256J.31, subdivision 12, ~~for at least three of the last six months~~ before losing eligibility for AFDC due to increased hours of employment, or increased income from employment or child or spousal support."

Delete the title and insert:

"A bill for an act relating to child care; modifying transitional child care eligibility; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 119B.01, subdivision 16."

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Children, Families and Learning. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Marty from the Committee on Election Laws, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 1020:** A bill for an act relating to elections; changing certain precinct caucus procedures; eliminating the presidential primary; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 202A.18, by adding a subdivision; and 202A.20, subdivision 2; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 207A.01; 207A.02; 207A.03; 207A.04; 207A.06; 207A.07; 207A.08; 207A.09; and 207A.10.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass. Report adopted.

**Senator Lessard from the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 1405:** A bill for an act relating to state lands; authorizing public sale of certain tax-forfeited land that borders public water in Roseau county.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass. Report adopted.

**Senator Lessard from the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources, to which was referred**



**S.F. No. 803:** A bill for an act relating to game and fish; requiring a fishing guide license on the St. Louis river estuary; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 97A.475, subdivision 15; and 97C.311, subdivision 1.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass. Report adopted.

**Senator Lessard from the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 815:** A bill for an act relating to state lands; authorizing public sale of certain tax-forfeited land that borders public water in Itasca county.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Page 1, line 9, delete "shall" and insert "may"

And when so amended the bill do pass. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Lessard from the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 1352:** A bill for an act relating to natural resources; allowing certain land to be enrolled in more than one state or federal conservation program; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 103F.515, subdivision 2.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass. Report adopted.

**Senator Lessard from the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 1170:** A bill for an act relating to state lands; authorizing private sale of certain tax-forfeited land that borders public water in Red Lake county.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass. Report adopted.

**Senator Spear from the Committee on Crime Prevention, to which was re-referred**

**S.F. No. 613:** A bill for an act relating to animals; increasing certain penalties for cruelty to animals; defining acts or omissions constituting cruelty or abuse; imposing criminal penalties; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 343.20, subdivision 3, and by adding a subdivision; and 343.21, subdivisions 2, 7, 10, and by adding subdivisions; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 343.21, subdivisions 1 and 9; and 346.57.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Page 1, line 15, delete the new language

Page 1, line 16, delete the new language and insert "harm"

Page 1, line 17, delete everything before "does" and insert ""Cruelty""

Page 1, line 27, after "local" insert "game and fish"

Page 2, line 4, after "local" insert "game and fish"

Page 2, line 17, delete the first comma and insert a semicolon

Page 2, line 20, strike "willfully" and delete the comma

Page 2, line 21, delete "intentionally, or"

Pages 2 and 3, delete section 5

Page 3, lines 10 and 17, delete "five" and insert "two"

Page 3, lines 11 and 18, delete "\$10,000" and insert "\$5,000"

Page 3, lines 14 and 24, delete "second or subsequent"

Page 3, lines 15, 22, and 26, delete "violation" and insert "conviction for violating this section"

Page 3, line 20, delete "second or"

Page 3, line 21, delete "subsequent"

Page 3, line 23, after "6," insert "or" and delete ", or 8a"

Page 4, line 19, delete "sections" and insert "section"

Page 4, line 20, delete "; and 346.57"

Page 4, after line 20, insert:

"Sec. 8. [EFFECTIVE DATE.]

Sections 1 to 7 are effective August 1, 1999, and apply to crimes committed on or after that date."

Renumber the sections in sequence

Amend the title as follows:

Page 1, line 8, delete "subdivisions" and insert "a subdivision"

Page 1, line 9, delete "sections" and insert "section" and delete "; and 346.57"

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Agriculture and Rural Development. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

### **Senator Spear from the Committee on Crime Prevention, to which was re-referred**

**S.F. No. 1202:** A bill for an act relating to health; establishing protocol for occupational exposure to bloodborne pathogens in certain settings; providing criminal penalties; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 13.99, subdivision 38, and by adding a subdivision; 72A.20, subdivision 29; 144.4804, by adding a subdivision; 214.18, subdivision 5, and by adding a subdivision; 214.19; 214.20; 214.22; 214.23, subdivisions 1 and 2; 214.25, subdivision 2; and 611A.19, subdivisions 1 and 2; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapters 144; and 241; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 144.761; 144.762; 144.763; 144.764; 144.765; 144.766; 144.767; 144.768; 144.769; and 144.7691.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Judiciary. Report adopted.

### **Senator Spear from the Committee on Crime Prevention, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 1537:** A bill for an act relating to Minnesota Statutes; repealing various statutory provisions; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 42.03; 152.02, subdivision 10; 169.01, subdivision 18; 169.03, subdivision 7; 169.38; 169.901; 609.293; 609.34; 609.551; 617.251; and 624.65.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Transportation. Report adopted.

**Senator Vickerman from the Committee on Local and Metropolitan Government, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 1524:** A bill for an act relating to urban redevelopment; appropriating money for a federal empowerment zone designation grant.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Jobs, Energy and Community Development. Report adopted.

**Senator Solon from the Committee on Commerce, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 171:** A bill for an act relating to consumer protection; regulating residential real estate transactions; requiring closing agents to file certain documents; requiring certain disclosures to prospective purchasers; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 325F.69, by adding a subdivision; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 82.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Delete everything after the enacting clause and insert:

"Section 1. [82B.201] [CRIMINAL PENALTY.]

A person who violates any provision of this chapter is guilty of a gross misdemeanor.

Sec. 2. [APPROPRIATION.]

\$100,000 is appropriated from the real estate education, research, and recovery fund established under Minnesota Statutes, section 82.34 to the department of commerce for an educational campaign aimed at stopping the fraudulent practice known commonly as mortgage flipping. The department is directed to develop a public awareness campaign targeted to the communities hardest hit by this practice. The department is further directed to solicit contributions to this campaign from trade organizations, banks, mortgage companies, and foundations to supplement the program. The materials shall be prepared in multiple languages as necessary. The appropriation is available until expended.

Sec. 3. [EFFECTIVE DATE.]

Section 2 is effective the day following final enactment."

Delete the title and insert:

"A bill for an act relating to commerce; providing an appropriation for an education campaign on mortgage flipping; establishing penalties; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 82B."

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Crime Prevention. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Lessard from the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources, to which was re-referred**

**S.F. No. 365:** A bill for an act relating to economic development; imposing a specific standard of proof for certain petrofund reimbursement reductions; providing reimbursement for certain bulk petroleum plants upgrading or closing aboveground storage tanks; regulating the cleanup of contaminated land; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 115C.08, subdivision 4; 115C.09, subdivision 3, and by adding a subdivision; 116J.562, subdivision 2; and 116J.567.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Page 5, line 17, strike "and"

Page 5, line 18, strike everything after "(3)"

Page 5, line 19, delete the new language and strike the old language

Page 5, line 20, delete the new language

Page 5, line 21, strike everything before the period and insert "the state rules applicable after December 22, 1993, to operating an underground storage tank and appurtenances without leak detection;

(4) the state rules applicable after December 22, 1998, to operating an underground storage tank and appurtenances without corrosion protection or spill and overflow protection; and

(5) the state rule applicable after November 1, 1998, to operating an aboveground tank without a dike or other structure that would contain a spill at the aboveground tank site"

Page 5, line 26, strike "of the"

Page 5, line 27, strike "environmental impact of" and insert "that" and after "noncompliance" insert "poses a threat to the environment"

Page 5, line 31, strike the second "and"

Page 5, line 33, after "commissioner" insert "; and

(5) the documentation of noncompliance provided by the commissioner"

Page 6, line 18, after "aboveground" insert "or underground"

Page 6, line 19, delete "20,000" and insert "1,100"

Page 6, line 24, delete "each"

Page 6, line 25, delete everything before the second comma and insert "upgrades or closures completed between June 1, 1998, and November 1, 2003"

Page 6, after line 28, insert:

"Sec. 4. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 116J.553, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [REQUIRED CONTENT.] (a) The commissioner shall prescribe and provide the application form. The application must include at least the following information:

(1) identification of the site;

(2) an approved response action plan for the site, including the results of engineering and other tests showing the nature and extent of the release or threatened release of contaminants at the site;

(3) a detailed estimate, along with necessary supporting evidence, of the total cleanup costs for the site;

(4) an appraisal of the current market value of the property, separately taking into account the effect of the contaminants on the market value, prepared by a qualified independent appraiser using accepted appraisal methodology;

(5) an assessment of the development potential or likely use of the site after completion of the response action plan, including any specific commitments from third parties to construct improvements on the site;

(6) the manner in which the municipality will meet the local match requirement; and

(7) any additional information or material that the commissioner prescribes.

(b) A response action plan is not required as a condition to receive a grant under section 116J.554, subdivision 1, paragraph (c)."

Page 7, line 23, delete "5" and insert "6"

Renumber the sections in sequence

Amend the title as follows:

Page 1, line 6, after the semicolon, insert "modifying application requirements for contamination; cleanup grants;"

Page 1, line 9, before "116J.562" insert "116J.553, subdivision 2;"

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on State Government Finance. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

### **Senator Ranum from the Committee on Judiciary, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 23:** A bill for an act relating to child support; eliminating the administrative process for child and medical support orders; providing for the appointment of family law magistrates to handle child and medical support and related family law proceedings; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 357.021, subdivision 1a; 518.551, subdivisions 12, 13, and 14; 518.575, subdivision 1; and 518.616, subdivision 1; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 484; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 518.5511; and 518.5512.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Delete everything after the enacting clause and insert:

#### **"ARTICLE 1**

#### **EXPEDITED ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES AND JUDICIAL PROCESS**

Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 484.70, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [APPOINTMENT.] The chief judge of the judicial district may appoint one or more suitable persons to act as referees. Referees shall hold office at the pleasure of the judges of the district court and shall be learned in the law, except that persons holding the office of referee on January 1, 1983, may continue to serve under the terms and conditions of their appointment. All referees are subject to the administrative authority and assignment power of the chief judge of the district as provided in section 484.69, subdivision 3, and are not limited to assignment to family, probate, juvenile or special term court. ~~Part time referees holding office in the second judicial district pursuant to this subdivision shall cease to hold office on July 31, 1984.~~

Sec. 2. [484.702] [EXPEDITED CHILD SUPPORT HEARING PROCESS.]

Subdivision 1. [CREATION; SCOPE.] (a) The supreme court shall create an expedited child support hearing process to establish parentage; establish, modify, and enforce child support; and enforce maintenance, if combined with child support. The process must be designed to handle child support and paternity matters in compliance with federal law.

(b) All proceedings establishing, modifying, or enforcing support orders; and enforcing maintenance orders, if combined with a support proceeding, must be conducted in the expedited process if the case is a IV-D case. Cases that are not IV-D cases may not be conducted in the expedited process.

(c) This section does not prevent a party, upon timely notice to the public authority, from commencing an action or bringing a motion in district court for the establishment, modification, or enforcement of support, or enforcement of maintenance orders if combined with a support proceeding, where additional issues involving domestic abuse, establishment or modification of custody or visitation, or property issues exist as noticed by the complaint, motion, counter motion, or counter action.

(d) The expedited process may include contempt actions or actions to establish parentage.

(e) The expedited process should meet the following goals:

(1) be streamlined and uniform statewide and result in timely and consistent issuance of orders;

(2) be accessible to the parties without the need for an attorney and minimize litigation;

(3) be a cost-effective use of limited financial resources; and

(4) comply with applicable federal law.

Subd. 2. [ADMINISTRATION.] (a) The state court administrator shall provide for the administration of the expedited child support hearing process in each judicial district.

(b) Until June 30, 2000, the office of administrative hearings may contract with the state court administrator to provide one or more administrative law judges to serve as child support magistrates. The title to all personal property used in the administrative child support process mutually agreed upon by the office of administrative hearings and the office of the state court administrator must be transferred to the state court administrator for use in the expedited child support process.

Subd. 3. [APPOINTMENT OF CHILD SUPPORT MAGISTRATES.] The chief judge of each judicial district may appoint one or more suitable persons to act as child support magistrates for the expedited child support hearing process, with the confirmation of the supreme court. A child support magistrate may be hired on a full-time, part-time, or contract basis.

Subd. 4. [TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS OF CHILD SUPPORT MAGISTRATES.] The supreme court may:

(1) provide training for individuals who serve as child support magistrates for the expedited child support hearing process;

(2) establish minimum qualifications for child support magistrates; and

(3) establish a policy for evaluating and removing child support magistrates.

Subd. 5. [RULES.] The supreme court, in consultation with the conference of chief judges, shall adopt rules to implement the expedited child support hearing process under this section.

Sec. 3. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 518.54, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 14. [IV-D CASE.] "IV-D case" means a case where a party has assigned to the state rights to child support because of the receipt of public assistance as defined in section 256.741 or has applied for child support services under title IV-D of the Social Security Act, United States Code, title 42, section 654(4).

Sec. 4. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 518.551, subdivision 9, is amended to read:

Subd. 9. [ASSIGNMENT OF RIGHTS; JUDGMENT.] (a) The public agency responsible for child support enforcement is joined as a party in each case in which rights are assigned under section 256.741, subdivision 2. The court administrator shall enter and docket a judgment obtained by operation of law under section 548.091, subdivision 1, in the name of the public agency to the extent that the obligation has been assigned. When arrearages are reduced to judgment under circumstances in which section 548.091 is not applicable, the court shall grant judgment in favor of, and in the name of, the public agency to the extent that the arrearages are assigned. After filing notice of an assignment with the court administrator, who shall enter the notice in the docket, the public agency may enforce a judgment entered before the assignment of rights as if the judgment were granted to it, and in its name, to the extent that the arrearages in that judgment are assigned.

(b) The public authority is a real party in interest in any IV-D case where there has been an assignment of support. In all other IV-D cases, the public authority has a pecuniary interest, as

well as an interest in the welfare of the children involved in those cases. The public authority may intervene as a matter of right in those cases to assure that child support orders are obtained and enforced which provide for an appropriate and accurate level of child, medical, and child care support. If the public authority participates in a IV-D case where the action taken by the public authority requires the use of an attorney's services, the public authority shall be represented by an attorney consistent with the provisions in section 518.255.

**Sec. 5. [518.5513] [PUBLIC AUTHORITY PROCEDURES FOR CHILD AND MEDICAL SUPPORT ORDERS AND PARENTAGE ORDERS.]**

Subdivision 1. [GENERAL.] The public authority may use the provisions of this section in cases in which support rights are assigned under section 256.741, subdivision 2, or where the public authority is providing services under an application for child support services.

Subd. 2. [ROLE OF NONATTORNEY EMPLOYEES; GENERAL PROVISIONS.] (a) Nonattorney employees of the public authority may:

(1) gather information and negotiate settlements on behalf of the public authority;

(2) meet and confer with parties to a child support or paternity proceeding in person, by mail, telephone, electronic means, or any other method that facilitates communication and agreement; and

(3) exercise other powers on behalf of the public authority under this section as provided in subdivisions 3 to 5.

(b) In consultation with the county attorney, nonattorney employees of the public authority may draft pleadings. The county attorney must review and sign all pleadings.

Subd. 3. [PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL WORKSHEET.] (a) In cases involving establishment or modification of a child support order, a nonattorney employee of the public authority shall prepare a financial worksheet that contains:

(1) names and addresses of the parties;

(2) Social Security numbers of the parties;

(3) number of members in household of each party and dependents of the parties;

(4) names and addresses of the parties' employers;

(5) net income of the parties as defined in section 518.551, subdivision 5, with the authorized deductions itemized;

(6) amounts and sources of any other earnings and income of the parties;

(7) health insurance coverage of parties; and

(8) any other information relevant to the determination of child or medical support under section 518.171 or 518.551, subdivision 5.

(b) In preparing the financial worksheet, the nonattorney employee of the public authority shall obtain any income information available to the public authority from the department of economic security and serve this information on the parties. The information must be filed with the court or child support magistrate at least five days before any hearing involving child support, medical support, or child care reimbursement issues.

Subd. 4. [NONCONTESTED MATTERS.] Under the direction of the county attorney and based on agreement of the parties, nonattorney employees may prepare a stipulation, findings of fact, conclusions of law, and proposed order. The documents must be approved and signed by the county attorney as to form and content before submission to the court or child support magistrate for approval.

Subd. 5. [ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY.] (a) The public authority may take the following actions relating to establishment of paternity or to establishment, modification, or enforcement of support orders, without the necessity of obtaining an order from any judicial or administrative tribunal:

- (1) recognize and enforce orders of child support agencies of other states;
  - (2) upon request for genetic testing by a child, parent, or any alleged parent, and using the procedure in paragraph (b), order the child, parent, or alleged parent to submit to blood or genetic testing for the purpose of establishing paternity;
  - (3) subpoena financial or other information needed to establish, modify, or enforce a child support order and request sanctions for failure to respond to a subpoena;
  - (4) upon notice to the obligor, obligee, and the appropriate court, direct the obligor or other payor to change the payee to the central collections unit under sections 518.5851 to 518.5853;
  - (5) order income withholding of child support under section 518.6111;
  - (6) secure assets to satisfy the debt or arrearage in cases in which there is a support debt or arrearage by:
    - (i) intercepting or seizing periodic or lump sum payments from state or local agencies, including reemployment insurance, workers' compensation payments, judgments, settlements, lotteries, and other lump sum payments;
    - (ii) attaching and seizing assets of the obligor held in financial institutions or public or private retirement funds; and
    - (iii) imposing liens in accordance with section 548.091 and, in appropriate cases, forcing the sale of property and the distribution of proceeds;
  - (7) for the purpose of securing overdue support, increase the amount of the monthly support payments by an additional amount equal to 20 percent of the monthly support payment to include amounts for debts or arrearages; and
  - (8) subpoena an employer or payor of funds to provide promptly information on the employment, compensation, and benefits of an individual employed by that employer as an employee or contractor, and to request sanctions for failure to respond to the subpoena as provided by law.
- (b) A request for genetic testing by a child, parent, or alleged parent must be supported by a sworn statement by the person requesting genetic testing alleging paternity, which sets forth facts establishing a reasonable possibility of the requisite sexual contact between the parties, or denying paternity, and setting forth facts establishing a reasonable possibility of the nonexistence of sexual contact between the alleged parties. The order for genetic tests may be served anywhere within the state and served outside the state in the same manner as prescribed by law for service of subpoenas issued by the district court of this state. If the child, parent, or alleged parent fails to comply with the genetic testing order, the public authority may seek to enforce that order in district court through a motion to compel testing. No results obtained through genetic testing done in response to an order issued under this section may be used in any criminal proceeding.
- (c) Subpoenas may be served anywhere within the state and served outside the state in the same manner as prescribed by law for service of process of subpoenas issued by the district court of this state. When a subpoena under this subdivision is served on a third-party recordkeeper, written notice of the subpoena shall be mailed to the person who is the subject of the subpoenaed material at the person's last known address within three days of the day the subpoena is served. This notice provision does not apply if there is reasonable cause to believe the giving of the notice may lead to interference with the production of the subpoenaed documents.
- (d) A person served with a subpoena may make a written objection to the public authority or



court before the time specified in the subpoena for compliance. The public authority or the court shall cancel or modify the subpoena, if appropriate. The public authority shall pay the reasonable costs of producing the documents, if requested.

(e) Subpoenas are enforceable in the same manner as subpoenas of the district court. Upon motion of the IV-D attorney, the court may issue an order directing the production of the records. Failure to comply with the court order may subject the person who fails to comply to civil or criminal contempt of court.

(f) The administrative actions under this subdivision are subject to due process safeguards, including requirements for notice, opportunity to contest the action, and opportunity to appeal the order to the judge, judicial officer, or child support magistrate.

Sec. 6. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 552.05, subdivision 10, is amended to read:

~~Subd. 10. [FORMS.] The commissioner of human services shall supreme court is requested to develop statutory forms for use as required under this chapter. In developing these forms, the commissioner shall consult with the attorney general, representatives of financial institutions, and legal services. The commissioner shall report back to the legislature by February 1, 1998, with recommended forms to be included in this chapter.~~

Sec. 7. [TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS.]

Judicial districts are encouraged to utilize the existing expertise of child support administrative law judges in appointing child support magistrates under section 2 in order to facilitate the transfer of these functions to the judicial branch.

Sec. 8. [APPROPRIATION.]

\$...... is appropriated from the general fund to the supreme court for purposes of funding the child support magistrate positions under this article. This appropriation is available until June 30, 2001.

## ARTICLE 2

### ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESS REPEAL

Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 357.021, subdivision 1a, is amended to read:

Subd. 1a. [TRANSMITTAL OF FEES TO STATE TREASURER.] (a) Every person, including the state of Minnesota and all bodies politic and corporate, who shall transact any business in the district court, shall pay to the court administrator of said court the sundry fees prescribed in subdivision 2. Except as provided in paragraph (d), the court administrator shall transmit the fees monthly to the state treasurer for deposit in the state treasury and credit to the general fund.

(b) In a county which has a screener-collector position, fees paid by a county pursuant to this subdivision shall be transmitted monthly to the county treasurer, who shall apply the fees first to reimburse the county for the amount of the salary paid for the screener-collector position. The balance of the fees collected shall then be forwarded to the state treasurer for deposit in the state treasury and credited to the general fund. In a county in the eighth judicial district which has a screener-collector position, the fees paid by a county shall be transmitted monthly to the state treasurer for deposit in the state treasury and credited to the general fund. A screener-collector position for purposes of this paragraph is an employee whose function is to increase the collection of fines and to review the incomes of potential clients of the public defender, in order to verify eligibility for that service.

(c) No fee is required under this section from the public authority or the party the public authority represents in an action for:

(1) child support enforcement or modification, medical assistance enforcement, or establishment of parentage in the district court, ~~or child or medical support enforcement conducted by an administrative law judge in an administrative hearing under section 518.5511;~~

- (2) civil commitment under chapter 253B;
  - (3) the appointment of a public conservator or public guardian or any other action under chapters 252A and 525;
  - (4) wrongfully obtaining public assistance under section 256.98 or 256D.07, or recovery of overpayments of public assistance;
  - (5) court relief under chapter 260;
  - (6) forfeiture of property under sections 169.1217 and 609.531 to 609.5317;
  - (7) recovery of amounts issued by political subdivisions or public institutions under sections 246.52, 252.27, 256.045, 256.25, 256.87, 256B.042, 256B.14, 256B.15, 256B.37, and 260.251, or other sections referring to other forms of public assistance;
  - (8) restitution under section 611A.04; or
  - (9) actions seeking monetary relief in favor of the state pursuant to section 16D.14, subdivision 5.
- (d) The fees collected for child support modifications under subdivision 2, clause (13), must be transmitted to the county treasurer for deposit in the county general fund. The fees must be used by the county to pay for child support enforcement efforts by county attorneys.

Sec. 2. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 518.551, subdivision 12, is amended to read:

Subd. 12. [OCCUPATIONAL LICENSE SUSPENSION.] (a) Upon motion of an obligee, if the court finds that the obligor is or may be licensed by a licensing board listed in section 214.01 or other state, county, or municipal agency or board that issues an occupational license and the obligor is in arrears in court-ordered child support or maintenance payments or both in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's total monthly support and maintenance payments and is not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate, or the public authority, the administrative law judge, or~~ the court shall direct the licensing board or other licensing agency to suspend the license under section 214.101. The court's order must be stayed for 90 days in order to allow the obligor to execute a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages. The payment agreement must be approved by either the court or the public authority responsible for child support enforcement. If the obligor has not executed or is not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages after the 90 days expires, the court's order becomes effective. If the obligor is a licensed attorney, the court shall report the matter to the lawyers professional responsibility board for appropriate action in accordance with the rules of professional conduct. The remedy under this subdivision is in addition to any other enforcement remedy available to the court.

(b) If a public authority responsible for child support enforcement finds that the obligor is or may be licensed by a licensing board listed in section 214.01 or other state, county, or municipal agency or board that issues an occupational license and the obligor is in arrears in court-ordered child support or maintenance payments or both in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's total monthly support and maintenance payments and is not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate, or the public authority, the court, an administrative law judge, or the public authority~~ shall direct the licensing board or other licensing agency to suspend the license under section 214.101. If the obligor is a licensed attorney, the public authority may report the matter to the lawyers professional responsibility board for appropriate action in accordance with the rules of professional conduct. The remedy under this subdivision is in addition to any other enforcement remedy available to the public authority.

(c) At least 90 days before notifying a licensing authority or the lawyers professional responsibility board under paragraph (b), the public authority shall mail a written notice to the license holder addressed to the license holder's last known address that the public authority

intends to seek license suspension under this subdivision and that the license holder must request a hearing within 30 days in order to contest the suspension. If the license holder makes a written request for a hearing within 30 days of the date of the notice, ~~either a court hearing or a contested administrative proceeding~~ must be held under ~~section 518.5511, subdivision 4~~. Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, the license holder must be served with 14 days' notice in writing specifying the time and place of the hearing and the allegations against the license holder. The notice may be served personally or by mail. If the public authority does not receive a request for a hearing within 30 days of the date of the notice, and the obligor does not execute a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the public authority within 90 days of the date of the notice, the public authority shall direct the licensing board or other licensing agency to suspend the obligor's license under paragraph (b), or shall report the matter to the lawyers professional responsibility board.

(d) ~~The administrative law judge, on behalf of~~ The public authority, or the court shall notify the lawyers professional responsibility board for appropriate action in accordance with the rules of professional responsibility conduct or order the licensing board or licensing agency to suspend the license if the judge finds that:

(1) the person is licensed by a licensing board or other state agency that issues an occupational license;

(2) the person has not made full payment of arrearages found to be due by the public authority; and

(3) the person has not executed or is not in compliance with a payment plan approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate,~~ or the public authority.

(e) Within 15 days of the date on which the obligor either makes full payment of arrearages found to be due by the court or public authority or executes and initiates good faith compliance with a written payment plan approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate,~~ or the public authority, the court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate,~~ or the public authority responsible for child support enforcement shall notify the licensing board or licensing agency or the lawyers professional responsibility board that the obligor is no longer ineligible for license issuance, reinstatement, or renewal under this subdivision.

(f) In addition to the criteria established under this section for the suspension of an obligor's occupational license, a court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate,~~ or the public authority may direct the licensing board or other licensing agency to suspend the license of a party who has failed, after receiving notice, to comply with a subpoena relating to a paternity or child support proceeding. Notice to an obligor of intent to suspend must be served by first class mail at the obligor's last known address. The notice must inform the obligor of the right to request a hearing. If the obligor makes a written request within ten days of the date of the hearing, a ~~contested administrative proceeding hearing~~ must be held under ~~section 518.5511, subdivision 4~~. At the hearing, the only issues to be considered are mistake of fact and whether the obligor received the subpoena.

(g) The license of an obligor who fails to remain in compliance with an approved payment agreement may be suspended. Notice to the obligor of an intent to suspend under this paragraph must be served by first class mail at the obligor's last known address and must include a notice of hearing. The notice must be served upon the obligor not less than ten days before the date of the hearing. If the obligor appears at the hearing and the judge determines that the obligor has failed to comply with an approved payment agreement, the judge shall notify the occupational licensing board or agency to suspend the obligor's license under paragraph (c). If the obligor fails to appear at the hearing, the public authority may notify the occupational or licensing board to suspend the obligor's license under paragraph (c).

Sec. 3. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 518.551, subdivision 13, is amended to read:

Subd. 13. [DRIVER'S LICENSE SUSPENSION.] (a) Upon motion of an obligee, which has

been properly served on the obligor and upon which there has been an opportunity for hearing, if a court finds that the obligor has been or may be issued a driver's license by the commissioner of public safety and the obligor is in arrears in court-ordered child support or maintenance payments, or both, in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's total monthly support and maintenance payments and is not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate, or the public authority,~~ the court shall order the commissioner of public safety to suspend the obligor's driver's license. The court's order must be stayed for 90 days in order to allow the obligor to execute a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages, which payment agreement must be approved by either the court or the public authority responsible for child support enforcement. If the obligor has not executed or is not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages after the 90 days expires, the court's order becomes effective and the commissioner of public safety shall suspend the obligor's driver's license. The remedy under this subdivision is in addition to any other enforcement remedy available to the court. An obligee may not bring a motion under this paragraph within 12 months of a denial of a previous motion under this paragraph.

(b) If a public authority responsible for child support enforcement determines that the obligor has been or may be issued a driver's license by the commissioner of public safety and the obligor is in arrears in court-ordered child support or maintenance payments or both in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's total monthly support and maintenance payments and not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate, or the public authority,~~ the public authority shall direct the commissioner of public safety to suspend the obligor's driver's license. The remedy under this subdivision is in addition to any other enforcement remedy available to the public authority.

(c) At least 90 days prior to notifying the commissioner of public safety according to paragraph (b), the public authority must mail a written notice to the obligor at the obligor's last known address, that it intends to seek suspension of the obligor's driver's license and that the obligor must request a hearing within 30 days in order to contest the suspension. If the obligor makes a written request for a hearing within 30 days of the date of the notice, ~~either a court hearing or a contested administrative proceeding~~ must be held under ~~section 518.5511, subdivision 4.~~ Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, the obligor must be served with 14 days' notice in writing specifying the time and place of the hearing and the allegations against the obligor. The notice may be served personally or by mail. If the public authority does not receive a request for a hearing within 30 days of the date of the notice, and the obligor does not execute a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the public authority within 90 days of the date of the notice, the public authority shall direct the commissioner of public safety to suspend the obligor's driver's license under paragraph (b).

(d) At a hearing requested by the obligor under paragraph (c), and on finding that the obligor is in arrears in court-ordered child support or maintenance payments or both in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's total monthly support and maintenance payments, the district court ~~or the administrative law judge or child support magistrate~~ shall order the commissioner of public safety to suspend the obligor's driver's license or operating privileges unless the court or ~~administrative law judge~~ child support magistrate determines that the obligor has executed and is in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge, a child support magistrate, or the public authority.~~

(e) An obligor whose driver's license or operating privileges are suspended may provide proof to the public authority responsible for child support enforcement that the obligor is in compliance with all written payment agreements regarding both current support and arrearages. Within 15 days of the receipt of that proof, the public authority shall inform the commissioner of public safety that the obligor's driver's license or operating privileges should no longer be suspended.

(f) On January 15, 1997, and every two years after that, the commissioner of human services shall submit a report to the legislature that identifies the following information relevant to the implementation of this section:

- (1) the number of child support obligors notified of an intent to suspend a driver's license;
- (2) the amount collected in payments from the child support obligors notified of an intent to suspend a driver's license;
- (3) the number of cases paid in full and payment agreements executed in response to notification of an intent to suspend a driver's license;
- (4) the number of cases in which there has been notification and no payments or payment agreements;
- (5) the number of driver's licenses suspended; and
- (6) the cost of implementation and operation of the requirements of this section.

(g) In addition to the criteria established under this section for the suspension of an obligor's driver's license, a court, ~~an administrative law judge,~~ a child support magistrate, or the public authority may direct the commissioner of public safety to suspend the license of a party who has failed, after receiving notice, to comply with a subpoena relating to a paternity or child support proceeding. Notice to an obligor of intent to suspend must be served by first class mail at the obligor's last known address. The notice must inform the obligor of the right to request a hearing. If the obligor makes a written request within ten days of the date of the hearing, a ~~contested administrative proceeding must be held under section 518.5511, subdivision 4~~ hearing must be held. At the hearing, the only issues to be considered are mistake of fact and whether the obligor received the subpoena.

(h) The license of an obligor who fails to remain in compliance with an approved payment agreement may be suspended. Notice to the obligor of an intent to suspend under this paragraph must be served by first class mail at the obligor's last known address and must include a notice of hearing. The notice must be served upon the obligor not less than ten days before the date of the hearing. If the obligor appears at the hearing and the judge determines that the obligor has failed to comply with an approved payment agreement, the judge shall notify the department of public safety to suspend the obligor's license under paragraph (c). If the obligor fails to appear at the hearing, the public authority may notify the department of public safety to suspend the obligor's license under paragraph (c).

Sec. 4. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 518.551, subdivision 14, is amended to read:

Subd. 14. [MOTOR VEHICLE LIEN.] (a) Upon motion of an obligee, if a court finds that the obligor is a debtor for a judgment debt resulting from nonpayment of court-ordered child support or maintenance payments, or both, in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's total monthly support and maintenance payments, the court shall order the commissioner of public safety to enter a lien in the name of the obligee or in the name of the state of Minnesota, as appropriate, in accordance with section 168A.05, subdivision 8, unless the court finds that the obligor is in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge,~~ a child support magistrate, or the public authority. The court's order must be stayed for 90 days in order to allow the obligor to execute a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages, which agreement shall be approved by either the court or the public authority responsible for child support enforcement. If the obligor has not executed or is not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge,~~ a child support magistrate, or the public authority within the 90-day period, the court's order becomes effective and the commissioner of public safety shall record the lien on any motor vehicle certificate of title subsequently issued in the name of the obligor. The remedy under this subdivision is in addition to any other enforcement remedy available to the court.

(b) If a public authority responsible for child support enforcement determines that the obligor is a debtor for judgment debt resulting from nonpayment of court-ordered child support or maintenance payments, or both, in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's

total monthly support and maintenance payments, the public authority shall direct the commissioner of public safety to enter a lien in the name of the obligee or in the name of the state of Minnesota, as appropriate, under section 168A.05, subdivision 8, on any motor vehicle certificate of title subsequently issued in the name of the obligor unless the public authority determines that the obligor is in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge~~, a child support magistrate, or the public authority. The remedy under this subdivision is in addition to any other enforcement remedy available to the public agency.

(c) At least 90 days prior to notifying the commissioner of public safety pursuant to paragraph (b), the public authority must mail a written notice to the obligor at the obligor's last known address, that it intends to record a lien on any motor vehicle certificate of title subsequently issued in the name of the obligor and that the obligor must request a hearing within 30 days in order to contest the action. If the obligor makes a written request for a hearing within 30 days of the date of the notice, ~~either a court hearing or a contested administrative proceeding~~ must be held under ~~section 518.5511, subdivision 4~~. Notwithstanding any law to the contrary, the obligor must be served with 14 days' notice in writing specifying the time and place of the hearing and the allegations against the obligor. The notice may be served personally or by mail. If the public authority does not receive a request for a hearing within 30 days of the date of the notice and the obligor does not execute or is not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the public authority within 90 days of the date of the notice, the public authority shall direct the commissioner of public safety to record the lien under paragraph (b).

(d) At a hearing requested by the obligor under paragraph (c), and on finding that the obligor is in arrears in court-ordered child support or maintenance payments or both in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's total monthly support and maintenance payments, the district court or ~~the administrative law judge~~ child support magistrate shall order the commissioner of public safety to record the lien unless the court or ~~administrative law judge~~ child support magistrate determines that the obligor has executed and is in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages determined to be acceptable by the court, ~~an administrative law judge~~, a child support magistrate, or the public authority.

(e) An obligor may provide proof to the court or the public authority responsible for child support enforcement that the obligor is in compliance with all written payment agreements regarding both current support and arrearages or that the value of the motor vehicle is less than the exemption provided under section 550.37. Within 15 days of the receipt of that proof, the court or public authority shall either execute a release of security interest under section 168A.20, subdivision 4, and mail or deliver the release to the owner or other authorized person or shall direct the commissioner of public safety not to enter a lien on any motor vehicle certificate of title subsequently issued in the name of the obligor in instances where a lien has not yet been entered.

(f) Any lien recorded against a motor vehicle certificate of title under this section and section 168A.05, subdivision 8, attaches only to the nonexempt value of the motor vehicle as determined in accordance with section 550.37. The value of a motor vehicle must be determined in accordance with the retail value described in the N.A.D.A. Official Used Car Guide, Midwest Edition, for the current year, or in accordance with the purchase price as defined in section 297B.01, subdivision 8.

Sec. 5. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 518.575, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [MAKING NAMES PUBLIC.] At least once each year, the commissioner of human services, in consultation with the attorney general, shall publish a list of the names and other identifying information of no more than 25 persons who (1) are child support obligors, (2) are at least \$10,000 in arrears, (3) are not in compliance with a written payment agreement regarding both current support and arrearages approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge~~, a child support magistrate, or the public authority, (4) cannot currently be located by the public authority for the purposes of enforcing a support order, and (5) have not made a support payment except tax intercept payments, in the preceding 12 months.

Identifying information may include the obligor's name, last known address, amount owed, date of birth, photograph, the number of children for whom support is owed, and any additional information about the obligor that would assist in identifying or locating the obligor. The commissioner and attorney general may use posters, media presentations, electronic technology, and other means that the commissioner and attorney general determine are appropriate for dissemination of the information, including publication on the Internet. The commissioner and attorney general may make any or all of the identifying information regarding these persons public. Information regarding an obligor who meets the criteria in this subdivision will only be made public subsequent to that person's selection by the commissioner and attorney general.

Before making public the name of the obligor, the department of human services shall send a notice to the obligor's last known address which states the department's intention to make public information on the obligor. The notice must also provide an opportunity to have the obligor's name removed from the list by paying the arrearage or by entering into an agreement to pay the arrearage, or by providing information to the public authority that there is good cause not to make the information public. The notice must include the final date when the payment or agreement can be accepted.

The department of human services shall obtain the written consent of the obligee to make the name of the obligor public.

Sec. 6. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 518.616, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [COURT ORDER.] For any support order being enforced by the public authority, the public authority may seek a court order requiring the obligor to seek employment if:

- (1) employment of the obligor cannot be verified;
- (2) the obligor is in arrears in court-ordered child support or maintenance payments or both in an amount equal to or greater than three times the obligor's total monthly support and maintenance payments; and
- (3) the obligor is not in compliance with a written payment plan.

Upon proper notice being given to the obligor, the court may enter a seek employment order if it finds that the obligor has not provided proof of gainful employment and has not consented to an order for income withholding under section 518.6111 or entered into a written payment plan approved by the court, ~~an administrative law judge,~~ a child support magistrate, or the public authority.

Sec. 7. [REPEALER.]

Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 518.5511; and 518.5512, are repealed.

Sec. 8. [EFFECTIVE DATE; APPLICATION.]

This act is effective July 1, 1999."

Delete the title and insert:

"A bill for an act relating to family law; repealing the administrative process for support orders; establishing a child support magistrate system; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 357.021, subdivision 1a; 484.70, subdivision 1; 518.54, by adding a subdivision; 518.551, subdivisions 9, 12, 13, and 14; 518.575, subdivision 1; 518.616, subdivision 1; and 552.05, subdivision 10; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapters 484; and 518; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 518.5511; and 518.5512."

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Ranum from the Committee on Judiciary, to which was re-referred**

**S.F. No. 983:** A bill for an act relating to professions; modifying provisions relating to psychologists' licensing; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 148.89, subdivisions 2a, 4, 5, and by adding a subdivision; 148.915; 148.925, subdivision 7; 148.941, subdivisions 2 and 6; and 148.96, subdivision 3; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 148.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Page 5, line 17, strike "appeal the decision"

Page 5, strike lines 18 to 21

Page 5, line 22, strike "been resolved" and insert "seek reconsideration by the board"

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Crime Prevention. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

**Senator Moe, R.D. from the Committee on Rules and Administration, to which was referred**

**H.F. No. 492** for comparison with companion Senate File, reports the following House File was found identical and recommends the House File be given its second reading and substituted for its companion Senate File as follows:

GENERAL ORDERS		CONSENT CALENDAR		CALENDAR	
H.F. No.	S.F. No.	H.F. No.	S.F. No.	H.F. No.	S.F. No.
492	518				

and that the above Senate File be indefinitely postponed.

Pursuant to Rule 49, this report was prepared and submitted by the Secretary of the Senate on behalf of the Committee on Rules and Administration. Report adopted.

**Senator Moe, R.D. from the Committee on Rules and Administration, to which was referred**

**H.F. No. 766** for comparison with companion Senate File, reports the following House File was found identical and recommends the House File be given its second reading and substituted for its companion Senate File as follows:

GENERAL ORDERS		CONSENT CALENDAR		CALENDAR	
H.F. No.	S.F. No.	H.F. No.	S.F. No.	H.F. No.	S.F. No.
766	739				

and that the above Senate File be indefinitely postponed.

Pursuant to Rule 49, this report was prepared and submitted by the Secretary of the Senate on behalf of the Committee on Rules and Administration. Report adopted.

**Senator Moe, R.D. from the Committee on Rules and Administration, to which was referred**

**H.F. No. 413** for comparison with companion Senate File, reports the following House File was found identical and recommends the House File be given its second reading and substituted for its companion Senate File as follows:



**GENERAL ORDERS**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
413	418

**CONSENT CALENDAR**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
----------	----------

**CALENDAR**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
----------	----------

and that the above Senate File be indefinitely postponed.

Pursuant to Rule 49, this report was prepared and submitted by the Secretary of the Senate on behalf of the Committee on Rules and Administration. Report adopted.

**Senator Moe, R.D. from the Committee on Rules and Administration, to which was referred**

**H.F. No. 183** for comparison with companion Senate File, reports the following House File was found identical and recommends the House File be given its second reading and substituted for its companion Senate File as follows:

**GENERAL ORDERS**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
183	144

**CONSENT CALENDAR**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
----------	----------

**CALENDAR**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
----------	----------

and that the above Senate File be indefinitely postponed.

Pursuant to Rule 49, this report was prepared and submitted by the Secretary of the Senate on behalf of the Committee on Rules and Administration. Report adopted.

**Senator Moe, R.D. from the Committee on Rules and Administration, to which was referred**

**H.F. No. 1132** for comparison with companion Senate File, reports the following House File was found identical and recommends the House File be given its second reading and substituted for its companion Senate File as follows:

**GENERAL ORDERS**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
1132	1116

**CONSENT CALENDAR**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
----------	----------

**CALENDAR**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
----------	----------

and that the above Senate File be indefinitely postponed.

Pursuant to Rule 49, this report was prepared and submitted by the Secretary of the Senate on behalf of the Committee on Rules and Administration. Report adopted.

**Senator Moe, R.D. from the Committee on Rules and Administration, to which was referred**

**H.F. No. 836** for comparison with companion Senate File, reports the following House File was found identical and recommends the House File be given its second reading and substituted for its companion Senate File as follows:

**GENERAL ORDERS**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
836	833

**CONSENT CALENDAR**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
----------	----------

**CALENDAR**

H.F. No.	S.F. No.
----------	----------

and that the above Senate File be indefinitely postponed.

Pursuant to Rule 49, this report was prepared and submitted by the Secretary of the Senate on behalf of the Committee on Rules and Administration. Report adopted.

**Senator Ranum from the Committee on Judiciary, to which was referred**

**S.F. No. 569:** A bill for an act relating to children; authorizing counties to establish programs for alternative responses to child maltreatment reports; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 626.

Reports the same back with the recommendation that the bill be amended as follows:

Delete everything after the enacting clause and insert:

"Section 1. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 144.1761, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [REQUEST.] (a) Whenever an adopted person requests the state registrar to disclose the information on the adopted person's original birth certificate, the state registrar shall act in accordance with the provisions of section 259.89.

(b) The state registrar shall provide a copy of an adopted person's original birth certificate to an authorized representative of a federally recognized American Indian tribe for the sole purpose of determining the adopted person's eligibility for enrollment or membership. Information contained on the birth certificate may not be used to provide the adopted person information about the person's birth parents except as provided in this section or section 259.83.

Sec. 2. [254A.175] [CHEMICAL DEPENDENCY TREATMENT MODELS FOR FAMILIES WITH POTENTIAL CHILD PROTECTION PROBLEMS.]

Subdivision 1. [CHEMICAL DEPENDENCY TREATMENT MODELS.] The commissioner shall explore and experiment with different chemical dependency service models for parents with children who are found to be in need of chemical dependency treatment pursuant to an assessment under section 626.556, subdivision 10, or a case plan under section 257.071 or 260.191, subdivision 1e. The commissioner shall tailor services to better serve this high risk population, which may include extended treatment that allows the children to stay with the parent at the treatment facility.

Subd. 2. [EVALUATION.] The commissioner shall evaluate the effectiveness of different chemical dependency treatment models for this high risk population and annually report the findings beginning in December 2001.

Sec. 3. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 254B.04, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [ELIGIBILITY.] (a) Persons eligible for benefits under Code of Federal Regulations, title 25, part 20, persons eligible for medical assistance benefits under sections 256B.055, 256B.056, and 256B.057, subdivisions 1, 2, 5, and 6, or who meet the income standards of section 256B.056, subdivision 4, and persons eligible for general assistance medical care under section 256D.03, subdivision 3, are entitled to chemical dependency fund services. State money appropriated for this paragraph must be placed in a separate account established for this purpose.

Persons with dependent children who do not have private insurance but are in need of chemical dependency treatment pursuant to an assessment under section 626.556, subdivision 10, or a case plan under section 257.071 or 260.191, subdivision 1e, are entitled to chemical dependency fund services. Treatment services must be appropriate for the individual or family, which may include extended care treatment or treatment in a facility that allows the dependent children to stay in the treatment facility. The county shall pay for out-of-home placement costs, if applicable.

(b) A person not entitled to services under paragraph (a), but with family income that is less than 60 percent of the state median income for a family of like size and composition, shall be eligible to receive chemical dependency fund services within the limit of funds available after persons entitled to services under paragraph (a) have been served. Preferential treatment must be given to persons with dependent children who are in need of chemical dependency treatment pursuant to an assessment under section 626.556, subdivision 10, or a case plan under section 257.071 or 260.191, subdivision 1e. A county may spend money from its own sources to serve persons under this paragraph. State money appropriated for this paragraph must be placed in a separate account established for this purpose.

(c) Persons whose income is between 60 percent and 115 percent of the state median income shall be eligible for chemical dependency services on a sliding fee basis, within the limit of funds available, after persons entitled to services under paragraph (a) and persons eligible for services under paragraph (b) have been served. Persons eligible under this paragraph must contribute to the cost of services according to the sliding fee scale established under subdivision 3. A county may spend money from its own sources to provide services to persons under this paragraph. State money appropriated for this paragraph must be placed in a separate account established for this purpose.

Sec. 4. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256.01, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [SPECIFIC POWERS.] Subject to the provisions of section 241.021, subdivision 2, the commissioner of human services shall:

(1) Administer and supervise all forms of public assistance provided for by state law and other welfare activities or services as are vested in the commissioner. Administration and supervision of human services activities or services includes, but is not limited to, assuring timely and accurate distribution of benefits, completeness of service, and quality program management. In addition to administering and supervising human services activities vested by law in the department, the commissioner shall have the authority to:

(a) require county agency participation in training and technical assistance programs to promote compliance with statutes, rules, federal laws, regulations, and policies governing human services;

(b) monitor, on an ongoing basis, the performance of county agencies in the operation and administration of human services, enforce compliance with statutes, rules, federal laws, regulations, and policies governing welfare services and promote excellence of administration and program operation;

(c) develop a quality control program or other monitoring program to review county performance and accuracy of benefit determinations;

(d) require county agencies to make an adjustment to the public assistance benefits issued to any individual consistent with federal law and regulation and state law and rule and to issue or recover benefits as appropriate;

(e) delay or deny payment of all or part of the state and federal share of benefits and administrative reimbursement according to the procedures set forth in section 256.017;

(f) make contracts with and grants to public and private agencies and organizations, both profit and nonprofit, and individuals, using appropriated funds; and

(g) enter into contractual agreements with federally recognized Indian tribes with a reservation in Minnesota to the extent necessary for the tribe to operate a federally approved family assistance program or any other program under the supervision of the commissioner. The commissioner shall consult with the affected county or counties in the contractual agreement negotiations, if the county or counties wish to be included, in order to avoid the duplication of county and tribal assistance program services. The commissioner may establish necessary accounts for the purposes of receiving and disbursing funds as necessary for the operation of the programs.

(2) Inform county agencies, on a timely basis, of changes in statute, rule, federal law, regulation, and policy necessary to county agency administration of the programs.

(3) Administer and supervise all child welfare activities; promote the enforcement of laws protecting handicapped, dependent, neglected and delinquent children, and children born to mothers who were not married to the children's fathers at the times of the conception nor at the births of the children; license and supervise child-caring and child-placing agencies and institutions; supervise the care of children in boarding and foster homes or in private institutions; and generally perform all functions relating to the field of child welfare now vested in the state board of control.

(4) Administer and supervise all noninstitutional service to handicapped persons, including those who are visually impaired, hearing impaired, or physically impaired or otherwise handicapped. The commissioner may provide and contract for the care and treatment of qualified indigent children in facilities other than those located and available at state hospitals when it is not feasible to provide the service in state hospitals.

(5) Assist and actively cooperate with other departments, agencies and institutions, local, state, and federal, by performing services in conformity with the purposes of Laws 1939, chapter 431.

(6) Act as the agent of and cooperate with the federal government in matters of mutual concern relative to and in conformity with the provisions of Laws 1939, chapter 431, including the administration of any federal funds granted to the state to aid in the performance of any functions of the commissioner as specified in Laws 1939, chapter 431, and including the promulgation of rules making uniformly available medical care benefits to all recipients of public assistance, at such times as the federal government increases its participation in assistance expenditures for medical care to recipients of public assistance, the cost thereof to be borne in the same proportion as are grants of aid to said recipients.

(7) Establish and maintain any administrative units reasonably necessary for the performance of administrative functions common to all divisions of the department.

(8) Act as designated guardian of both the estate and the person of all the wards of the state of Minnesota, whether by operation of law or by an order of court, without any further act or proceeding whatever, except as to persons committed as mentally retarded. For children under the guardianship of the commissioner whose interests would be best served by adoptive placement, the commissioner may contract with a licensed child-placing agency to provide adoption services. A contract with a licensed child-placing agency must be designed to supplement existing county efforts and may not replace existing county programs, unless the replacement is agreed to by the county board and the appropriate exclusive bargaining representative or the commissioner has evidence that child placements of the county continue to be substantially below that of other counties. Funds encumbered and obligated under an agreement for a specific child shall remain available until the terms of the agreement are fulfilled or the agreement is terminated.

(9) Act as coordinating referral and informational center on requests for service for newly arrived immigrants coming to Minnesota.

(10) The specific enumeration of powers and duties as hereinabove set forth shall in no way be construed to be a limitation upon the general transfer of powers herein contained.

(11) Establish county, regional, or statewide schedules of maximum fees and charges which may be paid by county agencies for medical, dental, surgical, hospital, nursing and nursing home care and medicine and medical supplies under all programs of medical care provided by the state and for congregate living care under the income maintenance programs.

(12) Have the authority to conduct and administer experimental projects to test methods and procedures of administering assistance and services to recipients or potential recipients of public welfare. To carry out such experimental projects, it is further provided that the commissioner of human services is authorized to waive the enforcement of existing specific statutory program requirements, rules, and standards in one or more counties. The order establishing the waiver shall provide alternative methods and procedures of administration, shall not be in conflict with the basic purposes, coverage, or benefits provided by law, and in no event shall the duration of a project exceed four years. It is further provided that no order establishing an experimental project as authorized by the provisions of this section shall become effective until the following conditions have been met:

(a) The secretary of health, education, and welfare of the United States has agreed, for the same project, to waive state plan requirements relative to statewide uniformity.

(b) A comprehensive plan, including estimated project costs, shall be approved by the legislative advisory commission and filed with the commissioner of administration.

(13) According to federal requirements, establish procedures to be followed by local welfare boards in creating citizen advisory committees, including procedures for selection of committee members.

(14) Allocate federal fiscal disallowances or sanctions which are based on quality control error rates for the aid to families with dependent children, Minnesota family investment program-statewide, medical assistance, or food stamp program in the following manner:

(a) One-half of the total amount of the disallowance shall be borne by the county boards responsible for administering the programs. For the medical assistance, MFIP-S, and AFDC programs, disallowances shall be shared by each county board in the same proportion as that county's expenditures for the sanctioned program are to the total of all counties' expenditures for the AFDC, MFIP-S, and medical assistance programs. For the food stamp program, sanctions shall be shared by each county board, with 50 percent of the sanction being distributed to each county in the same proportion as that county's administrative costs for food stamps are to the total of all food stamp administrative costs for all counties, and 50 percent of the sanctions being distributed to each county in the same proportion as that county's value of food stamp benefits issued are to the total of all benefits issued for all counties. Each county shall pay its share of the disallowance to the state of Minnesota. When a county fails to pay the amount due hereunder, the commissioner may deduct the amount from reimbursement otherwise due the county, or the attorney general, upon the request of the commissioner, may institute civil action to recover the amount due.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (a), if the disallowance results from knowing noncompliance by one or more counties with a specific program instruction, and that knowing noncompliance is a matter of official county board record, the commissioner may require payment or recover from the county or counties, in the manner prescribed in paragraph (a), an amount equal to the portion of the total disallowance which resulted from the noncompliance, and may distribute the balance of the disallowance according to paragraph (a).

(15) Develop and implement special projects that maximize reimbursements and result in the recovery of money to the state. For the purpose of recovering state money, the commissioner may enter into contracts with third parties. Any recoveries that result from projects or contracts entered into under this paragraph shall be deposited in the state treasury and credited to a special account until the balance in the account reaches \$1,000,000. When the balance in the account exceeds \$1,000,000, the excess shall be transferred and credited to the general fund. All money in the account is appropriated to the commissioner for the purposes of this paragraph.

(16) Have the authority to make direct payments to facilities providing shelter to women and their children according to section 256D.05, subdivision 3. Upon the written request of a shelter facility that has been denied payments under section 256D.05, subdivision 3, the commissioner shall review all relevant evidence and make a determination within 30 days of the request for review regarding issuance of direct payments to the shelter facility. Failure to act within 30 days shall be considered a determination not to issue direct payments.

(17) Have the authority to establish and enforce the following county reporting requirements:

(a) The commissioner shall establish fiscal and statistical reporting requirements necessary to account for the expenditure of funds allocated to counties for human services programs. When establishing financial and statistical reporting requirements, the commissioner shall evaluate all reports, in consultation with the counties, to determine if the reports can be simplified or the number of reports can be reduced.

(b) The county board shall submit monthly or quarterly reports to the department as required by the commissioner. Monthly reports are due no later than 15 working days after the end of the month. Quarterly reports are due no later than 30 calendar days after the end of the quarter, unless the commissioner determines that the deadline must be shortened to 20 calendar days to avoid jeopardizing compliance with federal deadlines or risking a loss of federal funding. Only reports that are complete, legible, and in the required format shall be accepted by the commissioner.

(c) If the required reports are not received by the deadlines established in clause (b), the

commissioner may delay payments and withhold funds from the county board until the next reporting period. When the report is needed to account for the use of federal funds and the late report results in a reduction in federal funding, the commissioner shall withhold from the county boards with late reports an amount equal to the reduction in federal funding until full federal funding is received.

(d) A county board that submits reports that are late, illegible, incomplete, or not in the required format for two out of three consecutive reporting periods is considered noncompliant. When a county board is found to be noncompliant, the commissioner shall notify the county board of the reason the county board is considered noncompliant and request that the county board develop a corrective action plan stating how the county board plans to correct the problem. The corrective action plan must be submitted to the commissioner within 45 days after the date the county board received notice of noncompliance.

(e) The final deadline for fiscal reports or amendments to fiscal reports is one year after the date the report was originally due. If the commissioner does not receive a report by the final deadline, the county board forfeits the funding associated with the report for that reporting period and the county board must repay any funds associated with the report received for that reporting period.

(f) The commissioner may not delay payments, withhold funds, or require repayment under paragraph (c) or (e) if the county demonstrates that the commissioner failed to provide appropriate forms, guidelines, and technical assistance to enable the county to comply with the requirements. If the county board disagrees with an action taken by the commissioner under paragraph (c) or (e), the county board may appeal the action according to sections 14.57 to 14.69.

(g) Counties subject to withholding of funds under paragraph (c) or forfeiture or repayment of funds under paragraph (e) shall not reduce or withhold benefits or services to clients to cover costs incurred due to actions taken by the commissioner under paragraph (c) or (e).

(18) Allocate federal fiscal disallowances or sanctions for audit exceptions when federal fiscal disallowances or sanctions are based on a statewide random sample for the foster care program under title IV-E of the Social Security Act, United States Code, title 42, in direct proportion to each county's title IV-E foster care maintenance claim for that period.

(19) Be responsible for ensuring the detection, prevention, investigation, and resolution of fraudulent activities or behavior by applicants, recipients, and other participants in the human services programs administered by the department.

(20) Require county agencies to identify overpayments, establish claims, and utilize all available and cost-beneficial methodologies to collect and recover these overpayments in the human services programs administered by the department.

(21) Have the authority to administer a drug rebate program for drugs purchased pursuant to the senior citizen drug program established under section 256.955 after the beneficiary's satisfaction of any deductible established in the program. The commissioner shall require a rebate agreement from all manufacturers of covered drugs as defined in section 256B.0625, subdivision 13. For each drug, the amount of the rebate shall be equal to the basic rebate as defined for purposes of the federal rebate program in United States Code, title 42, section 1396r-8(c)(1). This basic rebate shall be applied to single-source and multiple-source drugs. The manufacturers must provide full payment within 30 days of receipt of the state invoice for the rebate within the terms and conditions used for the federal rebate program established pursuant to section 1927 of title XIX of the Social Security Act. The manufacturers must provide the commissioner with any information necessary to verify the rebate determined per drug. The rebate program shall utilize the terms and conditions used for the federal rebate program established pursuant to section 1927 of title XIX of the Social Security Act.

Sec. 5. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256B.094, subdivision 3, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. [COORDINATION AND PROVISION OF SERVICES.] (a) In a county or

reservation where a prepaid medical assistance provider has contracted under section 256B.031 or 256B.69 to provide mental health services, the case management provider shall coordinate with the prepaid provider to ensure that all necessary mental health services required under the contract are provided to recipients of case management services.

(b) When the case management provider determines that a prepaid provider is not providing mental health services as required under the contract, the case management provider shall assist the recipient to appeal the prepaid provider's denial pursuant to section 256.045, and may make other arrangements for provision of the covered services.

(c) The case management provider may bill the provider of prepaid health care services for any mental health services provided to a recipient of case management services which the county or tribal social services arranges for or provides and which are included in the prepaid provider's contract, and which were determined to be medically necessary as a result of an appeal pursuant to section 256.045. The prepaid provider must reimburse the mental health provider, at the prepaid provider's standard rate for that service, for any services delivered under this subdivision.

(d) If the county or tribal social services has not obtained prior authorization for this service, or an appeal results in a determination that the services were not medically necessary, the county or tribal social services may not seek reimbursement from the prepaid provider.

Sec. 6. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256B.094, subdivision 5, is amended to read:

Subd. 5. [CASE MANAGER.] To provide case management services, a case manager must be employed or contracted by and authorized by the case management provider to provide case management services and meet all requirements under section 256F.10.

Sec. 7. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256B.094, subdivision 6, is amended to read:

Subd. 6. [MEDICAL ASSISTANCE REIMBURSEMENT OF CASE MANAGEMENT SERVICES.] (a) Medical assistance reimbursement for services under this section shall be made on a monthly basis. Payment is based on face-to-face or telephone contacts between the case manager and the client, client's family, primary caregiver, legal representative, or other relevant person identified as necessary to the development or implementation of the goals of the individual service plan regarding the status of the client, the individual service plan, or the goals for the client. These contacts must meet the minimum standards in clauses (1) and (2):

(1) there must be a face-to-face contact at least once a month except as provided in clause (2); and

(2) for a client placed outside of the county of financial responsibility in an excluded time facility under section 256G.02, subdivision 6, or through the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children, section 257.40, and the placement in either case is more than 60 miles beyond the county or reservation boundaries, there must be at least one contact per month and not more than two consecutive months without a face-to-face contact.

(b) Except as provided in paragraph (c), the payment rate is established using time study data on activities of provider service staff and reports required under sections 245.482, 256.01, subdivision 2, paragraph (17), and 256E.08, subdivision 8.

(c) For tribes, payment may be in accordance with section 256B.0625 for child welfare targeted case management provided by Indian health services and facilities operated by a tribe or tribal organization.

(d) Payment for case management provided by vendors contracted by the county or by tribal social services shall be based on a monthly rate negotiated by the host county or tribal social services. The negotiated rate must not exceed the rate charged by the vendor for the same service to other payers. If the service is provided by a team of contracted vendors, the county or tribal social services may negotiate a team rate with a vendor who is a member of the team. The team shall determine how to distribute the rate among its members. No reimbursement received by contracted vendors shall be returned to the county or tribal social services, except to reimburse the

county or tribal social services for advance funding provided by the county or tribal social services to the vendor.

(e) If the service is provided by a team that includes contracted vendors and county or tribal social services staff, the costs for county or tribal social services staff participation in the team shall be included in the rate for county- or tribal social services-provided services. In this case, the contracted vendor and the county or tribal social services may each receive separate payment for services provided by each entity in the same month. In order to prevent duplication of services, each entity must document, in the recipient's file, the need for team case management and a description of the roles and services of the team members.

Separate payment rates may be established for different groups of providers to maximize reimbursement as determined by the commissioner. The payment rate will be reviewed annually and revised periodically to be consistent with the most recent time study and other data. Payment for services will be made upon submission of a valid claim and verification of proper documentation described in subdivision 7. Federal administrative revenue earned through the time study or other method of reimbursement under paragraph (c) shall be distributed according to earnings, to counties, reservations, or groups of counties or reservations which have the same payment rate under this subdivision, and to the group of counties or reservations which are not certified providers under section 256F.10. The commissioner shall modify the requirements set out in Minnesota Rules, parts 9550.0300 to 9550.0370, as necessary to accomplish this.

Sec. 8. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256F.03, subdivision 5, is amended to read:

Subd. 5. [FAMILY-BASED SERVICES.] "Family-based services" means one or more of the services described in paragraphs (a) to (f) ~~(e)~~ provided to families primarily in their own home for a limited time.

(a) [CRISIS SERVICES.] "Crisis services" means professional services provided within 24 hours of referral to alleviate a family crisis and to offer an alternative to placing a child outside the family home. The services are intensive and time limited. The service may offer transition to other appropriate community-based services.

(b) [COUNSELING SERVICES.] "Counseling services" means professional family counseling provided to alleviate individual and family dysfunction; provide an alternative to placing a child outside the family home; or permit a child to return home. The duration, frequency, and intensity of the service is determined in the individual or family service plan.

(c) [LIFE MANAGEMENT SKILLS SERVICES.] "Life management skills services" means paraprofessional services that teach family members skills in such areas as parenting, budgeting, home management, and communication. The goal is to strengthen family skills as an alternative to placing a child outside the family home or to permit a child to return home. A social worker shall coordinate these services within the family case plan.

~~(d) [CASE COORDINATION SERVICES.] "Case coordination services" means professional services provided to an individual, family, or caretaker as an alternative to placing a child outside the family home, to permit a child to return home, or to stabilize the long-term or permanent placement of a child. Coordinated services are provided directly, are arranged, or are monitored to meet the needs of a child and family. The duration, frequency, and intensity of services is determined in the individual or family service plan.~~

~~(e) [MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES.] "Mental health services" means the professional services defined in section 245.4871, subdivision 31.~~

~~(f) (e) [EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICES.] "Early intervention services" means family-based intervention services designed to help at-risk families avoid crisis situations.~~

Sec. 9. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256F.05, subdivision 8, is amended to read:

Subd. 8. [USES OF FAMILY PRESERVATION FUND GRANTS.] (a) A county which has not demonstrated that year that its family preservation core services are developed as provided in



subdivision 1a, must use its family preservation fund grant exclusively for family preservation services defined in section 256F.03, subdivision 5, paragraphs (a), (b), (c), and (e) (d).

(b) A county which has demonstrated that year that its family preservation core services are developed becomes eligible either to continue using its family preservation fund grant as provided in paragraph (a), or to exercise the expanded service option under paragraph (c).

(c) The expanded service option permits an eligible county to use its family preservation fund grant for child welfare preventive services. For purposes of this section, child welfare preventive services are those services directed toward a specific child or family that further the goals of section 256F.01 and include assessments, family preservation services, service coordination, community-based treatment, crisis nursery services when the parents retain custody and there is no voluntary placement agreement with a child-placing agency, respite care except when it is provided under a medical assistance waiver, home-based services, and other related services. For purposes of this section, child welfare preventive services shall not include shelter care or other placement services under the authority of the court or public agency to address an emergency. To exercise this option, an eligible county must notify the commissioner in writing of its intention to do so ~~no later than 30 days into the quarter during which it intends to begin~~ or select this option in its county plan, as provided in section 256F.04, subdivision 2. Effective with the first day of ~~that quarter~~ the grant period in which this option is selected, the county must maintain its base level of expenditures for child welfare preventive services and use the family preservation fund to expand them. The base level of expenditures for a county shall be that established under section 256F.10, subdivision 7. For counties which have no such base established, a comparable base shall be established with the base year being the calendar year ending at least two calendar quarters before the first calendar quarter in which the county exercises its expanded service option. The commissioner shall, at the request of the counties, reduce, suspend, or eliminate either or both of a county's obligations to continue the base level of expenditures and to expand child welfare preventive services under extraordinary circumstances.

(d) Notwithstanding paragraph (a), a county that is participating in the child protection assessments or investigations community collaboration pilot program under section 626.5560, or in the concurrent permanency planning pilot program under section 257.0711, may use its family preservation fund grant for those programs.

Sec. 10. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256F.10, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [ELIGIBILITY.] Persons under 21 years of age who are eligible to receive medical assistance are eligible for child welfare targeted case management services under section 256B.094 and this section if they have received an assessment and have been determined by the local county or tribal social services agency to be:

- (1) at risk of placement or in placement as described in section 257.071, subdivision 1;
- (2) at risk of maltreatment or experiencing maltreatment as defined in section 626.556, subdivision 10e; or
- (3) in need of protection or services as defined in section 260.015, subdivision 2a.

Sec. 11. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256F.10, subdivision 4, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. [PROVIDER QUALIFICATIONS AND CERTIFICATION STANDARDS.] The commissioner must certify each provider before enrolling it as a child welfare targeted case management provider of services under section 256B.094 and this section. The certification process shall examine the provider's ability to meet the qualification requirements and certification standards in this subdivision and other federal and state requirements of this service. A certified child welfare targeted case management provider is an enrolled medical assistance provider who is determined by the commissioner to have all of the following:

- (1) the legal authority to provide public welfare under sections 393.01, subdivision 7, and 393.07 or a federally recognized Indian tribe;

(2) the demonstrated capacity and experience to provide the components of case management to coordinate and link community resources needed by the eligible population;

(3) administrative capacity and experience in serving the target population for whom it will provide services and in ensuring quality of services under state and federal requirements;

(4) the legal authority to provide complete investigative and protective services under section 626.556, subdivision 10, and child welfare and foster care services under section 393.07, subdivisions 1 and 2, or a federally recognized Indian tribe;

(5) a financial management system that provides accurate documentation of services and costs under state and federal requirements; and

(6) the capacity to document and maintain individual case records under state and federal requirements.

Sec. 12. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256F.10, subdivision 6, is amended to read:

Subd. 6. [DISTRIBUTION OF NEW FEDERAL REVENUE.] (a) Except for portion set aside in paragraph (b), the federal funds earned under this section and section 256B.094 by counties providers shall be paid to each county provider based on its earnings, and must be used by each county provider to expand preventive child welfare services.

If a county or tribal social services chooses to be a provider of child welfare targeted case management and if that county or tribal social services also joins a local children's mental health collaborative as authorized by the 1993 legislature, then the federal reimbursement received by the county or tribal social services for providing child welfare targeted case management services to children served by the local collaborative shall be transferred by the county or tribal social services to the integrated fund. The federal reimbursement transferred to the integrated fund by the county or tribal social services must not be used for residential care other than respite care described under subdivision 7, paragraph (d).

(b) The commissioner shall set aside a portion of the federal funds earned under this section to repay the special revenue maximization account under section 256.01, subdivision 2, clause (15). The repayment is limited to:

(1) the costs of developing and implementing this section and sections 256.8711 and 256B.094;

(2) programming the information systems; and

(3) the lost federal revenue for the central office claim directly caused by the implementation of these sections.

Any unexpended funds from the set aside under this paragraph shall be distributed to counties providers according to paragraph (a).

Sec. 13. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256F.10, subdivision 7, is amended to read:

Subd. 7. [EXPANSION OF SERVICES AND BASE LEVEL OF EXPENDITURES.] (a) Counties and tribal social services must continue the base level of expenditures for preventive child welfare services from either or both of any state, county, or federal funding source, which, in the absence of federal funds earned under this section, would have been available for these services. The commissioner shall review the county or tribal social services expenditures annually using reports required under sections 245.482, 256.01, subdivision 2, paragraph 17, and 256E.08, subdivision 8, to ensure that the base level of expenditures for preventive child welfare services is continued from sources other than the federal funds earned under this section.

(b) The commissioner may reduce, suspend, or eliminate either or both of a county's or tribal social services' obligations to continue the base level of expenditures and to expand child welfare preventive services if the commissioner determines that one or more of the following conditions apply to that county or reservation:

- (1) imposition of levy limits that significantly reduce available social service funds;
- (2) reduction in the net tax capacity of the taxable property within a county or reservation that significantly reduces available social service funds;
- (3) reduction in the number of children under age 19 in the county or reservation by 25 percent when compared with the number in the base year using the most recent data provided by the state demographer's office; or
- (4) termination of the federal revenue earned under this section.

(c) The commissioner may suspend for one year either or both of a county's or tribal social services' obligations to continue the base level of expenditures and to expand child welfare preventive services if the commissioner determines that in the previous year one or more of the following conditions applied to that county or reservation:

(1) the total number of children in placement under sections 257.071 and 393.07, subdivisions 1 and 2, has been reduced by 50 percent from the total number in the base year; or

(2) the average number of children in placement under sections 257.071 and 393.07, subdivisions 1 and 2, on the last day of each month is equal to or less than one child per 1,000 children in the county or reservation.

(d) For the purposes of this section, child welfare preventive services are those services directed toward a specific child or family that further the goals of section 256F.01 and include assessments, family preservation services, service coordination, community-based treatment, crisis nursery services when the parents retain custody and there is no voluntary placement agreement with a child-placing agency, respite care except when it is provided under a medical assistance waiver, home-based services, and other related services. For the purposes of this section, child welfare preventive services shall not include shelter care placements under the authority of the court or public agency to address an emergency, residential services except for respite care, child care for the purposes of employment and training, adult services, services other than child welfare targeted case management when they are provided under medical assistance, placement services, or activities not directed toward a specific child or family. Respite care must be planned, routine care to support the continuing residence of the child with its family or long-term primary caretaker and must not be provided to address an emergency.

(e) For the counties and tribal social services beginning to claim federal reimbursement for services under this section and section 256B.094, the base year is the calendar year ending at least two calendar quarters before the first calendar quarter in which the ~~county~~ provider begins claiming reimbursement. For the purposes of this section, the base level of expenditures is the level of county or tribal social services expenditures in the base year for eligible child welfare preventive services described in this subdivision.

Sec. 14. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256F.10, subdivision 8, is amended to read:

Subd. 8. [PROVIDER RESPONSIBILITIES.] (a) Notwithstanding section 256B.19, subdivision 1, for the purposes of child welfare targeted case management under section 256B.094 and this section, the nonfederal share of costs shall be provided by the provider of child welfare targeted case management from sources other than federal funds or funds used to match other federal funds.

(b) Provider expenditures eligible for federal reimbursement under this section must not be made from federal funds or funds used to match other federal funds, except when allowed by federal law or agreement.

(c) The commissioner may suspend, reduce, or terminate the federal reimbursement to a provider that does not meet the reporting or other requirements of section 256B.094 and this section. The county or reservation is responsible for any federal disallowances. The county or reservation may share this responsibility with its contracted vendors.

Sec. 15. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256F.10, subdivision 10, is amended to read:

Subd. 10. [CENTRALIZED DISBURSEMENT OF MEDICAL ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS.] Notwithstanding section 256B.041, county provider payments for the cost of child welfare targeted case management services shall not be made to the state treasurer. For the purposes of child welfare targeted case management services under section 256B.094 and this section, the centralized disbursement of payments to providers under section 256B.041 consists only of federal earnings from services provided under section 256B.094 and this section.

Sec. 16. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [PLACEMENT; PLAN.] (a) A case plan shall be prepared within 30 days after any child is placed in a residential facility by court order or by the voluntary release of the child by the parent or parents.

For purposes of this section, a residential facility means any group home, family foster home or other publicly supported out-of-home residential facility, including any out-of-home residential facility under contract with the state, county or other political subdivision, or any agency thereof, to provide those services or foster care as defined in section 260.015, subdivision 7.

(b) When a child is in placement, the responsible local social services agency shall make diligent efforts to identify, locate, and, where appropriate, offer services to both parents of the child. If a noncustodial or nonadjudicated parent is willing and capable of providing for the day-to-day care of the child, the local social services agency may seek authority from the custodial parent or the court to have that parent assume day-to-day care of the child. If a parent is not an adjudicated parent, the local social services agency shall require the nonadjudicated parent to cooperate with paternity establishment procedures as part of the case plan.

(c) If, after assessment, the local social services agency determines that the child cannot be in the day-to-day care of either parent, the agency shall prepare a case plan addressing the conditions that each parent must mitigate before the child could be in that parent's day-to-day care.

(d) If, after the provision of services following a case plan under this section and ordered by the juvenile court, the child cannot return to the care of the parent from whom the child was removed or who had legal custody at the time the child was placed in foster care, the agency may petition on behalf of a noncustodial parent to establish legal custody with that parent under section 260.191, subdivision 3b. If paternity has not already been established, it may be established in the same proceeding in the manner provided for under this chapter.

The responsible social services agency may be relieved of the requirement to locate and offer services to both parents by the juvenile court upon a finding of good cause after the filing of a petition under section 260.131.

(e) For the purposes of this section, a case plan means a written document which is ordered by the court or which is prepared by the social service services agency responsible for the residential facility placement and is signed by the parent or parents, or other custodian, of the child, the child's legal guardian, the social service services agency responsible for the residential facility placement, and, if possible, the child. The document shall be explained to all persons involved in its implementation, including the child who has signed the document, and shall set forth:

(1) the specific reasons for the placement of the child in a residential facility, including a description of the problems or conditions in the home of the parent or parents which necessitated removal of the child from home;

(2) the specific actions to be taken by the parent or parents of the child to eliminate or correct the problems or conditions identified in clause (1), and the time period during which the actions are to be taken;

(3) the financial responsibilities and obligations, if any, of the parents for the support of the child during the period the child is in the residential facility;

(4) the visitation rights and obligations of the parent or parents or other relatives as defined in section 260.181, if such visitation is consistent with the best interest of the child, during the period the child is in the residential facility;

(5) the social and other supportive services to be provided to the parent or parents of the child, the child, and the residential facility during the period the child is in the residential facility;

(6) the date on which the child is expected to be returned to and safely maintained in the home of the parent or parents or placed for adoption or otherwise permanently removed from the care of the parent by court order;

(7) the nature of the effort to be made by the social service services agency responsible for the placement to reunite the family; and

(8) notice to the parent or parents;

(i) that placement of the child in foster care may result in termination of parental rights but only after notice and a hearing as provided in chapter 260; and

(ii) in cases where the agency has determined that both reasonable efforts to reunify the child with the parents, and reasonable efforts to place the child in a permanent home away from the parent that may become legally permanent are appropriate, notice of:

(A) time limits on the length of placement and of reunification services;

(B) the nature of the services available to the parent;

(C) the consequences to the parent and the child if the parent fails or is unable to use services to correct the circumstances that led to the child's placement;

(D) the first consideration for relative placement; and

(E) the benefit to the child in getting the child out of residential care as soon as possible, preferably by returning the child home, but if that is not possible, through legally permanent placement of the child away from the parent;

(9) a permanency hearing under section 260.191, subdivision 3b, or a termination of parental rights hearing under sections 260.221 to 260.245, where the agency asks the court to find that the child should be permanently placed away from the parent and includes documentation of the steps taken by the responsible social services agency to find an adoptive family or other legally permanent living arrangement for the child, to place the child with an adoptive family, a fit and willing relative through an award of permanent legal and physical custody, or in another planned and legally permanent living arrangement. The documentation must include child specific recruitment efforts; and

(10) if the court has issued an order terminating the rights of both parents of the child or of the only known, living parent of the child, documentation of steps to finalize the adoption or legal guardianship of the child.

(f) The parent or parents and the child each shall have the right to legal counsel in the preparation of the case plan and shall be informed of the right at the time of placement of the child. The child shall also have the right to a guardian ad litem. If unable to employ counsel from their own resources, the court shall appoint counsel upon the request of the parent or parents or the child or the child's legal guardian. The parent or parents may also receive assistance from any person or social service services agency in preparation of the case plan.

After the plan has been agreed upon by the parties involved, the foster parents shall be fully informed of the provisions of the case plan and shall be provided a copy of the plan.

(g) When an agency accepts a child for placement, the agency shall determine whether the child has had a physical examination by or under the direction of a licensed physician within the 12 months immediately preceding the date when the child came into the agency's care. If there is

documentation that the child has had such an examination within the last 12 months, the agency is responsible for seeing that the child has another physical examination within one year of the documented examination and annually in subsequent years. If the agency determines that the child has not had a physical examination within the 12 months immediately preceding placement, the agency shall ensure that the child has the examination within 30 days of coming into the agency's care and once a year in subsequent years.

Sec. 17. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivision 1a, is amended to read:

Subd. 1a. [PLACEMENT DECISIONS BASED ON BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD.] (a) The policy of the state of Minnesota is to ensure that the child's best interests are met by requiring an individualized determination of the needs of the child and of how the selected placement will serve the needs of the child being placed. The authorized child-placing agency shall place a child, released by court order or by voluntary release by the parent or parents, in a family foster home selected by considering placement with relatives and important friends consistent with section 260.181, subdivision 3.

(b) Among the factors the agency shall consider in determining the needs of the child are those specified under section 260.181, subdivision 3, paragraph (b).

(c) Placement of a child cannot be delayed or denied based on race, color, or national origin of the foster parent or the child. Whenever possible, Siblings should be placed together for foster care and adoption at the earliest possible time unless it is determined not to be in the best interests of a sibling or unless it is not possible after appropriate efforts by the responsible social services agency.

Sec. 18. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivision 1c, is amended to read:

Subd. 1c. [NOTICE BEFORE VOLUNTARY PLACEMENT.] The local social service services agency shall inform a parent considering voluntary placement of a child who is not developmentally disabled or emotionally handicapped of the following:

(1) the parent and the child each has a right to separate legal counsel before signing a voluntary placement agreement, but not to counsel appointed at public expense;

(2) the parent is not required to agree to the voluntary placement, and a parent who enters a voluntary placement agreement may at any time request that the agency return the child. If the parent so requests, the child must be returned within 24 hours of the receipt of the request;

(3) evidence gathered during the time the child is voluntarily placed may be used at a later time as the basis for a petition alleging that the child is in need of protection or services or as the basis for a petition seeking termination of parental rights or other permanent placement of the child away from the parent;

(4) if the local social service services agency files a petition alleging that the child is in need of protection or services or a petition seeking the termination of parental rights or other permanent placement of the child away from the parent, the parent would have the right to appointment of separate legal counsel and the child would have a right to the appointment of counsel and a guardian ad litem as provided by law, and that counsel will be appointed at public expense if they are unable to afford counsel; and

(5) the timelines and procedures for review of voluntary placements under subdivision 3, and the effect the time spent in voluntary placement on the scheduling of a permanent placement determination hearing under section 260.191, subdivision 3b.

Sec. 19. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivision 1d, is amended to read:

Subd. 1d. [RELATIVE SEARCH; NATURE.] (a) As soon as possible, but in any event within six months after a child is initially placed in a residential facility, the local social services agency shall identify any relatives of the child and notify them of the need for a foster care home for the child and of the possibility of the need for a permanent out-of-home placement of the child.

Relatives should also be notified that a decision not to be a placement resource at the beginning of the case may affect the relative being considered for placement of the child with that relative later. The relatives must be notified that they must keep the local social services agency informed of their current address in order to receive notice that a permanent placement is being sought for the child. A relative who fails to provide a current address to the local social services agency forfeits the right to notice of the possibility of permanent placement. If the child's parent refuses to give the responsible social services agency information sufficient to identify relatives of the child, the agency shall determine whether the parent's refusal is in the child's best interests. If the agency determines the parent's refusal is not in the child's best interests, the agency shall file a petition under section 260.131, and shall ask the juvenile court to order the parent to provide the necessary information.

(b) Unless relieved of this duty by the court because the child is placed with an appropriate relative who wishes to provide a permanent home for the child or the child is placed with a foster home that has committed to being the legally permanent placement for the child and the responsible social services agency approves of that foster home for permanent placement of the child, when the agency determines that it is necessary to prepare for the permanent placement determination hearing, or in anticipation of filing a termination of parental rights petition, the agency shall send notice to the relatives, any adult with whom the child is currently residing, any adult with whom the child has resided for one year or longer in the past, and any adults who have maintained a relationship or exercised visitation with the child as identified in the agency case plan. The notice must state that a permanent home is sought for the child and that the individuals receiving the notice may indicate to the agency their interest in providing a permanent home. The notice must state that within 30 days of receipt of the notice an individual receiving the notice must indicate to the agency the individual's interest in providing a permanent home for the child or that the individual may lose the opportunity to be considered for a permanent placement. This notice need not be sent if the child is placed with an appropriate relative who wishes to provide a permanent home for the child.

Sec. 20. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivision 1e, is amended to read:

Subd. 1e. [CHANGE IN PLACEMENT.] If a child is removed from a permanent placement disposition authorized under section 260.191, subdivision 3b, within one year after the placement was made:

(1) the child must be returned to the residential facility where the child was placed immediately preceding the permanent placement; or

(2) the court shall hold a hearing within ten days after the child is ~~taken into custody~~ removed from the permanent placement to determine where the child is to be placed. A guardian ad litem must be appointed for the child for this hearing.

Sec. 21. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivision 3, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. [REVIEW OF VOLUNTARY PLACEMENTS.] Except as provided in subdivision 4, if the child has been placed in a residential facility pursuant to a voluntary release by the parent or parents, and is not returned home within 90 days after initial placement in the residential facility, the social service services agency responsible for the placement shall:

(1) return the child to the home of the parent or parents; or

(2) file a petition according to section 260.131, subdivision 1, which may:

(i) ask the court to review the placement and approve it for up to ~~extend the placement for an additional~~ 90 days;;

(ii) ask the court to order continued out-of-home placement according to sections 260.172 and 260.191; or

(iii) ask the court to terminate parental rights under section 260.221.

The case plan must be updated when a petition is filed and must include a specific plan for permanency which may include a time line for returning the child home or a plan for permanent placement of the child away from the parent, or both.

If the court approves the extension continued out-of-home placement for up to 90 more days, at the end of the second court-approved 90-day period, the child must be returned to the parent's home, unless a petition is. If the child is not returned home, the responsible social services agency must proceed on the petition filed for a alleging the child in need of protection or services or the petition for termination of parental rights. The court must find a statutory basis to order the placement of the child under section 260.172, 260.191, or 260.241.

Sec. 22. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivision 4, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. [REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENTALLY DISABLED AND EMOTIONALLY HANDICAPPED CHILD PLACEMENTS.] If a developmentally disabled child, as that term is defined in United States Code, title 42, section 6001 (7), as amended through December 31, 1979, or a child diagnosed with an emotional handicap as defined in section 252.27, subdivision 1a, has been placed in a residential facility pursuant to a voluntary release by the child's parent or parents because of the child's handicapping conditions or need for long-term residential treatment or supervision, the social service services agency responsible for the placement shall bring a petition for review of the child's foster care status, pursuant to section 260.131, subdivision 1a, rather than a after the child has been in placement for six months. If a child is in placement due solely to the child's handicapping condition and custody of the child is not transferred to the responsible social services agency under section 260.191, subdivision 1, paragraph (a), clause (2), no petition as is required by section 260.191, subdivision 3b, after the child has been in foster care for six months or, in the case of a child with an emotional handicap, after the child has been in a residential facility for six months. Whenever a petition for review is brought pursuant to this subdivision, a guardian ad litem shall be appointed for the child.

Sec. 23. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.85, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [SCOPE.] The provisions of this section apply to those situations in which the legal and physical custody of a child is established with a relative or important friend with whom the child has resided or had significant contact according to section 260.191, subdivision 3b, by a court order issued on or after July 1, 1997.

Sec. 24. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.85, subdivision 3, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. [DEFINITIONS.] For purposes of this section, the terms defined in this subdivision have the meanings given them.

(a) "~~AFDC or MFIP standard~~" means the monthly standard of need used to calculate assistance under the AFDC program, the transitional standard used to calculate assistance under the MFIP-S program, or, if neither of those is applicable permanent legal and physical custody of the child is given to a relative custodian residing outside of Minnesota, the analogous transitional standard or standard of need used to calculate assistance under the MFIP or MFIP-R programs TANF program of the state where the relative custodian lives.

(b) "Local agency" means the local social service services agency with legal custody of a child prior to the transfer of permanent legal and physical custody to a relative.

(c) "Permanent legal and physical custody" means permanent legal and physical custody ordered by a Minnesota juvenile court under section 260.191, subdivision 3b.

(d) "Relative" means an individual, other than a parent, who is related to a child by blood, marriage, or adoption.

(e) "Relative custodian" means a relative of a child for whom the relative person who has permanent legal and physical custody of a child. When siblings, including half-siblings and step siblings, are placed together in the permanent legal and physical custody of a relative of one of the siblings, the person receiving permanent legal and physical custody of the siblings is considered a relative custodian of all of the siblings for purposes of this section.



(f) "Relative custody assistance agreement" means an agreement entered into between a local agency and ~~the relative of a child~~ person who has been or will be awarded permanent legal and physical custody of ~~the~~ a child.

(g) "Relative custody assistance payment" means a monthly cash grant made to a relative custodian pursuant to a relative custody assistance agreement and in an amount calculated under subdivision 7.

(h) "Remains in the physical custody of the relative custodian" means that the relative custodian is providing day-to-day care for the child and that the child lives with the relative custodian; absence from the relative custodian's home for a period of more than 120 days raises a presumption that the child no longer remains in the physical custody of the relative custodian.

Sec. 25. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.85, subdivision 4, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. [DUTIES OF LOCAL AGENCY.] (a) When a local agency seeks a court order under section 260.191, subdivision 3b, to establish permanent legal and physical custody of a child with a relative or important friend with whom the child has resided or had significant contact, or if such an order is issued by the court, the local agency shall perform the duties in this subdivision.

(b) As soon as possible after the local agency determines that it will seek to establish permanent legal and physical custody of the child ~~with a relative~~ or, if the agency did not seek to establish custody, as soon as possible after the issuance of the court order establishing custody, the local agency shall inform the relative custodian about the relative custody assistance program, including eligibility criteria and payment levels. Anytime prior to, but not later than seven days after, the date the court issues the order establishing permanent legal and physical custody of the child ~~with a relative~~, the local agency shall determine whether the eligibility criteria in subdivision 6 are met to allow the relative custodian to receive relative custody assistance. Not later than seven days after determining whether the eligibility criteria are met, the local agency shall inform the relative custodian of its determination and of the process for appealing that determination under subdivision 9.

(c) If the local agency determines that the relative custodian is eligible to receive relative custody assistance, the local agency shall prepare the relative custody assistance agreement and ensure that it meets the criteria of subdivision 6.

(d) The local agency shall make monthly payments to the relative custodian as set forth in the relative custody assistance agreement. On a quarterly basis and on a ~~form to be provided by the commissioner~~, the local agency shall make claims for reimbursement from the commissioner for relative custody assistance payments made.

(e) For a relative custody assistance agreement that is in place for longer than one year, and as long as the agreement remains in effect, the local agency shall send an annual affidavit form to the relative custodian of the eligible child within the month before the anniversary date of the agreement. The local agency shall monitor whether the annual affidavit is returned by the relative custodian within 30 days following the anniversary date of the agreement. The local agency shall review the affidavit and any other information in its possession to ensure continuing eligibility for relative custody assistance and that the amount of payment made according to the agreement is correct.

(f) When the local agency determines that a relative custody assistance agreement should be terminated or modified, it shall provide notice of the proposed termination or modification to the relative custodian at least ten days before the proposed action along with information about the process for appealing the proposed action.

Sec. 26. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.85, subdivision 5, is amended to read:

Subd. 5. [RELATIVE CUSTODY ASSISTANCE AGREEMENT.] (a) A relative custody assistance agreement will not be effective, unless it is signed by the local agency and the relative custodian no later than 30 days after the date of the order establishing permanent legal and physical custody ~~with the relative~~, except that a local agency may enter into a relative custody

assistance agreement with a relative custodian more than 30 days after the date of the order if it certifies that the delay in entering the agreement was through no fault of the relative custodian. There must be a separate agreement for each child for whom the relative custodian is receiving relative custody assistance.

(b) Regardless of when the relative custody assistance agreement is signed by the local agency and relative custodian, the effective date of the agreement shall be the date of the order establishing permanent legal and physical custody.

(c) If MFIP-S is not the applicable program for a child at the time that a relative custody assistance agreement is entered on behalf of the child, when MFIP-S becomes the applicable program, if the relative custodian had been receiving custody assistance payments calculated based upon a different program, the amount of relative custody assistance payment under subdivision 7 shall be recalculated under the MFIP-S program.

(d) The relative custody assistance agreement shall be in a form specified by the commissioner and shall include provisions relating to the following:

- (1) the responsibilities of all parties to the agreement;
- (2) the payment terms, including the financial circumstances of the relative custodian, the needs of the child, the amount and calculation of the relative custody assistance payments, and that the amount of the payments shall be reevaluated annually;
- (3) the effective date of the agreement, which shall also be the anniversary date for the purpose of submitting the annual affidavit under subdivision 8;
- (4) that failure to submit the affidavit as required by subdivision 8 will be grounds for terminating the agreement;
- (5) the agreement's expected duration, which shall not extend beyond the child's eighteenth birthday;
- (6) any specific known circumstances that could cause the agreement or payments to be modified, reduced, or terminated and the relative custodian's appeal rights under subdivision 9;
- (7) that the relative custodian must notify the local agency within 30 days of any of the following:
  - (i) a change in the child's status;
  - (ii) a change in the relationship between the relative custodian and the child;
  - (iii) a change in composition or level of income of the relative custodian's family;
  - (iv) a change in eligibility or receipt of benefits under AFDC, MFIP-S, or other assistance program; and
  - (v) any other change that could affect eligibility for or amount of relative custody assistance;
- (8) that failure to provide notice of a change as required by clause (7) will be grounds for terminating the agreement;
- (9) that the amount of relative custody assistance is subject to the availability of state funds to reimburse the local agency making the payments;
- (10) that the relative custodian may choose to temporarily stop receiving payments under the agreement at any time by providing 30 days' notice to the local agency and may choose to begin receiving payments again by providing the same notice but any payments the relative custodian chooses not to receive are forfeit; and
- (11) that the local agency will continue to be responsible for making relative custody assistance payments under the agreement regardless of the relative custodian's place of residence.

Sec. 27. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.85, subdivision 6, is amended to read:

Subd. 6. [ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA.] A local agency shall enter into a relative custody assistance agreement under subdivision 5 if it certifies that the following criteria are met:

(1) the juvenile court has determined or is expected to determine that the child, under the former or current custody of the local agency, cannot return to the home of the child's parents;

(2) the court, upon determining that it is in the child's best interests, has issued or is expected to issue an order transferring permanent legal and physical custody of the child to the relative; and

(3) the child either:

(i) is a member of a sibling group to be placed together; or

(ii) has a physical, mental, emotional, or behavioral disability that will require financial support.

When the local agency bases its certification that the criteria in clause (1) or (2) are met upon the expectation that the juvenile court will take a certain action, the relative custody assistance agreement does not become effective until and unless the court acts as expected.

Sec. 28. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.85, subdivision 7, is amended to read:

Subd. 7. [AMOUNT OF RELATIVE CUSTODY ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS.] (a) The amount of a monthly relative custody assistance payment shall be determined according to the provisions of this paragraph.

(1) The total maximum assistance rate is equal to the base assistance rate plus, if applicable, the supplemental assistance rate.

(i) The base assistance rate is equal to the maximum amount that could be received as basic maintenance for a child of the same age under the adoption assistance program.

(ii) The local agency shall determine whether the child has physical, mental, emotional, or behavioral disabilities that require care, supervision, or structure beyond that ordinarily provided in a family setting to children of the same age such that the child would be eligible for supplemental maintenance payments under the adoption assistance program if an adoption assistance agreement were entered on the child's behalf. If the local agency determines that the child has such a disability, the supplemental assistance rate shall be the maximum amount of monthly supplemental maintenance payment that could be received on behalf of a child of the same age, disabilities, and circumstances under the adoption assistance program.

(2) The net maximum assistance rate is equal to the total maximum assistance rate from clause (1) less the following offsets:

(i) if the child is or will be part of an assistance unit receiving an AFDC, MFIP-S, or other MFIP grant or a grant from a similar program of another state, the portion of the AFDC or MFIP standard relating to the child as calculated under paragraph (b), clause (2);

(ii) Supplemental Security Income payments received by or on behalf of the child;

(iii) veteran's benefits received by or on behalf of the child; and

(iv) any other income of the child, including child support payments made on behalf of the child.

(3) The relative custody assistance payment to be made to the relative custodian shall be a percentage of the net maximum assistance rate calculated in clause (2) based upon the gross income of the relative custodian's family, including the child for whom the relative custodian has permanent legal and physical custody. In no case shall the amount of the relative custody assistance payment exceed that which the child could qualify for under the adoption assistance

program if an adoption assistance agreement were entered on the child's behalf. The relative custody assistance payment shall be calculated as follows:

(i) if the relative custodian's gross family income is less than or equal to 200 percent of federal poverty guidelines, the relative custody assistance payment shall be the full amount of the net maximum assistance rate;

(ii) if the relative custodian's gross family income is greater than 200 percent and less than or equal to 225 percent of federal poverty guidelines, the relative custody assistance payment shall be 80 percent of the net maximum assistance rate;

(iii) if the relative custodian's gross family income is greater than 225 percent and less than or equal to 250 percent of federal poverty guidelines, the relative custody assistance payment shall be 60 percent of the net maximum assistance rate;

(iv) if the relative custodian's gross family income is greater than 250 percent and less than or equal to 275 percent of federal poverty guidelines, the relative custody assistance payment shall be 40 percent of the net maximum assistance rate;

(v) if the relative custodian's gross family income is greater than 275 percent and less than or equal to 300 percent of federal poverty guidelines, the relative custody assistance payment shall be 20 percent of the net maximum assistance rate; or

(vi) if the relative custodian's gross family income is greater than 300 percent of federal poverty guidelines, no relative custody assistance payment shall be made.

~~(b) This paragraph specifies the provisions pertaining to the relationship between relative custody assistance and AFDC, MFIP-S, or other MFIP programs. The following provisions cover the relationship between relative custody assistance and assistance programs:~~

~~(1) The relative custodian of a child for whom the relative custodian is receiving relative custody assistance is expected to seek whatever assistance is available for the child through the AFDC, MFIP-S, or other MFIP, if the relative custodian resides in a state other than Minnesota, similar programs of that state. If a relative custodian fails to apply for assistance through AFDC, MFIP-S, or other MFIP program for which the child is eligible, the child's portion of the AFDC or MFIP standard will be calculated as if application had been made and assistance received;~~

~~(2) The portion of the AFDC or MFIP standard relating to each child for whom relative custody assistance is being received shall be calculated as follows:~~

~~(i) determine the total AFDC or MFIP standard for the assistance unit;~~

~~(ii) determine the amount that the AFDC or MFIP standard would have been if the assistance unit had not included the children for whom relative custody assistance is being received;~~

~~(iii) subtract the amount determined in item (ii) from the amount determined in item (i); and~~

~~(iv) divide the result in item (iii) by the number of children for whom relative custody assistance is being received that are part of the assistance unit;~~

~~(3) If a child for whom relative custody assistance is being received is not eligible for assistance through the AFDC, MFIP-S, or other MFIP similar programs of another state, the portion of AFDC or MFIP standard relating to that child shall be equal to zero.~~

Sec. 29. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.85, subdivision 9, is amended to read:

Subd. 9. [RIGHT OF APPEAL.] A relative custodian who enters or seeks to enter into a relative custody assistance agreement with a local agency has the right to appeal to the commissioner according to section 256.045 when the local agency establishes, denies, terminates, or modifies the agreement. Upon appeal, the commissioner may review only:

(1) whether the local agency has met the legal requirements imposed by this chapter for establishing, denying, terminating, or modifying the agreement;

(2) whether the amount of the relative custody assistance payment was correctly calculated under the method in subdivision 7;

(3) whether the local agency paid for correct time periods under the relative custody assistance agreement;

(4) whether the child remains in the physical custody of the relative custodian;

(5) whether the local agency correctly ~~calculated~~ modified the amount of the supplemental assistance rate based on a change in the child's physical, mental, emotional, or behavioral needs, or based on the relative custodian's failure to ~~document~~ provide documentation, after the local agency has requested such documentation, that the ~~continuing need for the supplemental assistance rate after the local agency has requested such documentation~~ child continues to have physical, mental, emotional, or behavioral needs that support the current amount of relative custody assistance; and

(6) whether the local agency correctly ~~calculated~~ modified or terminated the amount of relative custody assistance based on a change in the gross income of the relative custodian's family or based on the relative custodian's failure to provide documentation of the gross income of the relative custodian's family after the local agency has requested such documentation.

Sec. 30. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.85, subdivision 11, is amended to read:

Subd. 11. [FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS.] (a) Payment of relative custody assistance under a relative custody assistance agreement is subject to the availability of state funds and payments may be reduced or suspended on order of the commissioner if insufficient funds are available.

(b) Upon receipt from a local agency of a claim for reimbursement, the commissioner shall reimburse the local agency in an amount equal to 100 percent of the relative custody assistance payments provided to relative custodians. The local agency may not seek and the commissioner shall not provide reimbursement for the administrative costs associated with performing the duties described in subdivision 4.

(c) For the purposes of determining eligibility or payment amounts under ~~the AFDC, MFIP-S, and other MFIP programs~~, relative custody assistance payments shall be ~~considered excluded in determining the family's available income~~.

Sec. 31. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 259.67, subdivision 6, is amended to read:

Subd. 6. [RIGHT OF APPEAL.] (a) The adoptive parents have the right to appeal to the commissioner pursuant to section 256.045, when the commissioner denies, discontinues, or modifies the agreement.

(b) Adoptive parents who believe that their adopted child was incorrectly denied adoption assistance, or who did not seek adoption assistance on the child's behalf because of being provided with inaccurate or insufficient information about the child or the adoption assistance program, may request a hearing under section 256.045. Notwithstanding subdivision 2, the purpose of the hearing shall be to determine whether, under standards established by the federal Department of Health and Human Services, the circumstances surrounding the child's adoption warrant making an adoption assistance agreement on behalf of the child after the final decree of adoption has been issued. The commissioner shall enter into an adoption assistance agreement on the child's behalf if it is determined that: (1) at the time of the adoption and at the time the request for a hearing was submitted the child was eligible for adoption assistance under United States Code, title 42, chapter 7, subchapter IV, part E, sections 670 to 679a, at the time of the adoption and at the time the request for a hearing was submitted but, because of extenuating circumstances, did not receive or for state funded adoption assistance under subdivision 4; and (2) an adoption assistance agreement was not entered into on behalf of the child before the final decree of adoption because of extenuating circumstances as the term is used in the standards established by the federal Department of Health and Human Service. An adoption assistance agreement made under this paragraph shall be effective the date the request for a hearing was received by the commissioner or the local agency.

Sec. 32. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 259.67, subdivision 7, is amended to read:

Subd. 7. [REIMBURSEMENT OF COSTS.] (a) Subject to rules of the commissioner, and the provisions of this subdivision a ~~Minnesota-licensed child-placing agency licensed in Minnesota or any other state~~, or local social services agency shall receive a reimbursement from the commissioner equal to 100 percent of the reasonable and appropriate cost of providing adoption services for a child certified as eligible for adoption assistance under subdivision 4. Such assistance may include adoptive family recruitment, counseling, and special training when needed. A ~~Minnesota-licensed child-placing agency licensed in Minnesota or any other state~~ shall receive reimbursement for adoption services it purchases for or directly provides to an eligible child. A local social services agency shall receive such reimbursement only for adoption services it purchases for an eligible child.

(b) A ~~Minnesota-licensed child-placing agency licensed in Minnesota or any other state~~ or local social services agency seeking reimbursement under this subdivision shall enter into a reimbursement agreement with the commissioner before providing adoption services for which reimbursement is sought. No reimbursement under this subdivision shall be made to an agency for services provided prior to entering a reimbursement agreement. Separate reimbursement agreements shall be made for each child and separate records shall be kept on each child for whom a reimbursement agreement is made. Funds encumbered and obligated under such an agreement for the child remain available until the terms of the agreement are fulfilled or the agreement is terminated.

(c) When a local social services agency uses a purchase of service agreement to provide services reimbursable under a reimbursement agreement, the commissioner may make reimbursement payments directly to the agency providing the service if direct reimbursement is specified by the purchase of service agreement, and if the request for reimbursement is submitted by the local social services agency along with a verification that the service was provided.

Sec. 33. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 259.73, is amended to read:

259.73 [REIMBURSEMENT OF NONRECURRING ADOPTION EXPENSES.]

The commissioner of human services shall provide reimbursement of up to \$2,000 to the adoptive parent or parents for costs incurred in adopting a child with special needs. The commissioner shall determine the child's eligibility for adoption expense reimbursement under title IV-E of the Social Security Act, United States Code, title 42, sections 670 to 676. To be reimbursed, costs must be reasonable, necessary, and directly related to the legal adoption of the child.

Sec. 34. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 259.85, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA.] A child may be certified by the local social service agency as eligible for a postadoption service grant after a final decree of adoption ~~and before the child's 18th birthday~~ if:

(a) (1) the child was a ward of the commissioner or a Minnesota licensed child-placing agency before adoption;

~~(b)~~ (2) the child had special needs at the time of adoption. For the purposes of this section, "special needs" means a child who had a physical, mental, emotional, or behavioral disability at the time of an adoption or has a preadoption background to which the current development of such disabilities can be attributed; ~~and~~

~~(c)~~ (3) the adoptive parents have exhausted all other available resources. Available resources include public income support programs, medical assistance, health insurance coverage, services available through community resources, and any other private or public benefits or resources available to the family or to the child to meet the child's special needs; and

(4) the child is under 18 years of age or, if the child is under 22 years of age and remains dependent on the adoptive parent or parents for care and financial support and is enrolled in a secondary education program as a full-time student.

Sec. 35. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 259.85, subdivision 3, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. [CERTIFICATION STATEMENT.] The local social service services agency shall certify a child's eligibility for a postadoption service grant in writing to the commissioner. The certification statement shall include:

- (1) a description and history of the special needs upon which eligibility is based; and
- (2) separate certification for each of the eligibility criteria under subdivision 2, that the criteria is met; and
- (3) applicable supporting documentation including:
  - (i) the child's individual service plan;
  - (ii) medical, psychological, or special education evaluations;
  - (iii) documentation that all other resources have been exhausted; and
  - (iv) an estimate of the costs necessary to meet the special needs of the child.

Sec. 36. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 259.85, subdivision 5, is amended to read:

Subd. 5. [GRANT PAYMENTS.] The amount of the postadoption service grant payment shall be based on the special needs of the child and the determination that other resources to meet those special needs are not available. The amount of any grant payments shall be based on the severity of the child's disability and the effect of the disability on the family and must not exceed \$10,000 annually. Adoptive parents are eligible for grant payments until their child's 18th birthday, or if the child is under 22 years of age and remains dependent on the adoptive parent or parents for care and financial support and is enrolled in a secondary education program as a full-time student.

Permissible expenses that may be paid from grants shall be limited to:

- (1) medical expenses not covered by the family's health insurance or medical assistance;
- (2) therapeutic expenses, including individual and family therapy; and
- (3) nonmedical services, items, or equipment required to meet the special needs of the child.

The grants under this section shall not be used for maintenance for out-of-home placement of the child in substitute care.

Sec. 37. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 259.89, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 6. [DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY FOR ENROLLMENT OR MEMBERSHIP IN A FEDERALLY RECOGNIZED AMERICAN INDIAN TRIBE.] The state registrar shall provide a copy of an adopted person's original birth certificate to an authorized representative of a federally recognized American Indian tribe for the sole purpose of determining the adopted person's eligibility for enrollment or membership in the tribe.

Sec. 38. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.011, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. (a) The paramount consideration in all proceedings concerning a child alleged or found to be in need of protection or services is the health, safety, and best interests of the child. In proceedings involving an American Indian child, as defined in section 257.351, subdivision 6, the best interests of the child must be determined consistent with sections 257.35 to 257.3579 and the Indian Child Welfare Act, United States Code, title 25, sections 1901 to 1923. The purpose of the laws relating to juvenile courts is to secure for each child alleged or adjudicated in need of protection or services and under the jurisdiction of the court, the care and guidance, preferably in the child's own home, as will best serve the spiritual, emotional, mental, and physical welfare of the child; to provide judicial procedures which protect the welfare of the child; to preserve and strengthen the child's family ties whenever possible and in the child's best interests, removing the

child from the custody of parents only when the child's welfare or safety cannot be adequately safeguarded without removal; and, when removal from the child's own family is necessary and in the child's best interests, to secure for the child custody, care and discipline as nearly as possible equivalent to that which should have been given by the parents.

(b) The purpose of the laws relating to termination of parental rights is to ensure that:

(1) when required and appropriate, reasonable efforts have been made by the social service agency to reunite the child with the child's parents in a placement home that is safe and permanent; and

(2) if placement with the parents is not reasonably foreseeable, to secure for the child a safe and permanent placement, preferably with adoptive parents or a fit and willing relative through transfer of permanent legal and physical custody to that relative.

Nothing in this section requires reasonable efforts to be made in circumstances where the court has determined that the child has been subjected to egregious harm or the parental rights of the parent to a sibling have been involuntarily terminated.

The paramount consideration in all proceedings for the termination of parental rights is the best interests of the child. In proceedings involving an American Indian child, as defined in section 257.351, subdivision 6, the best interests of the child must be determined consistent with the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978, United States Code, title 25, section 1901, et seq.

(c) The purpose of the laws relating to children alleged or adjudicated to be delinquent is to promote the public safety and reduce juvenile delinquency by maintaining the integrity of the substantive law prohibiting certain behavior and by developing individual responsibility for lawful behavior. This purpose should be pursued through means that are fair and just, that recognize the unique characteristics and needs of children, and that give children access to opportunities for personal and social growth.

(d) The laws relating to juvenile courts shall be liberally construed to carry out these purposes.

Sec. 39. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.012, is amended to read:

260.012 [DUTY TO ENSURE PLACEMENT PREVENTION AND FAMILY REUNIFICATION; REASONABLE EFFORTS.]

(a) ~~If Once a child alleged to be in need of protection or services is under the court's jurisdiction, the court shall ensure that reasonable efforts including culturally appropriate services by the social service agency are made to prevent placement or to eliminate the need for removal and to reunite the child with the child's family at the earliest possible time, consistent with the best interests, safety, and protection of the child. The court may, upon motion and hearing, order the cessation of reasonable efforts if the court finds that provision of services or further services for the purpose of rehabilitation and reunification is futile and therefore unreasonable under the circumstances.~~ In determining reasonable efforts to be made with respect to a child and in making those reasonable efforts, the child's health and safety must be of paramount concern. Reasonable efforts for rehabilitation and reunification are not required if upon a determination by the court determines that:

(1) a termination of parental rights petition has been filed stating a prima facie case that:

(i) the parent has subjected ~~the~~ a child to egregious harm as defined in section 260.015, subdivision 29, ~~or;~~

(ii) the parental rights of the parent to ~~a sibling~~ another child have been terminated involuntarily; or

(iii) the child is an abandoned infant under section 260.221, subdivision 1a, paragraph (a), clause (2);



(2) the county attorney has filed a determination not to proceed with a termination of parental rights petition on these grounds was made under section 260.221, subdivision 1b, paragraph (b), and a permanency hearing is held within 30 days of the determination; or

(3) a termination of parental rights petition or other petition according to section 260.191, subdivision 3b, has been filed alleging a prima facie case that the provision of services or further services for the purpose of reunification is futile and therefore unreasonable under the circumstances.

In the case of an Indian child, in proceedings under sections 260.172, 260.191, and 260.221 the juvenile court must make findings and conclusions consistent with the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978, United States Code, title 25, section 1901 et seq., as to the provision of active efforts. If a child is under the court's delinquency jurisdiction, it shall be the duty of the court to ensure that reasonable efforts are made to reunite the child with the child's family at the earliest possible time, consistent with the best interests of the child and the safety of the public.

(b) "Reasonable efforts" means the exercise of due diligence by the responsible social service agency to use appropriate and available services to meet the needs of the child and the child's family in order to prevent removal of the child from the child's family; or upon removal, services to eliminate the need for removal and reunite the family.

(1) Services may include those listed under section 256F.07, subdivision 3, and other appropriate services available in the community.

(2) At each stage of the proceedings where the court is required to review the appropriateness of the responsible social services agency's reasonable efforts, the social service agency has the burden of demonstrating that it has made reasonable efforts, or that provision of services or further services for the purpose of rehabilitation and reunification is futile and therefore unreasonable under the circumstances. or that reasonable efforts aimed at reunification are not required under this section. The agency may meet this burden by stating facts in a sworn petition filed under section 260.131, or by filing an affidavit summarizing the agency's reasonable efforts or facts the agency believes demonstrate there is no need for reasonable efforts to reunify the parent and child.

(3) No reasonable efforts for reunification are required when the court makes a determination under paragraph (a) unless, after a hearing according to section 260.155, the court finds there is not clear and convincing evidence of the facts upon which the court based its prima facie determination. In this case, the court may proceed under section 260.235. Reunification of a surviving child with a parent is not required if the parent has been convicted of:

(1) (i) a violation of, or an attempt or conspiracy to commit a violation of, sections 609.185 to 609.20; 609.222, subdivision 2; or 609.223 in regard to another child of the parent;

(2) (ii) a violation of section 609.222, subdivision 2; or 609.223, in regard to the surviving child; or

(3) (iii) a violation of, or an attempt or conspiracy to commit a violation of, United States Code, title 18, section 1111(a) or 1112(a), in regard to another child of the parent.

(c) The juvenile court, in proceedings under sections 260.172, 260.191, and 260.221 shall make findings and conclusions as to the provision of reasonable efforts. When determining whether reasonable efforts have been made, the court shall consider whether services to the child and family were:

- (1) relevant to the safety and protection of the child;
- (2) adequate to meet the needs of the child and family;
- (3) culturally appropriate;
- (4) available and accessible;

- (5) consistent and timely; and
- (6) realistic under the circumstances.

In the alternative, the court may determine that provision of services or further services for the purpose of rehabilitation is futile and therefore unreasonable under the circumstances or that reasonable efforts are not required as provided in paragraph (a).

(d) This section does not prevent out-of-home placement for treatment of a child with a mental disability when the child's diagnostic assessment or individual treatment plan indicates that appropriate and necessary treatment cannot be effectively provided outside of a residential or inpatient treatment program.

(e) If continuation of reasonable efforts described in paragraph (b) is determined by the court to be inconsistent with the ~~permanency~~ permanent plan for the child, or upon a determination under paragraph (a), reasonable efforts must be made to place the child in a timely manner in accordance with the ~~permanency~~ permanent plan ordered by the court and to complete whatever steps are necessary to finalize the ~~permanency~~ permanent plan for the child.

(f) Reasonable efforts to place a child for adoption or in another permanent placement may be made concurrently with reasonable efforts as described in paragraphs (a) and (b). When the responsible social services agency decides to concurrently make reasonable efforts for both reunification and permanent placement away from the parent under paragraphs (a) and (b), the agency shall disclose its decision and both plans for concurrent reasonable efforts to all parties and the court. When the agency discloses its decision to proceed on both plans for reunification and permanent placement away from the parent, the court's review of the agency's reasonable efforts shall include the agency's efforts under paragraphs (a) and (b).

Sec. 40. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.015, subdivision 2a, is amended to read:

Subd. 2a. [CHILD IN NEED OF PROTECTION OR SERVICES.] "Child in need of protection or services" means a child who is in need of protection or services because the child:

- (1) is abandoned or without parent, guardian, or custodian;
- (2)(i) has been a victim of physical or sexual abuse, (ii) resides with or has resided with a victim of domestic child abuse as defined in subdivision 24, (iii) resides with or would reside with a perpetrator of domestic child abuse or child abuse as defined in subdivision 28, or (iv) is a victim of emotional maltreatment as defined in subdivision 5a;
- (3) is without necessary food, clothing, shelter, education, or other required care for the child's physical or mental health or morals because the child's parent, guardian, or custodian is unable or unwilling to provide that care;
- (4) is without the special care made necessary by a physical, mental, or emotional condition because the child's parent, guardian, or custodian is unable or unwilling to provide that care, including a child in voluntary placement according to release of the parent under section 257.071, subdivision 4;
- (5) is medically neglected, which includes, but is not limited to, the withholding of medically indicated treatment from a disabled infant with a life-threatening condition. The term "withholding of medically indicated treatment" means the failure to respond to the infant's life-threatening conditions by providing treatment, including appropriate nutrition, hydration, and medication which, in the treating physician's or physicians' reasonable medical judgment, will be most likely to be effective in ameliorating or correcting all conditions, except that the term does not include the failure to provide treatment other than appropriate nutrition, hydration, or medication to an infant when, in the treating physician's or physicians' reasonable medical judgment:

- (i) the infant is chronically and irreversibly comatose;
- (ii) the provision of the treatment would merely prolong dying, not be effective in ameliorating

or correcting all of the infant's life-threatening conditions, or otherwise be futile in terms of the survival of the infant; or

(iii) the provision of the treatment would be virtually futile in terms of the survival of the infant and the treatment itself under the circumstances would be inhumane;

(6) is one whose parent, guardian, or other custodian for good cause desires to be relieved of the child's care and custody, including a child in placement according to voluntary release by the parent under section 257.071, subdivision 3;

(7) has been placed for adoption or care in violation of law;

(8) is without proper parental care because of the emotional, mental, or physical disability, or state of immaturity of the child's parent, guardian, or other custodian;

(9) is one whose behavior, condition, or environment is such as to be injurious or dangerous to the child or others. An injurious or dangerous environment may include, but is not limited to, the exposure of a child to criminal activity in the child's home;

(10) is experiencing growth delays, which may be referred to as failure to thrive, that have been diagnosed by a physician and are due to parental neglect;

(11) has engaged in prostitution as defined in section 609.321, subdivision 9;

(12) has committed a delinquent act or a juvenile petty offense before becoming ten years old;

(13) is a runaway;

(14) is an habitual truant;

(15) has been found incompetent to proceed or has been found not guilty by reason of mental illness or mental deficiency in connection with a delinquency proceeding, a certification under section 260.125, an extended jurisdiction juvenile prosecution, or a proceeding involving a juvenile petty offense;

~~(16) is one whose custodial parent's parental rights to another child have been involuntarily terminated within the past five years; or~~

~~(17) has been found by the court to have committed domestic abuse perpetrated by a minor under Laws 1997, chapter 239, article 10, sections 2 to 26, has been ordered excluded from the child's parent's home by an order for protection/minor respondent, and the parent or guardian is either unwilling or unable to provide an alternative safe living arrangement for the child.~~

Sec. 41. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.015, subdivision 13, is amended to read:

Subd. 13. [RELATIVE.] "Relative" means a parent, stepparent, grandparent, brother, sister, uncle, or aunt of the minor. This relationship may be by blood or marriage. For an Indian child, relative includes members of the extended family as defined by the law or custom of the Indian child's tribe or, in the absence of laws or custom, nieces, nephews, or first or second cousins, as provided in the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978, United States Code, title 25, section 1903. For purposes of dispositions, relative has the meaning given in section 260.181, subdivision 3, child in need of protection or services proceedings, termination of parental rights proceedings, and permanency proceedings under section 260.191, subdivision 3b, relative means a person related to the child by blood, marriage, or adoption, or an individual who is an important friend with whom the child has resided or had significant contact.

Sec. 42. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.015, subdivision 29, is amended to read:

Subd. 29. [EGREGIOUS HARM.] "Egregious harm" means the infliction of bodily harm to a child or neglect of a child which demonstrates a grossly inadequate ability to provide minimally adequate parental care. The egregious harm need not have occurred in the state or in the county where a termination of parental rights action is otherwise properly venued. Egregious harm includes, but is not limited to:

(1) conduct towards a child that constitutes a violation of sections 609.185 to 609.21, 609.222, subdivision 2, 609.223, or any other similar law of any other state;

(2) the infliction of "substantial bodily harm" to a child, as defined in section 609.02, subdivision 7a;

(3) conduct towards a child that constitutes felony malicious punishment of a child under section 609.377;

(4) conduct towards a child that constitutes felony unreasonable restraint of a child under section 609.255, subdivision 3;

(5) conduct towards a child that constitutes felony neglect or endangerment of a child under section 609.378;

(6) conduct towards a child that constitutes assault under section 609.221, 609.222, or 609.223;

(7) conduct towards a child that constitutes solicitation, inducement, or promotion of, or receiving profit derived from prostitution under section 609.322;

(8) conduct toward a child that constitutes murder or voluntary manslaughter as defined by United States Code, title 18, section 1111(a) or 1112(a); or

(9) conduct toward a child that constitutes aiding or abetting, attempting, conspiring, or soliciting to commit a murder or voluntary manslaughter that constitutes a violation of United States Code, title 18, section 1111(a) or 1112(a); or

(10) conduct toward a child that constitutes criminal sexual conduct under sections 609.342 to 609.345.

Sec. 43. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.131, subdivision 1a, is amended to read:

Subd. 1a. [REVIEW OF FOSTER CARE STATUS.] The social service services agency responsible for the placement of a child in a residential facility, as defined in section 257.071, subdivision 1, pursuant to a voluntary release by the child's parent or parents may bring a petition in juvenile court to review the foster care status of the child in the manner provided in this section. The responsible social services agency shall file either a petition alleging the child to be in need of protection or services or a petition to terminate parental rights.

(a) In the case of a child in voluntary placement according to section 257.071, subdivision 3, the petition shall be filed within 90 days of the date of the voluntary placement agreement and shall state the reasons why the child is in placement, the progress on the case plan required under section 257.071, subdivision 1, and the statutory basis for the petition under section 260.015, subdivision 2a, or 260.221.

(1) In the case of a petition filed under this paragraph, if all parties agree and the court finds it is in the best interests of the child, the court may find the petition states a prima facie case that:

- (i) the child's needs are being met;
- (ii) the placement of the child in foster care is in the best interests of the child; and
- (iii) the child will be returned home in the next six months.

(2) If the court makes findings under paragraph (1), the court shall approve the voluntary arrangement and continue the matter for up to six more months to ensure the child returns to the parents' home. The responsible social services agency shall:

(i) report to the court when the child returns home and the progress made by the parent on the case plan required under section 257.071, in which case the court shall dismiss jurisdiction;

(ii) report to the court that the child has not returned home, in which case the matter shall be returned to the court for further proceedings under section 260.155; or

(iii) if any party does not agree to continue the matter under paragraph (1) and this paragraph, the matter shall proceed under section 260.155.

(b) In the case of a child in voluntary placement according to section 257.071, subdivision 4, the petition shall be filed within six months of the date of the voluntary placement agreement and shall state the date of the voluntary placement agreement, the nature of the child's developmental delay or emotional handicap, the plan for the ongoing care of the child, the parents' participation in the plan, and the statutory basis for the petition.

(1) In the case of petitions filed under this paragraph, the court may find, based on the contents of the sworn petition, and the agreement of all parties, including the child, where appropriate, that the voluntary arrangement is in the best interests of the child, approve the voluntary arrangement, and dismiss the matter from further jurisdiction. The court shall give notice to the responsible social services agency that the matter must be returned to the court for further review if the child remains in placement after 12 months.

(2) If any party, including the child, disagrees with the voluntary arrangement, the court shall proceed under section 260.155.

Sec. 44. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.133, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [PETITION.] The local welfare agency may bring an emergency petition on behalf of minor family or household members seeking relief from acts of domestic child abuse. The petition shall be brought according to section 260.131 and shall allege the existence of or immediate and present danger of domestic child abuse, and shall be accompanied by an affidavit made under oath stating the specific facts and circumstances from which relief is sought. The court has jurisdiction over the parties to a domestic child abuse matter notwithstanding that there is a parent in the child's household who is willing to enforce the court's order and accept services on behalf of the family.

Sec. 45. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.133, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [TEMPORARY ORDER.] (a) If it appears from the notarized petition or by sworn affidavit that there are reasonable grounds to believe the child is in immediate and present danger of domestic child abuse, the court may grant an ex parte temporary order for protection, pending a full hearing according to section 260.135 which shall be held not later than 14 days after service of the ex parte order on the respondent. The court may grant relief as it deems proper, including an order:

(1) restraining any party from committing acts of domestic child abuse; or

(2) excluding the alleged abusing party from the dwelling which the family or household members share or from the residence of the child.

However, (b) No order excluding the alleged abusing party from the dwelling may be issued unless the court finds that:

(1) the order is in the best interests of the child or children remaining in the dwelling; and

(2) a parent remaining adult family or in the child's household member is able to care adequately for the child or children in the absence of the excluded party and to seek appropriate assistance in enforcing the provisions of the order.

Before the temporary order is issued, the local welfare agency shall advise the court and the other parties who are present that appropriate social services will be provided to the family or household members during the effective period of the order. The petition shall identify the parent remaining in the child's household as appropriate to provide care for the child and enforce the court's orders.

An ex parte temporary order for protection shall be effective for a fixed period not to exceed 14 days. Within five days of the issuance of the temporary order, the petitioner shall file a petition

~~with the court pursuant to section 260.131, alleging that the child is in need of protection or services and the court shall give docket priority to the petition.~~

~~The court may renew the temporary order for protection one time for a fixed period not to exceed 14 days if a petition alleging that the child is in need of protection or services has been filed with the court and if the court determines, upon informal review of the case file, that the renewal is appropriate. If the court determines that the petition states a prima facie case exists for reasonable grounds to believe that the child is in immediate danger of domestic child abuse or child abuse without the court's order, then at the hearing under section 260.135, the court may continue its order issued under this subdivision pending trial under section 260.155.~~

Sec. 46. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.135, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 1a. After a petition has been filed alleging a child to be in need of protection or services and unless the persons named in clauses (1) to (4) voluntarily appear or are summoned according to subdivision 1, the court shall issue a notice to:

- (1) an adjudicated or presumed father of the child;
- (2) an alleged father of the child;
- (3) a noncustodial mother; and
- (4) a grandparent with the right to participate under section 260.155, subdivision 1a.

Sec. 47. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.172, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [HEARING AND RELEASE REQUIREMENTS.] (a) If a child was taken into custody under section 260.165, subdivision 1, clause (a) or (c)(2), the court shall hold a hearing within 72 hours of the time the child was taken into custody, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, to determine whether the child should continue in custody.

(b) In all other cases, the court shall hold a detention hearing:

(1) within 36 hours of the time the child was taken into custody, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, if the child is being held at a juvenile secure detention facility or shelter care facility; or

(2) within 24 hours of the time the child was taken into custody, excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, if the child is being held at an adult jail or municipal lockup.

(c) Unless there is reason to believe that the child would endanger self or others, not return for a court hearing, run away from the child's parent, guardian, or custodian or otherwise not remain in the care or control of the person to whose lawful custody the child is released, or that the child's health or welfare would be immediately endangered, the child shall be released to the custody of a parent, guardian, custodian, or other suitable person, subject to reasonable conditions of release including, but not limited to, a requirement that the child undergo a chemical use assessment as provided in section 260.151, subdivision 1. In determining whether the child's health or welfare would be immediately endangered, the court shall consider whether the child would reside with a perpetrator of domestic child abuse. In a proceeding regarding a child in need of protection or services, the court, before determining whether a child should continue in custody, shall also make a determination, consistent with section 260.012 as to whether reasonable efforts, or in the case of an Indian child, active efforts, according to the Indian Child Welfare Act of 1978, United States Code, title 25, section 1912(d), were made to prevent placement or to reunite the child with the child's family, or that reasonable efforts were not possible. The court shall also determine whether there are available services that would prevent the need for further detention.

If the court finds the social services agency's preventive or reunification efforts have not been reasonable but further preventive or reunification efforts could not permit the child to safely remain at home, the court may nevertheless authorize or continue the removal of the child.

~~The court may determine~~ (d) At the detention hearing, or at any time prior to an adjudicatory hearing, that reasonable efforts are not required because the facts, if proved, will demonstrate that the parent has subjected the child to egregious harm as defined in section 260.015, subdivision 29, or the parental rights of the parent to a sibling of the child have been terminated involuntarily. and upon notice and request of the county attorney, the court shall make the following determinations:

(1) whether a termination of parental rights petition has been filed stating a prima facie case that:

(i) the parent has subjected a child to egregious harm as defined in section 260.015, subdivision 29;

(ii) the parental rights of the parent to another child have been involuntarily terminated; or

(iii) the child is an abandoned infant under section 260.221, subdivision 1a, paragraph (a), clause (2);

(2) that the county attorney has determined not to proceed with a termination of parental rights petition under section 260.221, subdivision 1b; or

(3) whether a termination of parental rights petition or other petition according to section 260.191, subdivision 3b, has been filed alleging a prima facie case that the provision of services or further services for the purpose of rehabilitation and reunification is futile and therefore unreasonable under the circumstances.

If the court determines that the county attorney is not proceeding with a termination of parental rights petition under section 260.221, subdivision 1b, but is proceeding with a petition under section 260.191, subdivision 3b, the court shall schedule a permanency hearing within 30 days. If the county attorney has filed a petition under section 260.221, subdivision 1b, the court shall schedule a trial under section 260.155 within 90 days of the filing of the petition.

(e) If the court determines the child should be ordered into out-of-home placement and the child's parent refuses to give information to the responsible social services agency regarding the child's father or relatives of the child, the court may order the parent to disclose the names, addresses, telephone numbers, and other identifying information to the local social services agency for the purpose of complying with the requirements of sections 257.071, 257.072, and 260.135.

Sec. 48. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.172, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 5. [CASE PLAN.] (a) A case plan required under section 257.071 shall be filed with the court within 30 days of the filing of a petition alleging the child to be in need of protection or services under section 260.131.

(b) Upon the filing of the case plan, the court may approve the case plan based on the allegations contained in the petition. A parent may agree to comply with the terms of the case plan filed with the court.

(c) Upon notice and motion by a parent who agrees to comply with the terms of a case plan, the court may modify the case and order the responsible social services agency to provide other or additional services for reunification, if reunification efforts are required, and the court determines the agency's case plan inadequate under section 260.012.

(d) Unless the parent agrees to comply with the terms of the case plan, the court may not order a parent to comply with the provisions of the case plan until the court makes a determination under section 260.191, subdivision 1.

Sec. 49. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.191, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [DISPOSITIONS.] (a) If the court finds that the child is in need of protection or services or neglected and in foster care, it shall enter an order making any of the following dispositions of the case:

(1) place the child under the protective supervision of the local social services agency or child-placing agency in the ~~child's own~~ home of a parent of the child under conditions prescribed by the court directed to the correction of ~~the child's need for protection or services;~~ or:

(i) the court may order the child into the home of a parent who does not otherwise have legal custody of the child, however, an order under this section does not confer legal custody on that parent;

(ii) if the court orders the child into the home of a father who is not adjudicated, he must cooperate with paternity establishment proceedings regarding the child in the appropriate jurisdiction as one of the conditions prescribed by the court for the child to continue in his home;

(iii) the court may order the child into the home of a noncustodial parent with conditions and may also order both the noncustodial and the custodial parent to comply with the requirements of a case plan under subdivision 1a;

(2) transfer legal custody to one of the following:

(i) a child-placing agency; or

(ii) the local social services agency.

In placing a child whose custody has been transferred under this paragraph, the agencies shall follow the ~~order of preference stated in~~ requirements of section 260.181, subdivision 3;

(3) if the child is in need of special treatment and care for reasons of physical or mental health, the court may order the child's parent, guardian, or custodian to provide it. If the parent, guardian, or custodian fails or is unable to provide this treatment or care, the court may order it provided. The court shall not transfer legal custody of the child for the purpose of obtaining special treatment or care solely because the parent is unable to provide the treatment or care. If the court's order for mental health treatment is based on a diagnosis made by a treatment professional, the court may order that the diagnosing professional not provide the treatment to the child if it finds that such an order is in the child's best interests; or

(4) if the court believes that the child has sufficient maturity and judgment and that it is in the best interests of the child, the court may order a child 16 years old or older to be allowed to live independently, either alone or with others as approved by the court under supervision the court considers appropriate, if the county board, after consultation with the court, has specifically authorized this dispositional alternative for a child.

(b) If the child was adjudicated in need of protection or services because the child is a runaway or habitual truant, the court may order any of the following dispositions in addition to or as alternatives to the dispositions authorized under paragraph (a):

(1) counsel the child or the child's parents, guardian, or custodian;

(2) place the child under the supervision of a probation officer or other suitable person in the child's own home under conditions prescribed by the court, including reasonable rules for the child's conduct and the conduct of the parents, guardian, or custodian, designed for the physical, mental, and moral well-being and behavior of the child; or with the consent of the commissioner of corrections, place the child in a group foster care facility which is under the commissioner's management and supervision;

(3) subject to the court's supervision, transfer legal custody of the child to one of the following:

(i) a reputable person of good moral character. No person may receive custody of two or more unrelated children unless licensed to operate a residential program under sections 245A.01 to 245A.16; or

(ii) a county probation officer for placement in a group foster home established under the direction of the juvenile court and licensed pursuant to section 241.021;



(4) require the child to pay a fine of up to \$100. The court shall order payment of the fine in a manner that will not impose undue financial hardship upon the child;

(5) require the child to participate in a community service project;

(6) order the child to undergo a chemical dependency evaluation and, if warranted by the evaluation, order participation by the child in a drug awareness program or an inpatient or outpatient chemical dependency treatment program;

(7) if the court believes that it is in the best interests of the child and of public safety that the child's driver's license or instruction permit be canceled, the court may order the commissioner of public safety to cancel the child's license or permit for any period up to the child's 18th birthday. If the child does not have a driver's license or permit, the court may order a denial of driving privileges for any period up to the child's 18th birthday. The court shall forward an order issued under this clause to the commissioner, who shall cancel the license or permit or deny driving privileges without a hearing for the period specified by the court. At any time before the expiration of the period of cancellation or denial, the court may, for good cause, order the commissioner of public safety to allow the child to apply for a license or permit, and the commissioner shall so authorize;

(8) order that the child's parent or legal guardian deliver the child to school at the beginning of each school day for a period of time specified by the court; or

(9) require the child to perform any other activities or participate in any other treatment programs deemed appropriate by the court.

To the extent practicable, the court shall enter a disposition order the same day it makes a finding that a child is in need of protection or services or neglected and in foster care, but in no event more than 15 days after the finding unless the court finds that the best interests of the child will be served by granting a delay. If the child was under eight years of age at the time the petition was filed, the disposition order must be entered within ten days of the finding and the court may not grant a delay unless good cause is shown and the court finds the best interests of the child will be served by the delay.

(c) If a child who is 14 years of age or older is adjudicated in need of protection or services because the child is a habitual truant and truancy procedures involving the child were previously dealt with by a school attendance review board or county attorney mediation program under section 260A.06 or 260A.07, the court shall order a cancellation or denial of driving privileges under paragraph (b), clause (7), for any period up to the child's 18th birthday.

(d) In the case of a child adjudicated in need of protection or services because the child has committed domestic abuse and been ordered excluded from the child's parent's home, the court shall dismiss jurisdiction if the court, at any time, finds the parent is able or willing to provide an alternative safe living arrangement for the child, as defined in Laws 1997, chapter 239, article 10, section 2.

Sec. 50. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.191, subdivision 1a, is amended to read:

Subd. 1a. [WRITTEN FINDINGS.] Any order for a disposition authorized under this section shall contain written findings of fact to support the disposition and case plan ordered, and shall also set forth in writing the following information:

(a) Why the best interests and safety of the child are served by the disposition and case plan ordered;

(b) What alternative dispositions or services under the case plan were considered by the court and why such dispositions or services were not appropriate in the instant case;

(c) How the court's disposition complies with the requirements of section 260.181, subdivision 3; and

(d) Whether reasonable efforts consistent with section 260.012 were made to prevent or eliminate the necessity of the child's removal and to reunify the family after removal. The court's findings must include a brief description of what preventive and reunification efforts were made and why further efforts could not have prevented or eliminated the necessity of removal or that reasonable efforts were not required under section 260.012 or 260.172, subdivision 1.

If the court finds that the social services agency's preventive or reunification efforts have not been reasonable but that further preventive or reunification efforts could not permit the child to safely remain at home, the court may nevertheless authorize or continue the removal of the child.

Sec. 51. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.191, subdivision 1b, is amended to read:

Subd. 1b. [DOMESTIC CHILD ABUSE.] (a) If the court finds that the child is a victim of domestic child abuse, as defined in section 260.015, subdivision 24, it may order any of the following dispositions of the case in addition to or as alternatives to the dispositions authorized under subdivision 1:

- (1) restrain any party from committing acts of domestic child abuse;
  - (2) exclude the abusing party from the dwelling which the family or household members share or from the residence of the child;
  - (3) on the same basis as is provided in chapter 518, establish temporary visitation with regard to minor children of the adult family or household members;
  - (4) on the same basis as is provided in chapter 518, establish temporary support or maintenance for a period of 30 days for minor children or a spouse;
  - (5) provide counseling or other social services for the family or household members; or
  - (6) order the abusing party to participate in treatment or counseling services.
- (b) Any relief granted by the order for protection shall be for a fixed period not to exceed one year.

However, no order excluding the abusing party from the dwelling may be issued unless the court finds that:

- (1) the order is in the best interests of the child or children remaining in the dwelling;
- (2) a remaining adult family or household member is able to care adequately for the child or children in the absence of the excluded party; and
- (3) the local welfare agency has developed a plan to provide appropriate social services to the remaining family or household members.

(c) Upon a finding that the remaining parent is able to care adequately for the child and enforce an order excluding the abusing party from the home and that the provision of supportive services by the responsible social services agency is no longer necessary, the responsible social services agency may be dismissed as a party to the proceedings. Any orders entered regarding the abusing party remain in full force and effect and may be renewed by the remaining parent as necessary for the continued protection of the child for specified periods of time, not to exceed one year.

Sec. 52. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.191, subdivision 3b, is amended to read:

Subd. 3b. [REVIEW OF COURT ORDERED PLACEMENTS; PERMANENT PLACEMENT DETERMINATION.] (a) Except for cases where the child is in placement due solely to the child's status as developmentally delayed under United States Code, title 42, section 6001(7), or emotionally handicapped under section 252.27 and where custody has not been transferred to the responsible social services agency, the court shall conduct a hearing to determine the permanent status of a child not later than 12 months after the child is placed out of the home of the parent, except that if the child was under eight years of age at the time the petition was filed, the hearing must be conducted no later than six months after the child is placed out of the home of the parent.

For purposes of this subdivision, the date of the child's placement out of the home of the parent is the earlier of the first court-ordered placement or 60 days after the date on which the child has been voluntarily placed out of the home.

For purposes of this subdivision, 12 months is calculated as follows:

(1) during the pendency of a petition alleging that a child is in need of protection or services, all time periods when a child is placed out of the home of the parent are cumulated;

(2) if a child has been placed out of the home of the parent within the previous five years in connection with one or more prior petitions for a child in need of protection or services, the lengths of all prior time periods when the child was placed out of the home within the previous five years ~~and under the current petition~~, are cumulated. If a child under this clause has been out of the home for 12 months or more, the court, if it is in the best interests of the child and for compelling reasons, may extend the total time the child may continue out of the home under the current petition up to an additional six months before making a permanency determination.

(b) Unless the responsible social services agency recommends return of the child to the custodial parent or parents, not later than ~~ten~~ 30 days prior to this hearing, the responsible social ~~service~~ services agency shall file pleadings in juvenile court to establish the basis for the juvenile court to order permanent placement determination of the child according to paragraph (d). Notice of the hearing and copies of the pleadings must be provided pursuant to section 260.141. If a termination of parental rights petition is filed before the date required for the permanency planning determination and there is a trial under section 260.155 scheduled on that petition within 90 days of the filing of the petition, no hearing need be conducted under this subdivision.

(c) At the conclusion of the hearing, the court shall ~~determine whether order the child is to be returned home or, if not, what order a permanent placement is consistent with~~ in the child's best interests. The "best interests of the child" means all relevant factors to be considered and evaluated.

(e) (d) At a hearing under this subdivision, if the child was under eight years of age at the time the petition was filed alleging the child in need of protection or services, the court shall review the progress of the case and the case plan, including the provision of services. The court may order the local social ~~service~~ services agency to show cause why it should not file a termination of parental rights petition. Cause may include, but is not limited to, the following conditions:

(1) the parents or guardians have maintained regular contact with the child, the parents are complying with the court-ordered case plan, and the child would benefit from continuing this relationship;

(2) grounds for termination under section 260.221 do not exist; or

(3) the permanent plan for the child is transfer of permanent legal and physical custody to a relative. When the permanent plan for the child is transfer of permanent legal and physical custody to a relative, a petition supporting the plan shall be filed in juvenile court within 30 days of the hearing required under this subdivision and a hearing on the petition held within 30 days of the filing of the pleadings.

(d) (e) If the child is not returned to the home, the court must order one of the following dispositions available for permanent placement determination are:

(1) permanent legal and physical custody to a relative in the best interests of the child. In transferring permanent legal and physical custody to a relative, the juvenile court shall follow the standards and procedures applicable under chapter 257 or 518. An order establishing permanent legal or physical custody under this subdivision must be filed with the family court. A transfer of legal and physical custody includes responsibility for the protection, education, care, and control of the child and decision making on behalf of the child. The social ~~service~~ services agency may petition on behalf of the proposed custodian;

(2) termination of parental rights ~~and adoption~~; unless the social ~~service~~ services agency shall

file has already filed a petition for termination of parental rights under section 260.231, the court may order such a petition filed and all the requirements of sections 260.221 to 260.245 remain applicable. An adoption completed subsequent to a determination under this subdivision may include an agreement for communication or contact under section 259.58; or

(3) long-term foster care; transfer of legal custody and adoption are preferred permanency options for a child who cannot return home. The court may order a child into long-term foster care only if it finds that neither an award of legal and physical custody to a relative, nor termination of parental rights nor adoption is in the child's best interests. Further, the court may only order long-term foster care for the child under this section if it finds the following:

(i) the child has reached age 12 and reasonable efforts by the responsible social service services agency have failed to locate an adoptive family for the child; or

(ii) the child is a sibling of a child described in clause (i) and the siblings have a significant positive relationship and are ordered into the same long-term foster care home; or

(4) foster care for a specified period of time may be ordered only if:

(i) the sole basis for an adjudication that the child is in need of protection or services is that the child is a runaway, is an habitual truant, or committed a delinquent act before age ten the child's behavior; and

(ii) the court finds that foster care for a specified period of time is in the best interests of the child.

(e) In ordering a permanent placement of a child, the court must be governed by the best interests of the child, including a review of the relationship between the child and relatives and the child and other important persons with whom the child has resided or had significant contact.

(f) Once a permanent placement determination has been made and permanent placement has been established, further court reviews and dispositional hearings are only necessary if the placement is made under paragraph (d), clause (4), review is otherwise required by federal law, an adoption has not yet been finalized, or there is a disruption of the permanent or long-term placement.

(g) An order under this subdivision must include the following detailed findings:

(1) how the child's best interests are served by the order;

(2) the nature and extent of the responsible social service services agency's reasonable efforts, or, in the case of an Indian child, active efforts, to reunify the child with the parent or parents;

(3) the parent's or parents' efforts and ability to use services to correct the conditions which led to the out-of-home placement; and

(4) whether the conditions which led to the out-of-home placement have been corrected so that the child can return home; ~~and~~

(5) ~~if the child cannot be returned home, whether there is a substantial probability of the child being able to return home in the next six months.~~

(h) An order for permanent legal and physical custody of a child may be modified under sections 518.18 and 518.185. The social service services agency is a party to the proceeding and must receive notice. An order for long-term foster care is reviewable upon motion and a showing by the parent of a substantial change in the parent's circumstances such that the parent could provide appropriate care for the child and that removal of the child from the child's permanent placement and the return to the parent's care would be in the best interest of the child.

(i) The court shall issue an order required under this section within 15 days of the close of the proceedings. The court may extend issuing the order an additional 15 days when necessary in the interests of justice and the best interests of the child.

Sec. 53. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.192, is amended to read:

260.192 [DISPOSITIONS; VOLUNTARY FOSTER CARE PLACEMENTS.]

Unless the court disposes of the petition under section 260.131, subdivision 1a, upon a petition for review of the foster care status of a child, the court may:

~~(a) In the case of a petition required to be filed under section 257.071, subdivision 3, find that the child's needs are being met, that the child's placement in foster care is in the best interests of the child, and that the child will be returned home in the next six months, in which case the court shall approve the voluntary arrangement and continue the matter for six months to assure the child returns to the parent's home.~~

~~(b) In the case of a petition required to be filed under section 257.071, subdivision 4, find that the child's needs are being met and that the child's placement in foster care is in the best interests of the child, in which case the court shall approve the voluntary arrangement. The court shall order the social service agency responsible for the placement to bring a petition under section 260.131, subdivision 1 or 1a, as appropriate, within 12 months.~~

~~(c) Find that the child's needs are not being met, in which case the court shall order the social service agency or the parents to take whatever action is necessary and feasible to meet the child's needs, including, when appropriate, the provision by the social service agency of services to the parents which would enable the child to live at home, and order a disposition under section 260.191.~~

~~(d) Find that the child has been abandoned by parents financially or emotionally, or that the developmentally disabled child does not require out-of-home care because of the handicapping condition, in which case the court shall order the social service agency to file an appropriate petition pursuant to sections 260.131, subdivision 1, or 260.231.~~

Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit bringing a petition pursuant to section 260.131, subdivision 1 or 2, sooner than required by court order pursuant to this section.

Sec. 54. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.221, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [VOLUNTARY AND INVOLUNTARY.] The juvenile court may upon petition, terminate all rights of a parent to a child:

(a) with the written consent of a parent who for good cause desires to terminate parental rights;  
or

(b) if it finds that one or more of the following conditions exist:

(1) that the parent has abandoned the child;

(2) that the parent has substantially, continuously, or repeatedly refused or neglected to comply with the duties imposed upon that parent by the parent and child relationship, including but not limited to providing the child with necessary food, clothing, shelter, education, and other care and control necessary for the child's physical, mental, or emotional health and development, if the parent is physically and financially able, and either reasonable efforts by the social service agency have failed to correct the conditions that formed the basis of the petition or reasonable efforts would be futile and therefore unreasonable;

(3) that a parent has been ordered to contribute to the support of the child or financial aid in the child's birth and has continuously failed to do so without good cause. This clause shall not be construed to state a grounds for termination of parental rights of a noncustodial parent if that parent has not been ordered to or cannot financially contribute to the support of the child or aid in the child's birth;

(4) that a parent is palpably unfit to be a party to the parent and child relationship because of a consistent pattern of specific conduct before the child or of specific conditions directly relating to

the parent and child relationship either of which are determined by the court to be of a duration or nature that renders the parent unable, for the reasonably foreseeable future, to care appropriately for the ongoing physical, mental, or emotional needs of the child. It is presumed that a parent is palpably unfit to be a party to the parent and child relationship upon a showing that:

~~(i) the child was adjudicated in need of protection or services due to circumstances described in section 260.015, subdivision 2a, clause (1), (2), (3), (5), or (8); and~~

~~(ii) the parent's parental rights to one or more other children were involuntarily terminated under clause (1), (2), (4), or (7), or under clause (5) if the child was initially determined to be in need of protection or services due to circumstances described in section 260.015, subdivision 2a, clause (1), (2), (3), (5), or (8);~~

~~(5) that following upon a determination of neglect or dependency, or of a child's need for protection or services the child's placement out of the home, reasonable efforts, under the direction of the court, have failed to correct the conditions leading to the determination child's placement. It is presumed that reasonable efforts under this clause have failed upon a showing that:~~

~~(i) a child has resided out of the parental home under court order for a cumulative period of more than one year within a five-year period following an adjudication of dependency, neglect, need for protection or services under section 260.015, subdivision 2a, clause (1), (2), (3), (6), (8), or (9), or neglected and in foster care, and an order for disposition under section 260.191, including adoption of the case plan required by section 257.071; 12 months within the preceding 22 months. In the case of a child under age eight at the time the petition was filed alleging the child to be in need of protection or services, the presumption arises when the child has resided out of the parental home under court order for six months unless the parent has maintained regular contact with the child and the parent is complying with the case plan;~~

~~(ii) the court has approved a case plan required under section 257.071 and filed with the court under section 260.172;~~

~~(iii) conditions leading to the determination will out-of-home placement have not be been corrected within the reasonably foreseeable future. It is presumed that conditions leading to a child's out-of-home placement will have not be been corrected in the reasonably foreseeable future upon a showing that the parent or parents have not substantially complied with the court's orders and a reasonable case plan, and the conditions which led to the out-of-home placement have not been corrected; and~~

~~(iii) (iv) reasonable efforts have been made by the social service services agency to rehabilitate the parent and reunite the family.~~

~~This clause does not prohibit the termination of parental rights prior to one year, or in the case of a child under age eight, within six months after a child has been placed out of the home.~~

It is also presumed that reasonable efforts have failed under this clause upon a showing that:

~~(i) (A) the parent has been diagnosed as chemically dependent by a professional certified to make the diagnosis;~~

~~(ii) (B) the parent has been required by a case plan to participate in a chemical dependency treatment program;~~

~~(iii) (C) the treatment programs offered to the parent were culturally, linguistically, and clinically appropriate;~~

~~(iv) (D) the parent has either failed two or more times to successfully complete a treatment program or has refused at two or more separate meetings with a caseworker to participate in a treatment program; and~~

~~(v) (E) the parent continues to abuse chemicals.~~

~~Provided, that this presumption applies only to parents required by a case plan to participate in a chemical dependency treatment program on or after July 1, 1990;~~

(6) that a child has experienced egregious harm in the parent's care which is of a nature, duration, or chronicity that indicates a lack of regard for the child's well-being, such that a reasonable person would believe it contrary to the best interest of the child or of any child to be in the parent's care;

(7) that in the case of a child born to a mother who was not married to the child's father when the child was conceived nor when the child was born the person is not entitled to notice of an adoption hearing under section 259.49 and the person has not registered with the fathers' adoption registry under section 259.52;

(8) that the child is neglected and in foster care; or

(9) that the parent has been convicted of a crime listed in section 260.012, paragraph (b), clauses (1) to (3).

In an action involving an American Indian child, sections 257.35 to 257.3579 and the Indian Child Welfare Act, United States Code, title 25, sections 1901 to 1923, control to the extent that the provisions of this section are inconsistent with those laws.

Sec. 55. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.221, subdivision 1a, is amended to read:

Subd. 1a. [EVIDENCE OF ABANDONMENT.] For purposes of subdivision 1, paragraph (b), clause (1):

(a) Abandonment is presumed when:

(1) the parent has had no contact with the child on a regular basis and not demonstrated consistent interest in the child's well-being for six months and the social service services agency has made reasonable efforts to facilitate contact, unless the parent establishes that an extreme financial or physical hardship or treatment for mental disability or chemical dependency or other good cause prevented the parent from making contact with the child. This presumption does not apply to children whose custody has been determined under chapter 257 or 518; or

(2) the child is an infant under two years of age and has been deserted by the parent under circumstances that show an intent not to return to care for the child.

The court is not prohibited from finding abandonment in the absence of the presumptions in clauses (1) and (2).

(b) The following are prima facie evidence of abandonment ~~where adoption proceedings are pending and~~ there has been a showing that the person was not entitled to notice of an adoption proceeding under section 259.49:

(1) failure to register with the fathers' adoption registry under section 259.52; or

(2) if the person registered with the fathers' adoption registry under section 259.52:

(i) filing a denial of paternity within 30 days of receipt of notice under section 259.52, subdivision 8;

(ii) failing to timely file an intent to claim parental rights with entry of appearance form within 30 days of receipt of notice under section 259.52, subdivision 10; or

(iii) timely filing an intent to claim parental rights with entry of appearance form within 30 days of receipt of notice under section 259.52, subdivision 10, but failing to initiate a paternity action within 30 days of receiving the fathers' adoption registry notice where there has been no showing of good cause for the delay.

Sec. 56. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.221, subdivision 1b, is amended to read:

Subd. 1b. [REQUIRED TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS.] (a) The county attorney shall file a termination of parental rights petition within 30 days of the responsible social services agency determining that a child's placement in out-of-home care if the child has been subjected to egregious harm as defined in section 260.015, subdivision 29, is determined to be the sibling of another child of the parent who was subjected to egregious harm, or is an abandoned infant as defined in subdivision 1a, paragraph (a), clause (2). The local social services agency shall concurrently identify, recruit, process, and approve an adoptive family for the child. If a termination of parental rights petition has been filed by another party, the local social services agency shall be joined as a party to the petition. If criminal charges have been filed against a parent arising out of the conduct alleged to constitute egregious harm, the county attorney shall determine which matter should proceed to trial first, consistent with the best interests of the child and subject to the defendant's right to a speedy trial.

(b) This requirement does not apply if the county attorney determines and files with the court its determination that:

(1) a petition for transfer of permanent legal and physical custody to a relative is in the best interests of the child or there is under section 260.191, subdivision 3b, including a determination that the transfer is in the best interests of the child; or

(2) a petition alleging the child, and where appropriate, the child's siblings, to be in need of protection or services accompanied by a case plan prepared by the responsible social services agency documenting a compelling reason documented by the local social services agency that why filing the a termination of parental rights petition would not be in the best interests of the child.

Sec. 57. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.221, subdivision 1c, is amended to read:

Subd. 1c. [CURRENT FOSTER CARE CHILDREN.] Except for cases where the child is in placement due solely to the child's status as developmentally delayed under United States Code, title 42, section 6001(7), or emotionally handicapped under section 252.27, and where custody has not been transferred to the responsible social services agency, the county attorney shall file a termination of parental rights petition or other a petition to support another permanent placement proceeding under section 260.191, subdivision 3b, for all children determined to be in need of protection or services who are placed in out-of-home care for reasons other than care or treatment of the child's disability, and who are in out-of-home placement on April 21, 1998, and have been in out-of-home care for 15 of the most recent 22 months. This requirement does not apply if there is a compelling reason documented in a case plan filed with the court for determining that filing a termination of parental rights petition or other permanency petition would not be in the best interests of the child or if the responsible social services agency has not provided reasonable efforts necessary for the safe return of the child, if reasonable efforts are required.

Sec. 58. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.221, subdivision 3, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. [WHEN PRIOR FINDING REQUIRED.] For purposes of subdivision 1, clause (b), no prior judicial finding of dependency, neglect, need for protection or services, or neglected and in foster care is required, except as provided in subdivision 1, clause (b), item (5).

Sec. 59. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.221, subdivision 5, is amended to read:

Subd. 5. [FINDINGS REGARDING REASONABLE EFFORTS.] In any proceeding under this section, the court shall make specific findings:

(1) regarding the nature and extent of efforts made by the social service services agency to rehabilitate the parent and reunite the family; or

(2) that provision of services or further services for the purpose of rehabilitation and reunification is futile and therefore unreasonable under the circumstances; or

(3) that reasonable efforts at reunification are not required as provided under section 260.012.

Sec. 60. [626.5551] [ALTERNATIVE RESPONSE PROGRAMS FOR CHILD PROTECTION ASSESSMENTS OR INVESTIGATIONS.]



Subdivision 1. [PROGRAMS AUTHORIZED.] (a) A county may establish a program that uses alternative responses to reports of child maltreatment under section 626.556, as provided in this section.

(b) Alternative responses may include a family assessment and services approach under which the local welfare agency assesses the risk of abuse and neglect and the service needs of the family and arranges for appropriate services, diversions, referral for services, or other response identified in the plan under subdivision 4.

(c) This section may not be used for reports of maltreatment in facilities required to be licensed under sections 144.50 to 144.58; 241.021; 245A.01 to 245A.16; or chapter 245B, or in a school as defined in sections 120A.05, subdivisions 9, 11, and 13; and 124D.10, or in a nonlicensed personal care provider association as defined in sections 256B.04, subdivision 16, and 256B.0625, subdivision 19.

Subd. 2. [USE OF ALTERNATIVE RESPONSE OR INVESTIGATION.] (a) Upon receipt of a report under section 626.556, the local welfare agency in a county that has established an alternative response program under this section shall determine whether to conduct an investigation under section 626.556 or to use an alternative response as appropriate to prevent or provide a remedy for child maltreatment.

(b) The local welfare agency may conduct an investigation of any report, but shall conduct an investigation of reports that, if true, would mean that the child has experienced, or is at risk of experiencing, serious physical injury, sexual abuse, abandonment, or neglect that substantially endangers the child's physical or mental health, including growth delays, which may be referred to as failure to thrive, that have been diagnosed by a physician and are due to parental neglect, or conduct that would be a violation of, or an attempt to commit a violation of:

- (1) section 609.185, 609.19, or 609.195 (murder in the first, second, or third degree);
  - (2) section 609.20 or 609.205 (manslaughter in the first or second degree);
  - (3) section 609.221, 609.222, or 609.223 (assault in the first, second, or third degree);
  - (4) section 609.322 (solicitation, inducement, and promotion of prostitution);
  - (5) sections 609.342 to 609.3451 (criminal sexual conduct);
  - (6) section 609.352 (solicitation of children to engage in sexual conduct);
  - (7) section 609.377 or 609.378 (malicious punishment or neglect or endangerment of a child);
- or
- (8) section 617.246 (use of minor in sexual performance).

(c) In addition, in all cases the local welfare agency shall notify the appropriate law enforcement agency as provided in section 626.556, subdivision 3.

(d) The local welfare agency shall begin an immediate investigation under section 626.556 if at any time when it is using an alternative response it determines that an investigation is required under paragraph (b) or would otherwise be appropriate. The local welfare agency may use an alternative response to a report that was initially referred for an investigation if the agency determines that a complete investigation is not required. In determining that a complete investigation is not required, the local welfare agency must document the reason for terminating the investigation and consult with:

- (1) the local law enforcement agency, if the local law enforcement is involved, and notify the county attorney of the decision to terminate the investigation; or
- (2) the county attorney, if the local law enforcement is not involved.

Subd. 3. [DOCUMENTATION.] When a case in which an alternative response was used is

closed, the local welfare agency shall document the outcome of the approach, including a description of the response and services provided and the removal or reduction of risk to the child, if it existed. Records maintained under this section must contain the documentation and must be retained for at least four years.

Subd. 4. [PLAN.] The county community social service plan required under section 256E.09 must address the extent that the county will use the alternative response program authorized under this section, based on the availability of new federal funding that is earned and other available revenue sources to fund the additional cost to the county of using the program. To the extent the county uses the program, the county must include the program in the community social service plan and in the program evaluation under section 256E.10. The plan must address alternative responses and services that will be used for the program and protocols for determining the appropriate response to reports under section 626.556 and address how the protocols comply with the guidelines of the commissioner under subdivision 5.

Subd. 5. [COMMISSIONER OF HUMAN SERVICES TO DEVELOP GUIDELINES.] The commissioner of human services, in consultation with county representatives, may develop guidelines defining alternative responses and setting out procedures for family assessment and service delivery under this section. The commissioner may also develop guidelines for counties regarding the provisions of section 626.556 that continue to apply when using an alternative response under this section. The commissioner may also develop forms, best practice guidelines, and training to assist counties in implementing alternative responses under this section.

Sec. 61. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 2, is amended to read:

Subd. 2. [DEFINITIONS.] As used in this section, the following terms have the meanings given them unless the specific content indicates otherwise:

(a) "Sexual abuse" means the subjection of a child by a person responsible for the child's care, by a person who has a significant relationship to the child, as defined in section 609.341, or by a person in a position of authority, as defined in section 609.341, subdivision 10, to any act which constitutes a violation of section 609.342 (criminal sexual conduct in the first degree), 609.343 (criminal sexual conduct in the second degree), 609.344 (criminal sexual conduct in the third degree), or 609.345 (criminal sexual conduct in the fourth degree), or 609.3451 (criminal sexual conduct in the fifth degree). Sexual abuse also includes any act which involves a minor which constitutes a violation of prostitution offenses under sections 609.321 to 609.324 or 617.246. Sexual abuse includes threatened sexual abuse.

(b) "Person responsible for the child's care" means (1) an individual functioning within the family unit and having responsibilities for the care of the child such as a parent, guardian, or other person having similar care responsibilities, or (2) an individual functioning outside the family unit and having responsibilities for the care of the child such as a teacher, school administrator, or other lawful custodian of a child having either full-time or short-term care responsibilities including, but not limited to, day care, babysitting whether paid or unpaid, counseling, teaching, and coaching.

(c) "Neglect" means:

(1) failure by a person responsible for a child's care to supply a child with necessary food, clothing, shelter or health, medical or other care required for the child's physical or mental health when reasonably able to do so;

(2) failure to protect a child from conditions or actions which imminently and seriously endanger the child's physical or mental health when reasonably able to do so;

(3) failure to provide for necessary supervision or child care arrangements appropriate for a child after considering factors as the child's age, mental ability, physical condition, length of absence, or environment, when the child is unable to care for the child's own basic needs or safety, or the basic needs or safety of another child in their care;

(4) failure to take steps to ensure that a child is educated in accordance with state law; to ensure that the child is educated as defined in sections 120A.22 and 260.155, subdivision 9;

(5) nothing in this section shall be construed to mean that a child is neglected solely because the child's parent, guardian, or other person responsible for the child's care in good faith selects and depends upon spiritual means or prayer for treatment or care of disease or remedial care of the child in lieu of medical care; except that a parent, guardian, or caretaker, or a person mandated to report pursuant to subdivision 3, has a duty to report if a lack of medical care may cause serious danger to the child's health. This section does not impose upon persons, not otherwise legally responsible for providing a child with necessary food, clothing, shelter, education, or medical care, a duty to provide that care.;

Neglect includes (6) prenatal exposure to a controlled substance, as defined in section 253B.02, subdivision 2, used by the mother for a nonmedical purpose, as evidenced by withdrawal symptoms in the child at birth, results of a toxicology test performed on the mother at delivery or the child at birth, or medical effects or developmental delays during the child's first year of life that medically indicate prenatal exposure to a controlled substance.;

Neglect also means (7) "medical neglect" as defined in section 260.015, subdivision 2a, clause (5).;

(8) that the parent or other person responsible for the care of the child:

(i) engages in violent behavior that demonstrates a disregard for the well-being of the child as indicated by action that could reasonably result in serious physical, mental, or threatened injury, or emotional damage to the child;

(ii) engages in repeated domestic assault that would constitute a violation of section 609.2242, subdivision 2 or 4;

(iii) commits domestic assault that would constitute a violation of section 609.2242 within sight or sound of the child; or

(iv) subjects the child to ongoing domestic violence within the home environment that is likely to have a detrimental effect on the well-being of the child;

(9) chronic and severe use of alcohol or a controlled substance by a parent or person responsible for the care of the child that adversely affects the child's basic needs and safety; or

(10) emotional harm from a pattern of behavior which contributes to impaired emotional functioning of the child which may be demonstrated by a substantial and observable effect in the child's behavior, emotional response, or cognition that is not within the normal range for the child's age and stage of development, with due regard to the child's culture.

(d) "Physical abuse" means any physical or injury, mental injury, or threatened injury, or repeated infliction of pain, inflicted by a person responsible for the child's care on a child other than by accidental means, or any physical or mental injury that cannot reasonably be explained by the child's history of injuries, or any aversive and deprivation procedures that have not been authorized under section 245.825. Abuse does not include reasonable and moderate physical discipline of a child administered by a parent or legal guardian which does not result in an injury. Actions which are not reasonable and moderate include, but are not limited to:

(1) throwing, kicking, burning, biting, or cutting a child;

(2) striking a child with a closed fist;

(3) shaking a child under age three;

(4) striking or other actions which result in any nonaccidental injury to a child under 18 months of age;

(5) unreasonable interference with a child's breathing;

(6) threatening a child with a weapon, as defined in section 609.02, subdivision 6;

(7) striking a child under age one on the face or head;

(8) purposely giving a child poison, alcohol, or dangerous, harmful, or controlled substances which were not prescribed for the child by a practitioner, in order to control or punish the child; or other substances that substantially affect the child's behavior, motor coordination, or judgment or that results in sickness or internal injury, or subjects the child to medical procedures that would be unnecessary if the child were not exposed to the substances; or

(9) unreasonable physical confinement or restraint not permitted under section 609.379, including but not limited to tying, caging, or chaining.

(e) "Report" means any report received by the local welfare agency, police department, or county sheriff pursuant to this section.

(f) "Facility" means a licensed or unlicensed day care facility, residential facility, agency, hospital, sanitarium, or other facility or institution required to be licensed pursuant to under sections 144.50 to 144.58, 241.021, ~~or~~ 245A.01 to 245A.16., or 245B; or a school as defined in sections 120A.05, subdivisions 9, 11, and 13, and 124D.10; or a nonlicensed personal care provider organization as defined in sections 256B.04, subdivision 16, and 256B.0625, subdivision 19a.

(g) "Operator" means an operator or agency as defined in section 245A.02.

(h) "Commissioner" means the commissioner of human services.

(i) "Assessment" includes authority to interview the child, the person or persons responsible for the child's care, the alleged perpetrator, and any other person with knowledge of the abuse or neglect for the purpose of gathering the facts, assessing the risk to the child, and formulating a plan.

(j) "Practice of social services," for the purposes of subdivision 3, includes but is not limited to employee assistance counseling and the provision of guardian ad litem and visitation expeditor services.

(k) "Mental injury" means an injury to the psychological capacity or emotional stability of a child as evidenced by an observable or substantial impairment in the child's ability to function within a normal range of performance and behavior with due regard to the child's culture or harm to a child's psychological or intellectual functioning which now, or in the future, is likely to be evidenced by serious mental, behavioral, or personality disorder, including severe anxiety, depression, withdrawal, severe aggressive behavior, seriously delayed development or similarly serious dysfunctional behavior when caused by a statement, overt act, omission, condition, or status of the child's caretaker.

(l) "Threatened injury" means a statement, overt act, condition, or status that represents a substantial risk of physical or sexual abuse or mental injury.

(m) Persons who conduct assessments or investigations under this section shall take into account accepted child-rearing practices of the culture in which a child participates, which are not injurious to the child's health, welfare, and safety.

Sec. 62. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 3, is amended to read:

Subd. 3. [PERSONS MANDATED TO REPORT.] (a) A person who knows or has reason to believe a child is being neglected or physically or sexually abused, as defined in subdivision 2, or has been neglected or physically or sexually abused within the preceding three years, shall immediately report the information to the local welfare agency, agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report, police department, or the county sheriff if the person is:

(1) a professional or professional's delegate who is engaged in the practice of the healing arts, social services, hospital administration, psychological or psychiatric treatment, child care, education, or law enforcement; or

(2) employed as a member of the clergy and received the information while engaged in ministerial duties, provided that a member of the clergy is not required by this subdivision to report information that is otherwise privileged under section 595.02, subdivision 1, paragraph (c).

The police department or the county sheriff, upon receiving a report, shall immediately notify the local welfare agency or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report, orally and in writing. The local welfare agency, or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report, upon receiving a report, shall immediately notify the local police department or the county sheriff orally and in writing. The county sheriff and the head of every local welfare agency, agency responsible for assessing or investigating reports, and police department shall each designate a person within their agency, department, or office who is responsible for ensuring that the notification duties of this paragraph and paragraph (b) are carried out. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to require more than one report from any institution, facility, school, or agency.

(b) Any person may voluntarily report to the local welfare agency, agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report, police department, or the county sheriff if the person knows, has reason to believe, or suspects a child is being or has been neglected or subjected to physical or sexual abuse. The police department or the county sheriff, upon receiving a report, shall immediately notify the local welfare agency or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report, orally and in writing. The local welfare agency or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report, upon receiving a report, shall immediately notify the local police department or the county sheriff orally and in writing.

(c) A person mandated to report physical or sexual child abuse or neglect occurring within a licensed facility shall report the information to the agency responsible for licensing the facility under sections 144.50 to 144.58, 241.021, 245A.01 to 245A.16, or 245B; or a school as defined in sections 120A.05, subdivisions 9, 11, and 13, 120A.36, and 124D.68; or a nonlicensed personal care provider organization as defined in sections 256B.04, subdivision 16, and 256B.0625, subdivision 19. A health or corrections agency receiving a report may request the local welfare agency to provide assistance pursuant to subdivisions 10, 10a, and 10b.

(d) Any person mandated to report shall receive a summary of the disposition of any report made by that reporter, including whether the case has been opened for child protection or other services, or if a referral has been made to a community organization, unless release would be detrimental to the best interests of the child. Any person who is not mandated to report shall, upon request to the local welfare agency, receive a concise summary of the disposition of any report made by that reporter, unless release would be detrimental to the best interests of the child.

(e) For purposes of this subdivision, "immediately" means as soon as possible but in no event longer than 24 hours.

Sec. 63. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, is amended by adding a subdivision to read:

Subd. 3b. [AGENCY RESPONSIBLE FOR ASSESSING OR INVESTIGATING REPORTS OF MALTREATMENT.]

The following agencies are the administrative agencies responsible for assessing or investigating reports of alleged child maltreatment in facilities made under this section:

(1) the county local welfare agency is the agency responsible for assessing or investigating allegations of maltreatment in child foster care, family child care, and legally unlicensed child care;

(2) the department of human services is the agency responsible for assessing or investigating allegations of maltreatment in facilities licensed under chapters 245A and 245B, except for child foster care and family child care; and

(3) the department of health is the agency responsible for assessing or investigating allegations of child maltreatment in facilities licensed under sections 144.50 to 144.58, and in unlicensed home health care.

Sec. 64. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 4, is amended to read:

Subd. 4. [IMMUNITY FROM LIABILITY.] (a) The following persons are immune from any civil or criminal liability that otherwise might result from their actions, if they are acting in good faith:

(1) any person making a voluntary or mandated report under subdivision 3 or under section 626.5561 or assisting in an assessment under this section or under section 626.5561;

(2) any person with responsibility for performing duties under this section or supervisor employed by a local welfare agency or, the commissioner of an agency responsible for operating or supervising a licensed or unlicensed day care facility, residential facility, agency, hospital, sanitarium, or other facility or institution required to be licensed under sections 144.50 to 144.58, 241.021, 245A.01 to 245A.16, or 245B; or a school as defined in sections 120A.05, subdivisions 9, 11, and 13, 120A.36, and 124D.68; or a nonlicensed personal care provider organization as defined in sections 256B.04, subdivision 16, and 256B.0625, subdivision 19, complying with subdivision 10d; and

(3) any public or private school, facility as defined in subdivision 2, or the employee of any public or private school or facility who permits access by a local welfare agency or local law enforcement agency and assists in an investigation or assessment pursuant to subdivision 10 or under section 626.5561.

(b) A person who is a supervisor or person with responsibility for performing duties under this section employed by a local welfare agency or the commissioner complying with subdivisions 10 and 11 or section 626.5561 or any related rule or provision of law is immune from any civil or criminal liability that might otherwise result from the person's actions, if the person is (1) acting in good faith and exercising due care, or (2) acting in good faith and following the information collection procedures established under subdivision 10, paragraphs (h), (i), and (j).

(c) This subdivision does not provide immunity to any person for failure to make a required report or for committing neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse of a child.

(d) If a person who makes a voluntary or mandatory report under subdivision 3 prevails in a civil action from which the person has been granted immunity under this subdivision, the court may award the person attorney fees and costs.

Sec. 65. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 7, is amended to read:

Subd. 7. [REPORT.] An oral report shall be made immediately by telephone or otherwise. An oral report made by a person required under subdivision 3 to report shall be followed within 72 hours, exclusive of weekends and holidays, by a report in writing to the appropriate police department, the county sheriff or local welfare agency, unless the appropriate agency has informed the reporter that the oral information does not constitute a report under subdivision 10. Any report shall be of sufficient content to identify the child, any person believed to be responsible for the abuse or neglect of the child if the person is known, the nature and extent of the abuse or neglect and the name and address of the reporter. If requested, the local welfare agency shall inform the reporter within ten days after the report is made, either orally or in writing, whether the report was accepted for assessment or investigation. Written reports received by a police department or the county sheriff shall be forwarded immediately to the local welfare agency. The police department or the county sheriff may keep copies of reports received by them. Copies of written reports received by a local welfare department shall be forwarded immediately to the local police department or the county sheriff.

A written copy of a report maintained by personnel of agencies, other than welfare or law enforcement agencies, which are subject to chapter 13 shall be confidential. An individual subject of the report may obtain access to the original report as provided by subdivision 11.

Sec. 66. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 10, is amended to read:

Subd. 10. [DUTIES OF LOCAL WELFARE AGENCY AND LOCAL LAW

ENFORCEMENT AGENCY UPON RECEIPT OF A REPORT.] (a) If the report alleges neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse by a parent, guardian, or individual functioning within the family unit as a person responsible for the child's care, the local welfare agency shall immediately conduct an assessment and screening for substance abuse and offer protective social services for purposes of preventing further abuses, safeguarding and enhancing the welfare of the abused or neglected minor, and preserving family life whenever possible. If the report alleges a violation of a criminal statute involving sexual abuse, physical abuse, or neglect or endangerment, under section 609.378, the local law enforcement agency and local welfare agency shall coordinate the planning and execution of their respective investigation and assessment efforts to avoid a duplication of fact-finding efforts and multiple interviews. Each agency shall prepare a separate report of the results of its investigation. In cases of alleged child maltreatment resulting in death, the local agency may rely on the fact-finding efforts of a law enforcement investigation to make a determination of whether or not maltreatment occurred. When necessary the local welfare agency shall seek authority to remove the child from the custody of a parent, guardian, or adult with whom the child is living. In performing any of these duties, the local welfare agency shall maintain appropriate records.

If the screening for substance abuse indicates abuse of alcohol or other drugs, the local welfare agency shall conduct a chemical use assessment pursuant to Minnesota Rules, part 9530.6615. The local welfare agency shall report the determination of the chemical use assessment, and the recommendations and referrals for alcohol and other drug treatment services to the state authority on alcohol and drug abuse.

(b) When a local agency receives a report or otherwise has information indicating that a child who is a client, as defined in section 245.91, has been the subject of physical abuse, sexual abuse, or neglect at an agency, facility, or program as defined in section 245.91, it shall, in addition to its other duties under this section, immediately inform the ombudsman established under sections 245.91 to 245.97.

(c) Authority of the local welfare agency responsible for assessing the child abuse or neglect report and of the local law enforcement agency for investigating the alleged abuse or neglect includes, but is not limited to, authority to interview, without parental consent, the alleged victim and any other minors who currently reside with or who have resided with the alleged offender. The interview may take place at school or at any facility or other place where the alleged victim or other minors might be found or the child may be transported to, and the interview conducted at, a place appropriate for the interview of a child designated by the local welfare agency or law enforcement agency. The interview may take place outside the presence of the alleged offender or parent, legal custodian, guardian, or school official. Except as provided in this paragraph, the parent, legal custodian, or guardian shall be notified by the responsible local welfare or law enforcement agency no later than the conclusion of the investigation or assessment that this interview has occurred. Notwithstanding rule 49.02 of the Minnesota rules of procedure for juvenile courts, the juvenile court may, after hearing on an ex parte motion by the local welfare agency, order that, where reasonable cause exists, the agency withhold notification of this interview from the parent, legal custodian, or guardian. If the interview took place or is to take place on school property, the order shall specify that school officials may not disclose to the parent, legal custodian, or guardian the contents of the notification of intent to interview the child on school property, as provided under this paragraph, and any other related information regarding the interview that may be a part of the child's school record. A copy of the order shall be sent by the local welfare or law enforcement agency to the appropriate school official.

(d) When the local welfare or local law enforcement agency determines that an interview should take place on school property, written notification of intent to interview the child on school property must be received by school officials prior to the interview. The notification shall include the name of the child to be interviewed, the purpose of the interview, and a reference to the statutory authority to conduct an interview on school property. For interviews conducted by the local welfare agency, the notification shall be signed by the chair of the local social services agency or the chair's designee. The notification shall be private data on individuals subject to the provisions of this paragraph. School officials may not disclose to the parent, legal custodian, or guardian the contents of the notification or any other related information regarding the interview

until notified in writing by the local welfare or law enforcement agency that the investigation or assessment has been concluded. Until that time, the local welfare or law enforcement agency shall be solely responsible for any disclosures regarding the nature of the assessment or investigation.

Except where the alleged offender is believed to be a school official or employee, the time and place, and manner of the interview on school premises shall be within the discretion of school officials, but the local welfare or law enforcement agency shall have the exclusive authority to determine who may attend the interview. The conditions as to time, place, and manner of the interview set by the school officials shall be reasonable and the interview shall be conducted not more than 24 hours after the receipt of the notification unless another time is considered necessary by agreement between the school officials and the local welfare or law enforcement agency. Where the school fails to comply with the provisions of this paragraph, the juvenile court may order the school to comply. Every effort must be made to reduce the disruption of the educational program of the child, other students, or school staff when an interview is conducted on school premises.

(e) Where the alleged offender or a person responsible for the care of the alleged victim or other minor prevents access to the victim or other minor by the local welfare agency, the juvenile court may order the parents, legal custodian, or guardian to produce the alleged victim or other minor for questioning by the local welfare agency or the local law enforcement agency outside the presence of the alleged offender or any person responsible for the child's care at reasonable places and times as specified by court order.

(f) Before making an order under paragraph (e), the court shall issue an order to show cause, either upon its own motion or upon a verified petition, specifying the basis for the requested interviews and fixing the time and place of the hearing. The order to show cause shall be served personally and shall be heard in the same manner as provided in other cases in the juvenile court. The court shall consider the need for appointment of a guardian ad litem to protect the best interests of the child. If appointed, the guardian ad litem shall be present at the hearing on the order to show cause.

(g) The commissioner, the ombudsman for mental health and mental retardation, the local welfare agencies responsible for investigating reports, and the local law enforcement agencies have the right to enter facilities as defined in subdivision 2 and to inspect and copy the facility's records, including medical records, as part of the investigation. Notwithstanding the provisions of chapter 13, they also have the right to inform the facility under investigation that they are conducting an investigation, to disclose to the facility the names of the individuals under investigation for abusing or neglecting a child, and to provide the facility with a copy of the report and the investigative findings.

(h) The local welfare agency shall collect available and relevant information to ascertain whether maltreatment occurred and whether protective services are needed. Information collected includes, when relevant, information with regard to the person reporting the alleged maltreatment, including the nature of the reporter's relationship to the child and to the alleged offender, and the basis of the reporter's knowledge for the report; the child allegedly being maltreated; the alleged offender; the child's caretaker; and other collateral sources having relevant information related to the alleged maltreatment. The local welfare agency may make a determination of no maltreatment early in an assessment, and close the case and retain immunity, if the collected information shows no basis for a full assessment or investigation.

Information relevant to the assessment or investigation must be asked for, and may include:

(1) the child's sex and age, prior reports of maltreatment, information relating to developmental functioning, credibility of the child's statement, and whether the information provided under this clause is consistent with other information collected during the course of the assessment or investigation;

(2) the alleged offender's age, a record check for prior reports of maltreatment, and criminal charges and convictions. The local welfare agency must provide the alleged offender with an opportunity to make a statement. The alleged offender may submit supporting documentation relevant to the assessment or investigation;



(3) collateral source information regarding the alleged maltreatment and care of the child. Collateral information includes, when relevant: (i) a medical examination of the child; (ii) prior medical records relating to the alleged maltreatment or the care of the child and an interview with the treating professionals; and (iii) interviews with the child's caretakers, including the child's parent, guardian, foster parent, child care provider, teachers, counselors, family members, relatives, and other persons who may have knowledge regarding the alleged maltreatment and the care of the child; and

(4) information on the existence of domestic abuse and violence in the home of the child, and substance abuse.

Nothing in this paragraph precludes the local welfare agency from collecting other relevant information necessary to conduct the assessment or investigation. Notwithstanding the data's classification in the possession of any other agency, data acquired by the local welfare agency during the course of the assessment or investigation are private data on individuals and must be maintained in accordance with subdivision 11.

(i) In the initial stages of an assessment or investigation, the local welfare agency shall conduct a face-to-face observation of the child reported to be maltreated and a face-to-face interview of the alleged offender. The interview with the alleged offender may be postponed if it would jeopardize an active law enforcement investigation.

(j) The local welfare agency shall use a question and answer interviewing format with questioning as nondirective as possible to elicit spontaneous responses. The following interviewing methods and procedures must be used whenever possible when collecting information:

(1) audio recordings of all interviews with witnesses and collateral sources; and

(2) in cases of alleged sexual abuse, audio-video recordings of each interview with the alleged victim and child witnesses.

Sec. 67. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 10b, is amended to read:

Subd. 10b. [DUTIES OF COMMISSIONER; NEGLECT OR ABUSE IN FACILITY.] (a) This section applies to the commissioners of human services and health. The commissioner of the agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report shall immediately investigate if the report alleges that:

(1) a child who is in the care of a facility as defined in subdivision 2 is neglected, physically abused, or sexually abused by an individual in that facility, or has been so neglected or abused by an individual in that facility within the three years preceding the report; or

(2) a child was neglected, physically abused, or sexually abused by an individual in a facility defined in subdivision 2, while in the care of that facility within the three years preceding the report.

The commissioner of the agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report shall arrange for the transmittal to the commissioner of reports received by local agencies and may delegate to a local welfare agency the duty to investigate reports. In conducting an investigation under this section, the commissioner has the powers and duties specified for local welfare agencies under this section. The commissioner of the agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report or local welfare agency may interview any children who are or have been in the care of a facility under investigation and their parents, guardians, or legal custodians.

(b) Prior to any interview, the commissioner of the agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report or local welfare agency shall notify the parent, guardian, or legal custodian of a child who will be interviewed in the manner provided for in subdivision 10d, paragraph (a). If reasonable efforts to reach the parent, guardian, or legal custodian of a child in an out-of-home placement have failed, the child may be interviewed if there is reason to believe the interview is necessary to protect the child or other children in the facility. The commissioner of the agency

responsible for assessing or investigating the report or local agency must provide the information required in this subdivision to the parent, guardian, or legal custodian of a child interviewed without parental notification as soon as possible after the interview. When the investigation is completed, any parent, guardian, or legal custodian notified under this subdivision shall receive the written memorandum provided for in subdivision 10d, paragraph (c).

(c) In conducting investigations under this subdivision the commissioner or local welfare agency shall obtain access to information consistent with subdivision 10, paragraphs (h), (i), and (j).

(d) Except for foster care and family child care, the commissioner has the primary responsibility for the investigations and notifications required under subdivisions 10d and 10f for reports that allege maltreatment related to the care provided by or in facilities licensed by the commissioner. The commissioner may request assistance from the local social service services agency.

Sec. 68. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 10d, is amended to read:

Subd. 10d. [NOTIFICATION OF NEGLECT OR ABUSE IN FACILITY.] (a) When a report is received that alleges neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse of a child while in the care of a facility required to be licensed pursuant to chapter 245A, licensed or unlicensed day care facility, residential facility, agency, hospital, sanitarium, or other facility or institution required to be licensed according to sections 144.50 to 144.58, 241.021, 245A.01 to 245A.16, or 245B; or a school as defined in sections 120A.05, subdivisions 9, 11, and 13, 120A.36, and 124D.68; or a nonlicensed personal care provider organization as defined in sections 256B.04, subdivision 16, and 256B.0625, subdivision 19, the commissioner of the agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report or local welfare agency investigating the report shall provide the following information to the parent, guardian, or legal custodian of a child alleged to have been neglected, physically abused, or sexually abused: the name of the facility; the fact that a report alleging neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse of a child in the facility has been received; the nature of the alleged neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse; that the agency is conducting an investigation; any protective or corrective measures being taken pending the outcome of the investigation; and that a written memorandum will be provided when the investigation is completed.

(b) The commissioner of the agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report or local welfare agency may also provide the information in paragraph (a) to the parent, guardian, or legal custodian of any other child in the facility if the investigative agency knows or has reason to believe the alleged neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse has occurred. In determining whether to exercise this authority, the commissioner of the agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report or local welfare agency shall consider the seriousness of the alleged neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse; the number of children allegedly neglected, physically abused, or sexually abused; the number of alleged perpetrators; and the length of the investigation. The facility shall be notified whenever this discretion is exercised.

(c) When the commissioner of the agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report or local welfare agency has completed its investigation, every parent, guardian, or legal custodian notified of the investigation by the commissioner or local welfare agency shall be provided with the following information in a written memorandum: the name of the facility investigated; the nature of the alleged neglect, physical abuse, or sexual abuse; the investigator's name; a summary of the investigation findings; a statement whether maltreatment was found; and the protective or corrective measures that are being or will be taken. The memorandum shall be written in a manner that protects the identity of the reporter and the child and shall not contain the name, or to the extent possible, reveal the identity of the alleged perpetrator or of those interviewed during the investigation. The commissioner or local welfare agency shall also provide the written memorandum to the parent, guardian, or legal custodian of each child in the facility if maltreatment is determined to exist.

Sec. 69. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 10e, is amended to read:

Subd. 10e. [DETERMINATIONS.] Upon the conclusion of every assessment or investigation it

conducts, the local welfare agency shall make two determinations: first, whether maltreatment has occurred; and second, whether child protective services are needed. When maltreatment is determined in an investigation involving a facility, the investigating agency shall also determine whether the facility or individual was responsible for the maltreatment using the mitigating factors in paragraph (d). Determinations under this subdivision must be made based on a preponderance of the evidence.

(a) For the purposes of this subdivision, "maltreatment" means any of the following acts or omissions committed by a person responsible for the child's care:

- (1) physical abuse as defined in subdivision 2, paragraph (d);
- (2) neglect as defined in subdivision 2, paragraph (c);
- (3) sexual abuse as defined in subdivision 2, paragraph (a); or
- (4) mental injury as defined in subdivision 2, paragraph (k).

(b) For the purposes of this subdivision, a determination that child protective services are needed means that the local welfare agency has documented conditions during the assessment or investigation sufficient to cause a child protection worker, as defined in section 626.559, subdivision 1, to conclude that a child is at significant risk of maltreatment if protective intervention is not provided and that the individuals responsible for the child's care have not taken or are not likely to take actions to protect the child from maltreatment or risk of maltreatment.

(c) This subdivision does not mean that maltreatment has occurred solely because the child's parent, guardian, or other person responsible for the child's care in good faith selects and depends upon spiritual means or prayer for treatment or care of disease or remedial care of the child, in lieu of medical care. However, if lack of medical care may result in serious danger to the child's health, the local welfare agency may ensure that necessary medical services are provided to the child.

(d) When determining whether the facility or individual is the responsible party for determined maltreatment in a facility, the investigating agency shall consider at least the following mitigating factors:

(1) whether the actions of the facility or the individual caregivers were according to, and followed the terms of, an erroneous physician order, prescription, individual care plan, or directive; however, this is not a mitigating factor when the facility or caregiver was responsible for the issuance of the erroneous order, prescription, individual care plan, or directive or knew or should have known of the errors and took no reasonable measures to correct the defect before administering care;

(2) comparative responsibility between the facility, other caregivers, and requirements placed upon an employee, including the facility's compliance with related regulatory standards and the adequacy of facility policies and procedures, facility training, an individual's participation in the training, the caregiver's supervision, and facility staffing levels and the scope of the individual employee's authority and discretion; and

(3) whether the facility or individual followed professional standards in exercising professional judgment.

~~(e) The commissioner shall work with the maltreatment of minors advisory committee established under Laws 1997, chapter 203, to make recommendations to further specify the kinds of acts or omissions that constitute physical abuse, neglect, sexual abuse, or mental injury. The commissioner shall submit the recommendation and any legislation needed by January 15, 1999. Individual counties may implement more detailed definitions or criteria that indicate which allegations to investigate, as long as a county's policies are consistent with the definitions in the statutes and rules and are approved by the county board. Each local welfare agency shall periodically inform mandated reporters under subdivision 3 who work in the county of the definitions of maltreatment in the statutes and rules and any additional definitions or criteria that have been approved by the county board.~~

Sec. 70. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 10f, is amended to read:

Subd. 10f. [NOTICE OF DETERMINATIONS.] Within ten working days of the conclusion of an assessment, the local welfare agency or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report shall notify the parent or guardian of the child, the person determined to be maltreating the child, and if applicable, the director of the facility, of the determination and a summary of the specific reasons for the determination. The notice must also include a certification that the information collection procedures under subdivision 10, paragraphs (h), (i), and (j), were followed and a notice of the right of a data subject to obtain access to other private data on the subject collected, created, or maintained under this section. In addition, the notice shall include the length of time that the records will be kept under subdivision 11c. The investigating agency shall notify the parent or guardian of the child who is the subject of the report, and any person or facility determined to have maltreated a child, of their appeal rights under this section.

Sec. 71. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 10j, is amended to read:

Subd. 10j. [RELEASE OF DATA TO MANDATED REPORTERS.] A local social service services or child protection agency may provide relevant private data on individuals obtained under this section to mandated reporters who have an ongoing responsibility for the health, education, or welfare of a child affected by the data, in the best interests of the child. ~~The commissioner shall consult with the maltreatment of minors advisory committee to develop criteria for determining which records may be shared with mandated reporters under this subdivision.~~ Mandated reporters with ongoing responsibility for the health, education, or welfare of a child affected by the data include the child's teachers or other appropriate school personnel, foster parents, health care providers, respite care workers, therapists, social workers, child care providers, residential care staff, crisis nursery staff, probation officers, and court services personnel. Under this section, a mandated reporter need not have made the report to be considered a person with ongoing responsibility for the health, education, or welfare of a child affected by the data.

Sec. 72. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 11, is amended to read:

Subd. 11. [RECORDS.] (a) Except as provided in paragraph (b) and subdivisions 10b, 10d, 10g, and 11b, all records concerning individuals maintained by a local welfare agency or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report under this section, including any written reports filed under subdivision 7, shall be private data on individuals, except insofar as copies of reports are required by subdivision 7 to be sent to the local police department or the county sheriff. Reports maintained by any police department or the county sheriff shall be private data on individuals except the reports shall be made available to the investigating, petitioning, or prosecuting authority, including county medical examiners or county coroners. Section 13.82, subdivisions 5, 5a, and 5b, apply to law enforcement data other than the reports. The local social services agency or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report shall make available to the investigating, petitioning, or prosecuting authority, including county medical examiners or county coroners or their professional delegates, any records which contain information relating to a specific incident of neglect or abuse which is under investigation, petition, or prosecution and information relating to any prior incidents of neglect or abuse involving any of the same persons. The records shall be collected and maintained in accordance with the provisions of chapter 13. In conducting investigations and assessments pursuant to this section, the notice required by section 13.04, subdivision 2, need not be provided to a minor under the age of ten who is the alleged victim of abuse or neglect. An individual subject of a record shall have access to the record in accordance with those sections, except that the name of the reporter shall be confidential while the report is under assessment or investigation except as otherwise permitted by this subdivision. Any person conducting an investigation or assessment under this section who intentionally discloses the identity of a reporter prior to the completion of the investigation or assessment is guilty of a misdemeanor. After the assessment or investigation is completed, the name of the reporter shall be confidential. The subject of the report may compel disclosure of the name of the reporter only with the consent of the reporter or upon a written finding by the court that the report was false and that there is evidence that the report was made in bad faith. This subdivision does not alter disclosure responsibilities or obligations under the rules of criminal procedure.

(b) Upon request of the legislative auditor, data on individuals maintained under this section must be released to the legislative auditor in order for the auditor to fulfill the auditor's duties under section 3.971. The auditor shall maintain the data in accordance with chapter 13.

Sec. 73. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 11b, is amended to read:

Subd. 11b. [DATA RECEIVED FROM LAW ENFORCEMENT.] Active law enforcement investigative data received by a local welfare agency or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report under this section are confidential data on individuals. When this data become inactive in the law enforcement agency, the data are private data on individuals.

Sec. 74. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.556, subdivision 11c, is amended to read:

Subd. 11c. [WELFARE, COURT SERVICES AGENCY, AND SCHOOL RECORDS MAINTAINED.] Notwithstanding sections 138.163 and 138.17, records maintained or records derived from reports of abuse by local welfare agencies, agencies responsible for assessing or investigating the report, court services agencies, or schools under this section shall be destroyed as provided in paragraphs (a) to (d) by the responsible authority.

(a) If upon assessment or investigation there is no determination of maltreatment or the need for child protective services, the records must be maintained for a period of four years. Records under this paragraph may not be used for employment, background checks, or purposes other than to assist in future risk and safety assessments.

(b) All records relating to reports which, upon assessment or investigation, indicate either maltreatment or a need for child protective services shall be maintained for at least ten years after the date of the final entry in the case record.

(c) All records regarding a report of maltreatment, including any notification of intent to interview which was received by a school under subdivision 10, paragraph (d), shall be destroyed by the school when ordered to do so by the agency conducting the assessment or investigation. The agency shall order the destruction of the notification when other records relating to the report under investigation or assessment are destroyed under this subdivision.

(d) Private or confidential data released to a court services agency under subdivision 10h must be destroyed by the court services agency when ordered to do so by the local welfare agency that released the data. The local welfare agency or agency responsible for assessing or investigating the report shall order destruction of the data when other records relating to the assessment or investigation are destroyed under this subdivision.

Sec. 75. Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 626.558, subdivision 1, is amended to read:

Subdivision 1. [ESTABLISHMENT OF THE TEAM.] A county shall establish a multidisciplinary child protection team that may include, but not be limited to, the director of the local welfare agency or designees, the county attorney or designees, the county sheriff or designees, representatives of health and education, representatives of mental health or other appropriate human service or community-based agencies, and parent groups. As used in this section, a "community-based agency" may include, but is not limited to, schools, social service agencies, family service and mental health collaboratives, early childhood and family education programs, Head Start, or other agencies serving children and families. A member of the team must be designated as the lead person of the team responsible for coordinating its activities with battered women's programs and services.

Sec. 76. [AMEND CHEMICAL DEPENDENCY ASSESSMENT CRITERIA.]

The commissioner of human services shall amend the assessment criteria under Minnesota Rules, part 9530.6600, specifically Minnesota Rules, part 9530.6615, to include assessment criteria that addresses issues related to parents who have open child protection cases due, in part, to chemical abuse.

Sec. 77. [INSTRUCTION TO REVISOR.]

The revisor of statutes shall delete the references to Minnesota Statutes, section 260.181, and substitute a reference to Minnesota Statutes, section 260.015, subdivision 13, in the following sections: Minnesota Statutes, sections 245A.035, subdivision 1; 257.071, subdivision 1; 260.191, subdivision 1d; and 260.191, subdivision 1e.

Sec. 78. [REPEALER.]

Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivisions 8 and 10, are repealed."

Delete the title and insert:

"A bill for an act relating to human services; changing provisions to statutes related to child welfare; authorizing counties to establish programs for alternative responses to child maltreatment reports; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 144.1761, subdivision 1; 254B.04, subdivision 1; 256.01, subdivision 2; 256B.094, subdivisions 3, 5, and 6; 256F.03, subdivision 5; 256F.05, subdivision 8; 256F.10, subdivisions 1, 4, 6, 7, 8, and 10; 257.071, subdivisions 1, 1a, 1c, 1d, 1e, 3, and 4; 257.85, subdivisions 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, and 11; 259.67, subdivisions 6 and 7; 259.73; 259.85, subdivisions 2, 3, and 5; 259.89, by adding a subdivision; 260.011, subdivision 2; 260.012; 260.015, subdivisions 2a, 13, and 29; 260.131, subdivision 1a; 260.133, subdivisions 1 and 2; 260.135, by adding a subdivision; 260.172, subdivision 1, and by adding a subdivision; 260.191, subdivisions 1, 1a, 1b, and 3b; 260.192; 260.221, subdivisions 1, 1a, 1b, 1c, 3, and 5; 626.556, subdivisions 2, 3, 4, 7, 10, 10b, 10d, 10e, 10f, 10j, 11, 11b, 11c, and by adding a subdivision; and 626.558, subdivision 1; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapters 254A; and 626; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 257.071, subdivisions 8 and 10."

And when so amended the bill do pass and be re-referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security. Amendments adopted. Report adopted.

## SECOND READING OF SENATE BILLS

S.F. Nos. 312, 60, 834, 768, 39, 1020, 1405, 803, 815, 1352 and 1170 were read the second time.

## SECOND READING OF HOUSE BILLS

H.F. Nos. 492, 766, 413, 183, 1132 and 836 were read the second time.

## MOTIONS AND RESOLUTIONS

Senator Berglin moved that the name of Senator Foley be added as a co-author to S.F. No. 292. The motion prevailed.

Senator Dille moved that the name of Senator Wiger be added as a co-author to S.F. No. 883. The motion prevailed.

Senator Scheid moved that the name of Senator Wiger be added as a co-author to S.F. No. 1518. The motion prevailed.

Senator Runbeck moved that her name be stricken as a co-author to S.F. No. 1533. The motion prevailed.

Senator Hottinger moved that his name be stricken as chief author and the name of Senator Knutson be added as chief author to S.F. No. 1780. The motion prevailed.

Senator Larson moved that the name of Senator Moe, R.D. be added as a co-author to S.F. No. 1793. The motion prevailed.

Senator Anderson moved that the name of Senator Wiger be added as a co-author to S.F. No. 1800. The motion prevailed.

**Senator Larson introduced--**

**Senate Resolution No. 50:** A Senate resolution congratulating the Alexandria High School Boys Swimming team on winning the 1999 State High School Class AA Boys Swimming and Diving Championship.

Referred to the Committee on Rules and Administration.

**Senators Kelley, S.P.; Terwilliger and Robertson introduced--**

**Senate Resolution No. 51:** A Senate resolution congratulating the Benilde-St. Margaret's High School Boys Hockey team on winning the 1999 State High School Class A Boys Hockey Tournament.

Referred to the Committee on Rules and Administration.

Senator Belanger moved that S.F. No. 760, on General Orders, be stricken and re-referred to the Committee on Taxes. The motion prevailed.

Senator Dille moved that S.F. No. 312, on General Orders, be stricken and re-referred to the Committee on Taxes. The motion prevailed.

Senator Ten Eyck moved that S.F. No. 817 be withdrawn from the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources, given a second reading, and placed on General Orders. The motion prevailed.

S.F. No. 817 was read the second time.

### **INTRODUCTION AND FIRST READING OF SENATE BILLS**

The following bills were read the first time and referred to the committees indicated.

**Senators Sams; Stumpf; Johnson, D.E. and Pogemiller introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1886:** A bill for an act relating to education; providing for teacher retirement.

Referred to the Committee on Governmental Operations and Veterans.

**Senator Kelley, S.P. introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1887:** A bill for an act relating to education; offering licensed kindergarten through grade 12 teachers the opportunity for more staff development and additional salary; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 120A.41; 122A.40, subdivision 7, and by adding a subdivision; and 122A.41, subdivision 4, and by adding a subdivision.

Referred to the Committee on Children, Families and Learning.

**Senator Larson introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1888:** A bill for an act relating to highways; designating Otter Tail Veterans Memorial Drive; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 161.14, by adding a subdivision.

Referred to the Committee on Transportation.

**Senator Johnson, D.J. introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1889:** A bill for an act relating to taxes; individual; sales; property; motor vehicle registration; reducing the tax rates; increasing the dependent care income credit; providing a marriage penalty subtraction and credit; increasing the alternative minimum tax exemption; providing a home care credit; increasing the valuation limit for the first tier of residential homestead property and agricultural homestead property; increasing the education homestead credit rate; providing for deposit of the motor vehicle sales tax in the highway user trust fund; proposing a constitutional amendment requiring dedication of one-half of motor vehicle sales tax to the highway user trust fund; transferring money from the general fund to the highway user trust fund; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 16A.152, subdivision 2; 168.013, subdivision 1a; 273.13, subdivisions 22 and 23; 273.1382, subdivision 1; 273.1398, subdivision 1a; 290.01, subdivision 19b; 290.06, subdivisions 2c and 2d; 290.067, subdivisions 2 and 2b; 290.091, subdivisions 1, 2, 3, and 6; 290A.03, subdivisions 11 and 13; 297A.02, subdivision 1, and by adding a subdivision; and 297B.09, subdivision 1; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapters 174; and 290; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 273.1382, subdivision 1a.

Referred to the Committee on Taxes.

**Senator Johnson, D.J. introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1890:** A bill for an act relating to appropriations; appropriating wastewater funding for the Larsmont design project; authorizing the sale of state bonds.

Referred to the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources.

**Senators Scheevel and Kiscaden introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1891:** A bill for an act relating to education funding; authorizing a grant to fund the second year of a special education base adjustment; appropriating money.

Referred to the Committee on Children, Families and Learning.

**Senators Novak; Janezich; Johnson, D.J.; Moe, R.D. and Lessard introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1892:** A bill for an act relating to capital improvements; authorizing spending to acquire and to better public land and buildings and other public improvements of a capital nature; providing for a grant to Itasca County Railroad Authority for railroad access and natural gas right-of-way and pipeline; providing for a grant to Itasca county for highway improvements; providing for a grant to the city of Nashwauk for wells and wastewater treatment facilities; authorizing issuance of bonds; appropriating money.

Referred to the Committee on Jobs, Energy and Community Development.

**Senators Novak; Janezich; Johnson, D.J.; Moe, R.D. and Lessard introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1893:** A bill for an act relating to economic development; providing for a challenge grant for construction of a steel mill; appropriating money.

Referred to the Committee on Jobs, Energy and Community Development.

**Senators Larson, Oliver, Hottinger and Solon introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1894:** A bill for an act relating to insurance; transferring regulatory authority over health maintenance organizations and similar entities to the commissioner of commerce; making conforming changes; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 60B.02; 60B.03, subdivision 2; 60B.15; 60B.20; 60G.01, subdivisions 2 and 4; 62A.61; 62D.01, subdivision 2; 62D.02,



subdivision 3; 62D.03, subdivisions 1, 3, and 4; 62D.04, subdivisions 1 and 2; 62D.05, subdivision 6; 62D.06, subdivision 2; 62D.07, subdivisions 2, 3, and 10; 62D.08, subdivisions 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5; 62D.09, subdivisions 1 and 8; 62D.10, subdivision 4; 62D.11, subdivisions 2 and 3; 62D.12, subdivisions 1, 2, and 9; 62D.121, subdivision 3a; 62D.14, subdivisions 1, 3, 5, and 6; 62D.15, subdivisions 1 and 4; 62D.16, subdivisions 1 and 2; 62D.17, subdivisions 1, 3, 4, and 5; 62D.18, subdivisions 1 and 7; 62D.19; 62D.20, subdivision 1; 62D.21; 62D.211; 62D.22, subdivisions 4 and 10; 62D.24; 62D.30, subdivisions 1 and 3; 62L.02, subdivision 8; 62L.05, subdivision 12; 62L.08, subdivisions 10 and 11; 62M.11; 62M.16; 62N.02, subdivision 4; 62N.26; 62N.31, subdivision 1; 62Q.01, subdivision 2; 62Q.07; 62Q.075, subdivision 4; 62Q.105, subdivisions 6 and 7; 62Q.11; 62Q.22, subdivisions 2, 6, and 7; 62Q.32; 62Q.51, subdivision 3; 62Q.525, subdivision 3; 62R.04, subdivision 5; 62R.25; 62T.01, subdivision 4; and 72A.139, subdivision 2; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 62D.18; 62L.11, subdivision 2; and 62Q.45, subdivision 1.

Referred to the Committee on Commerce.

**Senator Johnson, J.B. introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1895:** A bill for an act relating to natural resources; making changes to in lieu of tax payments for natural resource lands; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 477A.12; and 477A.13.

Referred to the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources.

**Senator Kiscaden introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1896:** A bill for an act relating to human services; affecting medical assistance, general assistance, MinnesotaCare, and other state medical programs; providing for recovery of subrogated health care payments; providing for performance measurement study reports on health services use, and providing for classification of government data; providing for notice to recipients concerning charges in medical assistance providers; providing new grounds for sanctions against medical assistance vendors, and for referral to a licensing board; requiring vendors to disclose common interest and ownership; providing federally required restrictions on conflicts of interest in the Medicaid procurement process, and providing criminal and civil penalties including imprisonment; providing for new procedures in probate proceedings in the case of medical assistance claims against an estate; allowing nursing homes to require residents to use certain pharmacies; removing limitations from medical assistance liens on real property and providing for 20-year renewal of liens; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 62A.04, subdivision 2; 62A.045; 256.015, subdivisions 1 and 3; 256B.042, subdivisions 1, 2, and 3; 256B.0627, subdivision 5; 256B.064, subdivisions 1a, 1b, 1c, 2, and by adding a subdivision; 256B.15, subdivision 1a; 256B.37, subdivisions 1 and 2; 256B.48, subdivision 1; 256D.03, subdivision 8; 256L.03, subdivision 6; 514.981, subdivision 6; 524.3-801; and 525.312; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapters 256B; 524; and 525.

Referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security.

**Senator Dille introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1897:** A bill for an act relating to appropriations; appropriating wastewater funding for the city of Plato; authorizing the sale of state bonds.

Referred to the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources.

**Senator Berglin introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1898:** A bill for an act relating to drug policy and violence prevention; authorizing the commissioner of children, families, and learning to award grants for substance abuse intervention in neighborhoods programs; appropriating money.

Referred to the Committee on Children, Families and Learning.

**Senator Berglin introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1899:** A bill for an act relating to public safety; authorizing the commissioner of public safety to award grants for substance abuse intervention in neighborhoods programs; appropriating money.

Referred to the Committee on Crime Prevention.

**Senator Junge introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1900:** A bill for an act relating to education; providing for aid to charter schools for growth costs; amending charter school compensation pupil units; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 124D.11, by adding a subdivision; 126C.05, subdivision 3, and by adding a subdivision; and 126C.10, subdivision 3.

Referred to the Committee on Children, Families and Learning.

**Senator Scheid introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1901:** A bill for an act relating to human services; allowing excess TANF funds for use to fund child care.

Referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security.

**Senators Janezich; Wiener; Moe, R.D.; Metzen and Betzold introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1902:** A bill for an act relating to employment; regulating electronic monitoring of employees; providing criminal penalties; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 181.

Referred to the Committee on Jobs, Energy and Community Development.

**Senator Sams introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1903:** A bill for an act relating to state lands; authorizing private or public sale of certain tax-forfeited land that borders public water and wetland in Todd county.

Referred to the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources.

**Senator Marty introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1904:** A bill for an act relating to compulsive gambling; appropriating money; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 245.982; and 609.115, subdivision 9; Laws 1998, chapter 407, article 8, section 9.

Referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security.

**Senators Runbeck and Fischbach introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1905:** A bill for an act relating to taxation; determining purchase price of automobile for purposes of license registration tax; eliminating obsolete provisions; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 168.013, subdivision 1a.

Referred to the Committee on Transportation.

**Senator Runbeck introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1906:** A bill for an act relating to public employment; imposing a hiring freeze on certain public employers.

Referred to the Committee on Governmental Operations and Veterans.

**Senator Foley introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1907:** A bill for an act relating to child protection; specifying a deadline for placing certain children in foster care; shortening the time period for permanency planning; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 260.191, subdivision 3b; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 257.

Referred to the Committee on Judiciary.

**Senators Belanger and Johnson, D.H. introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1908:** A bill for an act relating to fiscal disparities; deleting a required adjustment to the city of Bloomington's fiscal disparities contribution; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 473F.08, subdivision 3a.

Referred to the Committee on Local and Metropolitan Government.

**Senators Runbeck, Lesewski, Foley, Murphy and Oliver introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1909:** A bill for an act relating to taxation; individual income; allowing a credit for medical expenses; repealing the deduction for health insurance of self-employed; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 290.01, subdivision 19b; proposing coding for new law in Minnesota Statutes, chapter 290.

Referred to the Committee on Taxes.

**Senators Runbeck and Oliver introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1910:** A bill for an act relating to taxation; providing that payments for certain examinations are exempt from the tax on health care providers; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 295.50, subdivision 4; and 295.53, subdivision 1.

Referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security.

**Senators Kiscaden and Scheevel introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1911:** A bill for an act relating to state lands; authorizing conveyance of certain tax-forfeited land that borders public water and wetland in Olmsted county.

Referred to the Committee on Environment and Natural Resources.

**Senators Cohen, Pappas, Spear, Wiener and Robertson introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1912:** A bill for an act relating to taxation; individual income; exempting payments in settlement of certain holocaust claims from state income taxation; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 290.01, subdivision 19b, and by adding a subdivision; and 290.091, subdivision 2.

Referred to the Committee on Taxes.

**Senators Hottinger, Wiener, Kiscaden, Lourey and Knutson introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1913:** A bill for an act relating to health; expanding the reserve corridor for community integrated service networks; modifying the definition of review organization; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 62N.28, subdivision 5; and 145.61, subdivision 5.

Referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security.

**Senator Robertson introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1914:** A bill for an act relating to education; appropriating money for immunization follow-up.

Referred to the Committee on Children, Families and Learning.

**Senator Fischbach introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1915:** A bill for an act relating to education; amending the process by which state board of teaching members are confirmed; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 122A.07, subdivision 1.

Referred to the Committee on Children, Families and Learning.

**Senator Fischbach introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1916:** A bill for an act relating to education; extending the effective date for certain teacher licensure rules; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 122A.09, subdivision 4.

Referred to the Committee on Children, Families and Learning.

**Senators Fischbach; Johnson, D.E. and Larson introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1917:** A bill for an act relating to taxation; authorizing an increased levy by the North Fork Crow River watershed district.

Referred to the Committee on Taxes.

**Senators Sams, Samuelson, Hottinger, Terwilliger and Kiscaden introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1918:** A bill for an act relating to human services; modifying the implementation date for county-based purchasing and making other changes; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, sections 256B.69, subdivision 3a, and by adding a subdivision; and 256B.692, subdivisions 2 and 5.

Referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security.

**Senators Sams, Samuelson, Berg and Terwilliger introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1919:** A bill for an act relating to medical assistance; eliminating prepaid medical assistance for nursing home services and elderly waiver services; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256B.69, subdivision 6a; repealing Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 256B.69, subdivision 6b.

Referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security.

**Senator Price introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1920:** A bill for an act relating to state government; modifying the appointment process and position classifications for the state archaeologist; amending Minnesota Statutes 1998, section 138.35, subdivisions 1 and 1a.

Referred to the Committee on Governmental Operations and Veterans.

**Senators Berglin and Terwilliger introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1921:** A bill for an act relating to human services; authorizing a waiver of statute and rule to permit the direct payment of child support for children whose fathers are participating in the FATHER welfare-to-work demonstration project; appropriating money.

Referred to the Committee on Health and Family Security.

**Senators Lesewski and Frederickson introduced--**

**S.F. No. 1922:** A bill for an act relating to economic development; authorizing transfer of land and buildings to the keepers of the sacred tradition of pipemakers for use as a museum and a resident academy; providing for a grant to restore the buildings; appropriating money.

Referred to the Committee on Jobs, Energy and Community Development.

**MEMBERS EXCUSED**

Senators Anderson; Kelley, S.P.; Neuville and Samuelson were excused from the Session of today.

**ADJOURNMENT**

Senator Junge moved that the Senate do now adjourn until 12:00 noon, Wednesday, March 17, 1999. The motion prevailed.

Patrick E. Flahaven, Secretary of the Senate



# INDEX TO DAILY JOURNAL

Tuesday, March 16, 1999

## EXECUTIVE AND OFFICIAL COMMUNICATIONS

Pages 717 to 718

## MESSAGES FROM THE HOUSE AND FIRST READINGS OF HOUSE FILES

S.F. Nos.	Message Page	H.F. Nos.	Message Page	1st Reading Page
757	718	741	719	719
Sen. Con.		837	719	720
Res. No. 7	718	1037	719	719
		1305	719	719

## CONCURRENCE AND REPASSAGE

S.F. Nos.	Page	H.F. Nos.	Page
757	718		

## REPORTS OF COMMITTEES AND SECOND READINGS

S.F. Nos.	Report Page	2nd Reading Page	H.F. Nos.	Report Page	2nd Reading Page
23	737		183	749	802
39	731	802	413	748	802
60	721	802	492	748	802
171	735		766	748	802
312	720	802	836	749	802
365	735		1132	749	802
569	750				
613	733				
748	732				
768	731	802			
803	733	802			
815	733	802			
817	729				
834	729	802			
983	748				
1020	732	802			
1028	732				
1170	733	802			
1202	734				
1352	733	802			
1405	732	802			
1485	731				

1524 ..... 735  
 1537 ..... 734

**MOTIONS AND RESOLUTIONS**

S.F. Nos.	Page	H.F. Nos.	Page
292	.....802		
312	.....803		
760	.....803		
817	.....803		
883	.....802		
1518	.....802		
1533	.....802		
1780	.....802		
1793	.....802		
1800	.....803		
Sen. Res.			
No . 50	.....803		
Sen. Res.			
No . 51	.....803		

**INTRODUCTION AND FIRST READING OF SENATE BILLS**

S.F. Nos. 1886 to 1922 ..... Pages 803 to 809